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WELCOME 

It gives me great pleasure to introduce the Annual Report for East and North Hertfordshire 
Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG) for the year 2019/20.  

This report is a statutory document, setting out how we have performed over the past 
twelve months, our governance arrangements and how we have managed our finances. It 
is also my chance to tell you about some of the achievements of which we are particularly 
proud and explain how we have overcome our biggest challenges.  

Limited resources and increasing levels of need mean that health and social care services 
in our area are continuously striving to keep up with demand. Our local health system is 
evolving to meet that challenge.  

New ways of working first introduced in the NHS Long Term Plan, such as Primary Care 
Networks, have developed rapidly and we are both encouraged by the enthusiasm and 
determination of our primary care and community colleagues to embrace the potential for 
improving patient care.  

In May 2020, the Sustainability and Transformation Partnership for Hertfordshire and 
West Essex received the green light to become an Integrated Care System (ICS).  The ICS 
will be responsible for setting the strategy and goals for improving health and care in the 
area and overseeing the quality and safety, decision making, governance and financial 
management of services.  It will provide clinical and professional leadership for the whole 
area and ensure that all  organisations pull in the same direction to help everyone - 
residents, service users, patients and staff - to achieve their potential. 
 
After more than a year of helping the STP’s organisations reach this point, in conjunction 
with their substantive roles, the current interim joint leaders of the STP; Iain MacBeath, 
Director of Adult Care Services at Hertfordshire County Council, and Beverley Flowers, 
Chief Executive here at the CCG, handed over the permanent leadership of the 
Hertfordshire and West Essex Integrated Care System to Dr Jane Halpin in June 2020. Dr 
Halpin also took charge of the STP’s three CCGs from June.  
 
As she moves on I would like to personally thank Beverley for her significant contribution 
to the success of our CCG and the positive impact she has made across our health system. 
Under her leadership our organisation has driven forward improvements to patient care 
and ensured we are in strong position to face whatever lies ahead.        
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As well as exploring new ways to deliver health services through partnership working, this 
year there has been an increased focus on helping people to take more personal 
responsibility for their own health and wellbeing. Our new long-term conditions strategy 
aims to support people to understand their symptoms and know when to seek help and 
from who. We have also seeing our partners in local government play a leading role in the 
development of ‘healthy hubs’ across the county.  

We have continued to see pressures growing, particularly in urgent and emergency care 
and this is something we have been working together as a health and social care system to 
address.  We hope to give you a flavour of that work in this report. 

This year, the NHS and social care has faced its most unprecedented challenge; with every 
organisation dramatically changing how care is provided to help manage Covid-19 and 
ensure the NHS was not overwhelmed. You can read more about the part the CCG played 
to manage this crisis later in the report.  

None of what has been achieved would be possible without the tremendous commitment 
of health and care staff. Again and again, our teams of clinicians and vital support staff 
across the NHS rise to the challenge and deliver great care for their patients, and during 
the Covid-19 pandemic, often making great personal sacrifices to keep both patients and 
their own loved ones safe. Seeing the nation come together to applaud their heroic efforts 
has been both uplifting and inspiring.    

As a CCG we are proud to be rated as ‘outstanding’ for the third year in a row and we 
would like to thank everyone who has played an active part in commissioning, providing or 
using health services wisely. 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 
Dr Prag Moodley, Chair, 

NHS East and North Hertfordshire  
Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG)  
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PERFORMANCE REPORT: 

OVERVIEW OF PERFORMANCE 
This section contains a summary of our performance as an organisation 

during 2019/20 plus a flavour of the work we do. You can read more about 

our work at: www.enhertsccg.nhs.uk  
 

ABOUT US 

We are the local NHS organisation which plans, designs and pays for the health services 
used by almost 604,000 people who live in our area. This report looks back at the past 
twelve months and aims to give you a flavour of our work and what we’ve achieved. Led 
by local GPs, the CCG works closely with clinicians, patients and partner organisations to 
decide how our annual budget of more than £880m should be spent.  

We aim to:  

 work closely with patients, partners, managers, community groups and clinical 
colleagues from all sectors to commission the best possible healthcare for our 
patients within available resources  
 

 reduce health inequalities and achieve a stable and sustainable health economy by 
working together, sharing best practice and improving expertise and clinical 
outcomes for patients  
 
 

 

 

 

 

http://www.enhertsccg.nhs.uk/
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WHAT IS COMMISSIONING?  

We use information and evidence about local services and people’s experiences of them 
to look at whether those services are meeting people’s needs. If improvements or changes 
are needed, we work with our GP members, the organisations which provide services and 
local people to put forward new ideas or ways of delivering care. 

The NHS Long Term Plan, published in January 2019, set out the transformation of services 
and outcomes that the NHS will deliver by 2023/24 by investing the long term revenue 
settlement we have received from the government. The CCG as part of the Hertfordshire 
and West Essex Sustainability and Transformation Partnership (STP) have developed 
system-wide strategic plans this year to set out how we will become financially secure and 
improve the services and care provided to patients.  

The NHS Operational Planning and Contracting Guidance 2020/21 details what is required 
of NHS organisations and covers system planning, full operational plan requirements, 
workforce transformation requirements, the financial settlement and the process and 
timescales around the submission of plans.  
 
Our role is to:  

 ensure health services are high quality  

 involve local people in planning and improving services  

 make the most effective use of the money given to us to improve services for patients 

 

  

https://www.england.nhs.uk/operational-planning-and-contracting/
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TYPES OF COMMISSIONING 

East and North Hertfordshire CCG buys services from a number of organisations which provide 
patient care, including GP, NHS hospitals, mental health and community trusts, voluntary 
organisations and independent organisations. We also fund the cost of medicines and 
treatments prescribed by GPs and nurse prescribers.  

In 2019/20, we commissioned services in the following ways:  

• as the coordinating commissioner, where our CCG has the biggest share of activity 
and holds the contract, allowing other commissioners to be associates to the contract. 
Examples of this include contracts with East and North Hertfordshire NHS Trust and 
Hertfordshire Community NHS Trust.  
 

• as an associate commissioner, where another commissioner has the biggest share of 
activity and holds the contract, allowing East and North Hertfordshire CCG to be a 
party to the contract. Examples of this include contracts with Princess Alexandra 
Hospital NHS Trust, Royal Free London NHS Foundation Trust and Cambridge 
University Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust.  
 

• as a joint commissioner, where funding is pooled with partners and services are 
commissioned using that pooled budget. Examples include mental health and learning 
disability, where funding is pooled with Hertfordshire County Council (HCC) and Herts 
Valleys CCG to commission services, mainly from Hertfordshire Partnership University 
NHS Foundation Trust and from HCC’s Health and Community Services. We also jointly 
commission services from community and voluntary sector organisations with 
Hertfordshire County Council.  
 

• as lead commissioner, where we procure services on behalf of other CCGs. For 
example, we are the lead commissioner for the Integrated Urgent Care service which 
covers the whole of Hertfordshire.  
 

• as a delegated commissioner, where we assume full day-to-day responsibility for 
commissioning general practice services, although the legal responsibility remains with 
the national organisation NHS England. NHS England also commissions specialised 
services and services provided by dentists, pharmacists and optometrists. The CCG has 
a duty to assist and support NHS England to carry out these functions and secure 
continuous improvement in the quality of primary medical services.  
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We have strong governance arrangements in place to oversee the delivery of the priorities for 
patient care identified in the CCG’s operational plan. We work together with other 
organisations in our local health and social care system to achieve these priorities, where 
appropriate. For example, the Urgent Care Network involves representatives from across 
health and social care. This means that joint decisions can be made to ensure that people are 
not admitted to hospital when there is a better option for their care. Good partnership 
working also helps patients to be discharged from hospital in a timely way when it is the right 
time for them to leave. 

 

PROVIDING CARE 

As a commissioning organisation, we do not directly care for patients. Acute hospital 
services - where a patient receives active but short-term treatment for a severe injury or 
illness, an urgent medical condition, or during recovery from surgery - are provided for our 
residents by NHS trusts, NHS foundation trusts and other independent providers of health 
services.  
 
The CCG has contracts with more than twenty providers and we also pay for care at other 
Care Quality Commission (CQC)-registered providers where needed. The main hospitals 
our patients use are East and North Hertfordshire NHS Trust, Princess Alexandra Hospital 
NHS Trust and Royal Free London NHS Foundation Trust.  
 
For urgent care, our patients also use the minor injuries service at Cheshunt and Bishop’s 
Stortford and the Urgent Care Centre at the New QEII Hospital. 

Community services - such as district nursing, therapy and dietetics - are mainly provided 
by Hertfordshire Community NHS Trust. Mental health and learning disability services are 
provided by Hertfordshire Partnership University NHS Foundation Trust.  

The CCG also commissions around twenty other community providers to deliver services 
including termination of pregnancy, vasectomy, IVF, end of life care, non-emergency 
patient transport and optometry. 
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The healthcare organisations with whom the CCG spent more than £5m in 2019/20 – 
together with the broad categories of care they provided - are set out here: 

Provider  Service category  

East and North Hertfordshire NHS Trust  Acute  

Hertfordshire Partnership NHS Foundation Trust  Mental Health  

Princess Alexandra Hospital NHS Trust  Acute  

Hertfordshire Community NHS Trust  Community and Minor Injuries  

Royal Free London NHS Foundation Trust  Acute  

East of England Ambulance Service NHS Trust  Ambulance and non-emergency 
patient transport  

Cambridgeshire University Foundation Hospital Trust  Acute  

Ramsay (Rivers and Pinehill hospitals)  Acute  

Herts Urgent Care  Integrated Urgent Care  

North Middlesex University Hospital NHS Trust  Acute  

University College London Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust  Acute  
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THE NHS LONG TERM PLAN 

The NHS Long Term Plan is an ambitious strategy for how the NHS and its partners will 
improve people’s health over the next five years.  

The plan sets out how the NHS can overcome the challenges it faces, such as staff 
shortages and growing demand for services, by:  

Doing things differently: the NHS will give people more control over their own health and 
the care they receive, encourage more collaboration between GPs, their teams and 
community services, as ‘primary care networks’, to increase the services they can provide 
jointly, and increase the focus on NHS organisations working with their local partners, as 
‘Integrated Care Systems’, to plan and deliver services which meet the needs of their 
communities.  

Preventing illness and tackling health inequalities: the NHS will step up its work to tackle 
some of the most significant causes of ill health, including new action to help people stop 
smoking, overcome drinking problems and avoid Type 2 diabetes, with a particular focus 
on the communities and groups of people most affected by these problems.  

Backing our workforce: the NHS workforce will be strengthened by training and recruiting 
more professionals – including more clinical placements for undergraduate nurses, more 
medical school places, and more routes into the NHS such as apprenticeships. The plan 
outlines how the NHS will be made a better place to work, so more staff stay and feel able 
to make better use of their skills and experience for patients.  

Making better use of data and digital technology: the NHS will be encouraged to innovate 
and provide more convenient access to services and health information for patients. The 
new NHS App will be the digital ‘front door’ for patients, there will be better access to 
digital tools and patient records for staff, and improvements to the planning and delivery 
of services based on the analysis of patient and population data.  

Getting the most out of investment in the NHS: the NHS will need to identify ways to 
reduce duplication in how clinical services are delivered and reduce spend on 
administration. 

In May 2020, the Hertfordshire and West Essex STP was granted Integrated Care System 
(ICS) status, ahead of the April 2021 expectation. Integrated Care Systems bring together 
local organisations in a pragmatic and practical way to deliver the ‘triple integration’ of 
primary and specialist care, physical and mental health services, and health with social 
care. They have a key role in working with local authorities at ‘place’ level, and enable 
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commissioners to make shared decisions with providers on population health, service 
redesign and NHS Long Term Plan implementation. 

Progress on implementing the vision outlined in the strategic plan was paused in March to 
enable health and social care organisations across Hertfordshire and west Essex to focus 
on managing the implications of Covid-19. As we move further into the recovery phase 
with planned activity back up to more usual levels, the strategic plan will guide us in 
ensuring that we deliver the transformation needed in our services. In some areas, Covid 
has enabled some of this transformation to be more rapid – for example offering 
appointments and consultations remotely. There are also some key workstreams, such as 
cancer and mental health which are subject to additional scrutiny to ensure that their 
reintroduction moves at pace and continues to focus on improving patient outcomes as 
set out by NHS England and Improvement. 

The three CCGs in Hertfordshire and west Essex have appointed a joint accountable officer 
who will also lead the ICS. Over the next few months, a shared CCG management team will 
be put in place to support this new leadership.  The three CCGs remain as separate entities 
with responsibility for delivering local services and with their own governing bodies and 
constitutions. However, we are currently in discussion about whether to seek to merge 
the three CCGs into a single CCG for the ICS. Such a move would be subject to appropriate 
consultation and regulators’ approval.  

Within Hertfordshire and West Essex ICS there are three geographical Integrated Care 
Partnerships (ICP), including one for east and north Hertfordshire. A fourth ICP around 
mental health is being considered 

The ICP will be an alliance of existing organisations involved in health and social care 
across east and north Hertfordshire. All of the commissioning organisations who plan and 
pay for services - CCGs, NHS England, local authorities and Public Health England – will 
work with service providers to make decisions about the care we need to provide for our 
residents. Providers such as primary care, hospitals, community and mental health 
services and local authorities, will equally work together to deliver integrated patient care.  

Some commissioning functions will be handed over to the ICP to give them direct control 
of how services are provided.  

Some services are already commissioned at county level as part of joint arrangements 
with Herts Valleys CCG and Hertfordshire County Council. Where it is best to commission 
services at a county, ICS or regional level those arrangements will continue.   

You can read more about how we intend to deliver the ambitions of the Long Term Plan 
locally here.   

https://www.healthierfuture.org.uk/sites/default/files/care-programmes/news/march/2020/hwe-stp-long-term-plan-march-2020-final-250320.pdf
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THE CCG’S WORK IN 2019/20 

The projects on the following pages are some examples of the work we have undertaken 
to improve patient care over the past twelve months. There isn’t space to include all of 
our projects here, but you can read and watch more about what we do by visiting our 
website.   
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

New service models 

We will only be able to deliver good quality sustainable care if we commit to 
doing things differently. By working more collaboratively and not being afraid 
to innovate and try new things, we can remove some of the barriers that 
frustrate health care professionals and patients alike.  

 
Better care for frail patients  

Getting services right for our most vulnerable 
patients is a priority for the CCG.  There are around 
12,000 people in east and north Hertfordshire who 
are frail and whose condition is more likely to 
deteriorate quickly if they spent time in hospital. 
Having all the professionals involved in an 
individual’s care working in a more seamless way 
and catching potential problems early, is key to 
keeping this group of patients living safely in their 
own homes.  

The new Integrated Care Teams which bring together community and primary care staff 
with a range of skills, and projects like the Early Intervention Vehicle, which brings 
expertise and equipment to frail patients who have fallen at home, are just part of our 
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CCG’s comprehensive approach to support frail patients. Also launched this year is ‘My 
Plan’ – a patient-held booklet to help plan care around individual patients. It aims to help 
them to take control of their own health and wellbeing; enable them to feel confident and 
knowledgeable about managing their condition, including when it worsens, or if they 
experience a crisis; and encourage them to consider advance care planning and their 
future wishes. 

 
Additional clinics for patients with Diabetes  

This year the CCG funded the extension of the Diabetes foot team to provide services five 
days a week. It is vital that people living with Diabetes take extra care of their feet as the 
condition often reduces feeling which means that problems like ulcers and gangrene can 
be missed, and limbs can end up being amputated. The extended foot health service has 
reduced waiting times and enabled patients to have more regular appointment. The 
number of limb amputations has reduced and patients who are admitted to hospital with 
foot problems are able to return home more quickly. The service has also been praised by 
NHS England and gets good feedback from patients.   

 
Health help at your fingertips 

More than 5,100 people in our CCG area have 
downloaded the new NHS App in the past few 
months. The app is a simple and secure way to 
access a range of NHS services on your 
smartphone or tablet. The app can be used to:  

 check your symptoms 

 find out what to do when you need 
help urgently 

 book and manage appointments at 
your GP surgery 

 order repeat prescriptions 

 view your GP medical record securely 

 register to be an organ donor 

 choose how the NHS uses your data 
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Primary Care Networks  

The NHS Long Term Plan sets out an ambition to strengthen general practice and make 
more care available to patients closer to home. All GP practices are now working together 
in their local area in what’s called ‘Primary Care Networks’ alongside community staff to 
provide integrated services to their local populations.  Practices large and small can now 
support each other and deliver a wider range of specialist care services for patients from a 
range of skilled health professionals. Here are some of the ways in which our Primary Care 
Networks are improving care for patients: 

 Primary care hubs 
The new ‘GP plus’ role in Stort Valley and Villages is helping to provide better links 
between the local mental health team and GPs. The GP Plus clinician works from 
the local primary care hub providing mental health services that bridge the gap 
between GP and hospital care.  The hub also has a number of daily clinics with GPs, 
nurses, a teen health advisor and adolescent social prescriber as well as a weekly 
drug and alcohol specialist clinic. The aim over the next year is to provide more 
appointments in the local primary care hub to reduce the need for patients to 
travel to a hospital.   
 

 eConsult  
This year, we started e-consultations in some of our practices to improve people’s 
access to a GP. More than 6,000 ‘eConsult’ cases took place during the 5 month 
pilot and has proved very successful. Patients use the system to ask the practice a 
question or to complete a questionnaire for medical advice online. They will get a 
response by the end of the next working day, often sooner, without needing to 
take time off work to come into the practice  
 
By knowing a patient’s symptoms up front, practices can manage their patients by 
clinical need, signpost patients to the most appropriate care and increase practice 
efficiency. Most users of eConsult are between the age of 30 and 39, with one user 
aged over 100! As at the time of publication, eConsult wwas available in 44 
practices. 
 

 Group consultations  
GP practices in Lower Lea Valley are looking to trial group consultations with a GP 
for patients with long term conditions. It is hoped that as well as freeing up more 
appointments in practices, patients will gain support from each other and feel 
empowered with the right tools and information to effectively manage their own 
health.   
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 More on-the-day appointments 
This year, practices in Stevenage trialled working together to increase the number 
of on-the-day urgent appointments they could offer to patients. The new hub was 
staffed by a GP plus a paramedic and a nurse with additional skills and provided an 
extra 150 appointments each day, including some where patients were redirected 
back to their practice after coming to the Lister A&E department with minor 
symptoms.        
   

 Physio First 
In two of our localities, patients are able to see a physiotherapist for an 
assessment and treatment plan, without needing to first be referred by a GP.   
Musculoskeletal problem (pain in muscles, bones, ligaments and tendons) is 
common and quick access to a physio assessment is very popular with patients. 
The project has also reduced pressure on GPs, freeing up more appointments for 
more patients with more complex needs. 
 

 Multi-speciality team supports complex patients  
A Multi-Speciality Team has come together in Upper Lea Valley to help patients 
whose complex needs were not being met. Often these patients are regular visitors 
to A&E or to their practice, and have issues that different parts of the health and 
social care system struggle to resolve as individual agencies.  
 
The new team meets every fortnight and reviews complex patients who are not in 
crisis but need more help and assistance. Professionals including community 
matrons, district nurses, therapists, social workers, pharmacists, drug and alcohol 
workers and GPs meet and are focused on unlocking difficult situations and finding 
solutions. Since the start of the year, dozens of patients have been helped by the 
team, improving people’s reliance on seeking emergency help.   
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Preventing ill health and reducing inequalities 

We want everyone who lives in our area to enjoy the best possible physical 
and mental health. Some of our residents face deep-rooted challenges which 
make everyday life tough.  When physical or learning disabilities, poverty, 
frailty, loneliness, discrimination and difficult personal circumstances affect 
people, their overall health and wellbeing suffers. The CCG works closely with 
partner organisations to help reduce the barriers that stop people living their 
best and healthiest lives. It also is important we all start to take more 
individual responsibility for our health, by living a healthy lifestyle and taking 
up cancer screening when it is offered.  

 
Social prescribing gathers pace 
‘Social prescribing’ is when GPs, nurses and other health 
professionals refer people to a non-medical service that  
can help them. In Hertfordshire, a team of 60 Community 
Navigators now provide help both in the community and in 
hospital, accessed through the ‘Herts Help’ advice line and 
website. Herts Help receives 14,000 referrals per year and 
refers people to over 150 organisations each month 
(including Age UK and the British Red Cross). Around half 
 of referrals come from GP practices.  
 
Each of our Primary Care Networks will employ a social 
prescriber, with some, like Stort Valley and Villages also 
taking on a specialist adolescent social prescriber to 
support the needs of teenagers in the area.  
 

Mental health support teams in schools 
Hertfordshire was one of the first areas of the country to be awarded funding to employ 
mental health support teams in schools. This year, we have recruited and trained those 
specialist staff to help pupils at 12 schools and colleges in Hoddesdon and Broxbourne – 
areas which have higher numbers of referrals to CAMHS. A further funding boost was 
announced in 2019 which enabled the scheme to extend to special schools. An expression 
of interest was submitted in March 2020 which requested another team to support 
schools in Stevenage. 
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Improving cancer screening rates  
Lower Lea Valley practices have launched a dedicated ‘call/recall’ team to encourage more 
people to take up their invitation for cancer screening. Specially trained staff will call 
patients who are eligible for cervical, bowel or breast cancer screening but have not taken 
part and persuade them to attend. We know that people can sometimes put off booking a 
screening appointment because they may be too busy, unsure what to do or worried 
about the results. The team talk to patients about the importance of detecting cancer 
early and reassure them about the process. It is hoped that this will improve overall 
cancer survival rates for local people. Over the next few months, the team will also 
contact patients who have not had the immunisations recommended for them. 
 

Cafés help people with early memory loss  
Two Healthy Memory Cafés are now up and running in our CCG area. The free cafés run 
once a month at Tesco in Brookfield Farm, Cheshunt and this year a new café launched at 
Hertford Theatre, running before the venue’s dementia-friendly classic film showings. 
 
Designed to support people who are worried about memory loss or those caring for 
people who are, the Healthy Memory Cafés provide a calm, informal environment where 
people can chat with GPs, specialist dementia nurses and other support services. The café 
is not intended to be a clinical service, rather it offers people the chance to talk about and 
explore their concerns around their memory. They can get sound advice about next steps 
and what they may need to think about next. Reactions to the café have been very 
positive, with those who attend saying they plan to come back and welcomed the 
opportunity to talk to professionals in a relaxed setting. 
 

Healthy Hubs launched  
Ten Healthy Hubs, funded by Hertfordshire County Council, launched across the county 
this year.  Healthy Hubs are dedicated local venues where people can get health services, 
support and advice all in one place, making it easier to get help with a range of physical 
and mental health issues. www.healthyhubs.org.uk   

  

http://www.healthyhubs.org.uk/
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Improving care quality and outcomes 

As a CCG we are constantly striving to improve care for patients. We work 
with our provider organisations to make services easy to access, that meet 
patient expectations and lead to good results.      

 
Supporting patients who regularly use the emergency department   
Our GP practices in Welwyn Hatfield and Stort Valley and Villages have been focused on 
understanding emergency flows to hospital and the needs of their populations. GPs have 
used practice data to review patients who are frequent attenders at emergency 
departments to try and understand the reasons why people are seeking this help and 
what alternative support they would benefit from. Patients with mental health concerns, 
drug and alcohol problems and who are frail were identified as a priority and are now 
discussed in multi-disciplinary meetings.  
 

Faster diagnosis for male cancers 
Patients being investigated for prostate and testicular cancers are being seen more quickly 
thanks to a new urology ‘one stop clinic’ at Lister Hospital. All diagnostic tests and 
appointments with a cancer specialist take place in a single visit, meaning that patients 
can have their cancer either diagnosed or ruled out as quickly as possible, reducing their 
worry and increasing their chances of making a full recovery if cancer is detected.  The 
CCG implemented this new clinic as previously too many patients were not starting their 
cancer treatment within the required time standards. Patients with other routine urology 
problems are also getting a better service by having access to the specialist team in one 
place at a single appointment and waiting times have reduced.   

 
Funding boost for mental health crisis services 
In February, the Hertfordshire and West Essex Sustainability and Transformation 
Partnership (STP) was successful in its bid for £3m of funding to improve support for 
adults experiencing a mental health crisis.  This money will pay for emergency mental 
health assessments in all our area’s hospital emergency departments 24/7; as well as 
better home treatment, intensive therapies, MIND cafes including one in Bishop’s 
Stortford and improved overnight weekend phone support when people are more likely to 
experience a crisis  
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Improving care for lymphoedema patients  
A new lymphoedema service began this year which supports patients who previously did 
not have access to this specialist care in Hertfordshire. Lymphoedema is a long-term, 
progressive and incurable skin and tissue condition which can have a profoundly 
detrimental effect on quality of life. Patients no longer had to travel to Mount Vernon 
Hospital and are now cared for at one of nine local clinics, with patient outcomes 
dramatically improved. 
 

Looking after those at the end of their life 
Our collaborative approach to improve the care of people reaching the end of their lives 
has meant that patients and their families are better supported at this sensitive time and 
more people are dying in a place of their choice. Many more people are using the services 
that our area’s hospices provide including wellbeing/rehabilitation groups for heart failure 
patients and fatigue and breathlessness courses for COPD patients. Local hospices also 
provide anxiety management and a choir to promote breathing techniques and improve 
wellbeing. Our work in this area won a ‘Healthcare Transformation Award’ this year.   
 

Supporting patients to be fit for surgery 
There is strong evidence that being very overweight or being a smoker can greatly 
increase your risk of developing complications both on the operating table and when you 
are recovering. Patients are much more likely to suffer serious breathing problems and 
develop infections, as well as heart, kidney and lung complications.  Because of this, we 
have been encouraging our patients to get fit before operations since 2012 and this year 
we strengthened those criteria. Read more at: www.enhertsccg.nhs.uk/fitforsurgery    

 
NHS 111  
Patients in Hertfordshire who call NHS 111 are receiving help from the county’s 
‘integrated urgent care’ service, 24 hours a day, 7 days a week. The service combines the 
out-of-hours GP service with NHS 111 plus a ‘clinical advisory service’ where GPs, 
pharmacists, dental nurses, palliative care nurses and mental health professionals advise 
patients and health professionals.  
 
The 111 call centre is open day and night and is staffed by trained call handlers who assess 
patients and give them the advice they need or triage them to the most appropriate 
clinician or service. Those patients that need further clinical support will be referred to the 
clinical advisory service for help. Patients who need to see an out-of-hours doctor or nurse 
in person have their appointment directly booked for them while on the phone. This year, 
the NHS 111 service has also provided an unprecedented response the Covid-19 
pandemic. 

http://www.enhertsccg.nhs.uk/fitforsurgery
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Developing the workforce 

The NHS workforce is our greatest asset and presents our greatest challenge. 
We have a number of projects that aim to strengthen the workforce we have 
by retaining staff, working more efficiently and encouraging more people to 
consider a career in health or social care.  

 
Making practices more efficient   
Our practices have been following the ‘productive general practice’ programme which helps 
practices focus on changing the way they work and find ways of working smarter and more 
efficiently. Improvements have been made in the way that referrals are made, prescriptions 
are processed, reception is managed and how admin supports GPs and nurses to make the 
most of their clinical time. 
   

New roles in primary care  
This year, we have continued to strengthen our primary care workforce by expanding the range 
of clinicians seeing patients in GP surgeries and Primary Care Networks. Physiotherapists, 
pharmacists and paramedics are now working alongside doctors, nurses and healthcare 
assistants, making it easier for patients to see a health professional with the right skills quickly. 
We have explained these new roles to patients, helping people to understand why they might 
be seeing a different clinician than they have done previously. Other staff, such as occupational 
therapists, are also becoming increasingly involved in services outside of hospital.   
 
Having a pharmacist working in the primary care team particularly helps patients with chronic 
diseases and long term conditions by providing proactive medication reviews for people with 
complex medication regimes.  It also helps practices to make the most efficient use of 
medicines and ensure that antibiotics are only used where they are needed, reducing the risk 
of developing resistance.  
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 



Annual Report and Accounts 2019/20 

_____________________________________________________________________    25 

Meeting the workforce challenge   
Retaining and recruiting health care staff remains a significant challenge for all NHS 
organisations. Around 25% of GPs are approaching retirement age and there is high 
reliance on agency staff in hospitals. In Hertfordshire, we have been at the forefront of 
planning for future needs and this year the East and North Hertfordshire Local Training 
Hub was established. The aim of the hub is to ensure the primary care workforce of today 
and tomorrow are trained in the right numbers and have the necessary skills to respond to 
changes.  Adapting the traditional model of general practice to make it sustainable will 
take time, but key projects are starting to deliver results. This year the CCG has increased 
the number of pre-registration student nurses and apprentices; and recruited new types 
of GPs by offering ‘portfolio’ careers to attract newly qualified doctors into primary care.  
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PRIMARY CARE DEVELOPMENTS 

Primary Care Commissioning Committee  

The Primary Care Commissioning Committee oversees our work to invest in, and develop 
primary care services.    
 

       Our committee’s core priority in its second year has continued to be supporting 
general practice and helping our local GPs, clinical staff and administrative teams plan and 
act to stay resilient and responsive to patient needs.   

We have targeted our efforts in practical ways: face to face guidance and support to 
practices preparing for CQC inspections, or in implementing their recommendations; 
funding for practice improvements to buildings, equipment, training, IT hardware and 
software; GDPR advice and more.  We have funded individual practice resilience and 
continuity assessments, led and managed by the Local Medical Committee, which has 
stimulated GPs and Practice Managers to understand their strengths and weaknesses to 
better plan for the future. 

Support for our primary care workforce has continued through a range of initiatives to 
attract, retain, develop and offer flexible working solutions.  This builds on our success in 
working with the University of Hertfordshire and others to offer new and conversion 
education opportunities as well as offering our GPs direct funding for additional 
educational development.   

The committee has agreed and enabled several practice mergers, which have been wisely 
designed by their teams to improve and sustain services to patients.  This year the 
committee has also had to oversee the unavoidable closure of two practices following the 
retirements of their lead partners and the end of contracts.  We have been very 
appreciative of the support offered by neighbouring practices, who have welcomed all the 
affected patients and committed to providing them with continuity of care.  Our local 
Patient Participation Groups (PPGs) have worked hard to listen to patient views and advise 
our staff about their concerns and I am very grateful to them.  

Our practices have stepped up to a further, important challenge this year, in responding 
positively to the invitation to form Primary Care Networks, so that our 55 practices are 
now linked into 12 local groupings which will be able to share additional staff (such as 
clinical pharmacists, physiotherapists, care coordinators, podiatrists and dietitians) to 
improve patient access to local services. 

“  
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We are very appreciative of the way in which the CCG teams, the 
Local Medical Committee, patient representatives and 
Healthwatch Hertfordshire have enthusiastically adapted to this 
new work and we have also welcomed the appointment of an 
independent GP who has no local conflict of interests to provide 
impartial advice.  

Dianne Desmulie,  
Lay member for Primary Care Commissioning 

 

Improving primary care premises  

A number of our GP practices are now seeing patients in new and improved buildings. 

 Central Surgery, Sawbridgeworth was significantly extended and improved this 
year.  

 Guessens Road Practice and its two branch surgeries moved into a refurbished 
Parkway Clinic in Welwyn Garden City in the summer. 

 Work has begun on improvements to High Street Surgery, Cheshunt with 
completion expected in the summer. 

 Knebworth Surgery  moved into their new building alongside the new village 
library and a pharmacy in the spring of 2020. The new premises offers patients a 
purpose-built, accessible space to receive care. 

 Opportunities to improve the premises of surgeries in Bishop’s Stortford, Ware, 
Hertford and Letchworth are also being explored.  

In addition to these larger schemes, the CCG is supporting a number of practices with 
small improvement works that will improve clinical access and help towards absorbing 
some of the forecasted housing growth. 
 
For every significant housing development in our area, the CCG works closely with local 
councils to seek funding to support the healthcare infrastructure needed to ensure there 
is enough primary care capacity in local neighbourhoods. Sometimes it is not possible to 
achieve contributions from every housing scheme, however every effort is made by the 
CCG to prioritise health and wellbeing in all S106 discussions for the benefit of all our 
population. 

 

 

” 
” 
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A patient’s view of the Primary Care Commissioning Committee 

As the patient representative on the Primary Care Commissioning Committee my 
role is to contribute a patient perspective and challenge where necessary. 

The PCCC has a wide ranging agenda and I remain impressed with the professionalism of 
CCG members and others attending the committee.  
 
In the past year, in addition to reviewing the ongoing financial plan and quality issues, we 
have reviewed progress in developing Primary Care Networks (PCNs), considered new 
models of integrated care for residential and care homes, looked at early plans for new GP 
premises in Bishop’s Stortford and Hertford and endorsed ongoing training programmes 
supporting primary care staff. I aim to report back to patient groups and hope to 
encourage more Patient Participation Group members to attend, or at least follow, the 
work of the PCC. 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Veronica Fraser, patient representative 
Primary Care Commissioning Committee 

 

  

“ 

” 
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CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S SUMMARY OF KEY PERFORMANCE 
 
Looking back over the 2019/20 financial year, East and North Hertfordshire CCG has many 
reasons to be proud of the work we have done to ensure our patients have access to good 
quality healthcare services.  
 
Performance during Covid-19  
 
At the time of writing, the NHS is in the midst of the most challenging period it has faced 
in its history. The health service in Hertfordshire and across the country has rapidly 
transformed the way it operates in order to care for a vast increase in the number of 
patients needing respiratory support in critical care, as well as keeping essential services 
running at a time when large numbers of frontline clinical staff are not able to be at work.  

Our GP practices have risen to the significant challenge posed by Covid-19. Following 
guidance issued by NHS England, GP practices have been focusing on delivering priority 
care, including supporting people with long term conditions, ensuring those with mental 
health needs are supported and keeping childhood immunisations up to date.  

All our practices have moved to a ‘total triage’ model enabling them to keep both patients 
and staff safe whilst enabling consultations to take place with primary care clinicians. 
Telephone appointments and online contact through eConsult, which is operating in 44 
practices, have been well received by patients who have adapted quickly to the new way 
of communicating with their GP.  GPs have been able to work in a more agile way, 
including from home while self-isolating, thanks to the efforts of HBL ICT to source 
equipment like laptops and cameras and put in place the appropriate systems to manage 
care remotely. Our Primary Care Networks have led the implementation of ‘hot’ and ‘cold’ 
sites, to ensure patients displaying Covid symptoms and those who have different 
symptoms are seen in a safe environment.      

The CCG has been in regular contact with our acute and community providers to ensure 
we are sighted on temporary changes to services that might impact on our patients. In 
order to prepare hospitals for the anticipated surge in critical care capacity, our providers 
stood down the majority of their routine outpatient and diagnostic work.  As the 
pandemic reached its initial peak, the number of patients being seen in an acute setting 
for non-Covid issues was much lower than at equivalent times in previous years, including 
a reduction in the number of patients being investigated for cancer symptoms.  The CCG 
established an ‘avoidance of harm’ group to ensure that the health system is encouraging 
those with serious conditions to seek help early. This aligns closely with the national public 
information campaign which began in May with the message that ‘if you need medical 
help, the NHS is still here for you.  
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Further details of how our acute providers have performed during Covid can be found in 
this report from page 35.  

Our NHS 111 and integrated urgent care provider, Herts Urgent Care, has also rapidly 
adjusted its service model as a result of the pandemic.  

Throughout March 2020, NHS 111 became the first response in the management of the 
COVID pandemic for the Hertfordshire population. On average the 111 call centre receives 
around 32,000 calls a month but at the height of the pandemic was taking 75,700 calls, an 
increase of around 137%.   

With an increase in calls, HUC had to draw on all available resource to help manage the 
demand, redeploying the clinical staff working in the out of hours and in the ‘acute in-
hours home visiting service’ it provides for the CCG to help manage and triage calls. HUC 
developed a separate COVID 19 queue to direct calls with suspected coronavirus to clinical 
advisors. In addition, primary care offered up their extended access appointments to help 
support the triage pools and the Hertfordshire CCGs redeployed some staff to manage the 
COVID testing pathways for key workers and NHS staff. 

The impact of this significantly larger call volume was that more calls than usual were 
‘abandoned’ by the caller and the average time to answer calls increased. Fewer callers 
were directed by NHS 111 to contact their GP and more people received advice over the 
phone. 

Enabling rapid access to testing for NHS staff has been crucial to ensuring that 
organisations are able to maintain staff levels during the pandemic. The CCG has been 
working Hertfordshire Community NHS Trust, Herts Urgent Care and the military to 
develop a number of testing streams for symptomatic key workers and their families.    
 
The county council and Hertfordshire’s NHS organisations have also worked closely to 
support care homes with advice on infection control and staff swabbing. Both of the 
county’s clinical commissioning groups have invested in additional diagnostic equipment 
for care homes, enabling care home staff to take basic observations on their residents and 
helping them to identify more quickly if a resident becomes unwell. 
 
Whilst the need for an emergency response to the coronavirus pandemic will continue for 
some time; we are still in what is called a ‘level 4 incident’ and the focus on managing that 
remains in place. At the same time, our NHS providers and primary care are planning the 
safe ‘restart’ of some services, with infection prevention and patient safety continuing to 
be guiding principles. With our hospitals starting to see fewer patients with COVID-19, 
there will be opportunities to provide more urgent and time-critical surgery and also some 
routine planned care.  
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Other performance during 2019/20 
 
During 2019/20, our organisation was once again been judged by NHS England to be 
‘outstanding’, with our work to support people with the right care in their own homes and 
communities being key to our success as it reduces the need for patients to be admitted 
to hospital. There are a lot of other factors that determine our rating and it’s a very 
thorough review of how we’re performing at both an operational and at a strategic level. 
At a time of change within the local health system, ensuring that the ‘day job’ is carried 
out effectively remains vitally important.  
 
The health and social care landscape is evolving rapidly as we begin to implement the 
ambitious ideas within the NHS Long Term Plan. Over the past twelve months, the health 
and care organisations in the Hertfordshire and West Essex Sustainability and 
Transformation Partnership (STP) have continued to progress new initiatives. It has been a 
privilege to lead this work alongside my social care colleague Iain MacBeath, and as we 
pass the baton to a new STP leader, who takes up the post in June, we hope that all 
organisations in Hertfordshire and west Essex are in a good position to grasp future 
opportunities.       
 
Our GP practices have been at the forefront of change this year, as primary care networks 
(PCNs) were formally established. These networks involve new ways of working and 
include new specifications in the GP contract, but many areas already had long-
established professional and stakeholder partnerships to build on. Support will be given 
over the coming months to help networks create new partnerships, build on existing 
relationships, and involve stakeholders in their work.  Some of what has already been 
achieved is outlined elsewhere in this report.  
 
While some things are changing, other areas of our work remain our continued focus.   

We continue to strive to improve mental health care for our population. Through the STP 
we have secured investment in both early intervention services and in mental health crisis 
support.  

We have also worked hard to improve early diagnosis of cancer and to make the patient 
journey through cancer services as smooth and as quick as possible.  Our cancer strategy 
and implementation plan is driving improvements in priority areas and is led by clinicians, 
supported by insight, data and expertise. We’ve improved our screening rates – for 
example, by introducing new ‘FIT tests’ for bowel and colon cancer; and our hospitals are 
implementing best practice pathways. You can read more about our progress in the 
performance analysis section of this report. Our patient volunteers continue to support 
this work by delivering preventative messages and advice through our Cancel Out Cancel 
sessions.    
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A&E performance at our local hospitals remains our key challenge. At East and North 
Hertfordshire NHS Trust, 82% of patients were responded to within the four-hour 
standard and the national target is 95%.  The CCG and our acute providers continue to 
work hard to improve triage and assessment, handover times for patients arriving by 
ambulance, and escalation protocols, as well as ensuring that alternative pathways for 
same day urgent care – particularly for older patients - are fully utilised by practice 
colleagues.  
 
Supporting our most vulnerable and complex patients continues to be one of our top 
priorities. There are an estimated 12,000 people living in east and north Hertfordshire 
who are considered to be either moderately or severely frail.  Frailty puts people at 
increased risk of emergency admission and means they are more likely to physically 
decline in the event that they are admitted to hospital. There is evidence that advanced 
planning for patients with frailty reduces the risk of them having to go into hospital as an 
emergency, and ensures that the care they receive is truly patient centred.  
 
The CCG’s Consolidated Funding Framework (CFF) for practices supports this work by 
incentivising the assessment and management of patients at risk of frailty and ensuring 
that data and information is systematically entered into a patient record in a standard 
way. This means that family doctors have access to the big picture of someone’s health 
and can proactively manage their care.  For our increasing care home population, we have 
frailty specialists from hospices, pharmacies, social care and care homes using their 
combined expertise to make sure that no-one has to be admitted to hospital who would 
be better looked after at their care home.   

Another challenge which contributes to the pressure felt by our urgent and emergency 
care services is the increase in the number of non-elective admissions to hospital. We 
have established a specific piece of work to explore the issues and set out actions to 
reduce unnecessary admissions and ensure patients receive the care they need in the 
right place.  
 
NHS 111 and its supporting integrated urgent care service, continues to be the ‘front door’ 
for patients to access the most appropriate urgent care service for their needs. This could 
be the medicines experts in a pharmacy, the out of hours GP service offering directly 
booked appointments overnight and at the weekend, or the services provided at the 
Urgent Care Centre in Welwyn Garden City.  

As previously mentioned, the Hertfordshire NHS 111 service has been managing 
unprecedented demand this year, with its highest ever numbers of calls in December 
followed by the coronavirus (COVID-19) outbreak in the spring which has tested resilience 
and capacity to its limits across the NHS.   
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Recruitment and retention of skilled and support staff in our provider and front line 
services, including NHS 111, continues to be an area of focus. One of the biggest risks 
facing CCGs is a shortage of GPs and nursing staff available to work in primary care. The 
CCG is working to address this and continues to play a leading role in our STP’s workforce 
network. We are also fully aware of the potential issues that could emerge as Britain 
finalises its exit from the European Union later in 2020.    

NHS organisations are expected to deliver efficiency savings and work collaboratively and 
at scale where possible to make best use of staff and available resource. We have 
remained a lean CCG, consistently underspending on our management cost allowance. It is 
a source of great pride for me as a chief executive to be supported by staff who are so 
dedicated. Historically, the health commissioning organisations in Hertfordshire have 
always worked closely together sharing expertise, experience and best practice. As we 
look forward into the next year, we will continue our close alignment with Herts Valleys 
and West Essex CCGs, with the appointment of a new accountable officer to lead the 
three CCGs and the STP in post from June. As a CCG we must continue to ensure we 
support staff through any future changes while remaining focused on objectives and those 
of the wider health system. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Beverley Flowers 
Chief Executive (until 31 May 2020) 
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SUMMARY OF PERFORMANCE 

 

 

  

The information on this page is a summary of our key performance indicators for 
2019/20. Full performance data follows on pages 36-43.  
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Performance analysis 

Nationally, as a result of the Covid pandemic, some mandatory reporting was stepped 
down from the 1 April 2020 with reporting only continuing for areas of statutory 
requirement: Ambulance response times; A&E 4 hour waits; cancer pathways and RTT 
ambitions.  As a result, at the time of writing this report, March figures are incomplete for 
stroke and mental mealth (IAPT). 

The reconfiguration of services at acute providers in response to COVID 19 (to increase 
capacity for COVID patients, train staff and put in place necessary infection control 
measures) impacted on performance in A&E wait times and ambulance response times, 
both seeing a deterioration in performance in March.  

There was a decrease in activity at A&E departments in March and at GP practices with a 
corresponding decrease in the number of referrals being made.  A&E activity saw a 
decrease in March with the average number of attendances per day dropping by 42% in 
the second half of March compared to the first at both ENHT and PAH.  ENHCCG GP 
referrals to ENHT declined by 58% across March, with routine referrals seeing a bigger 
decrease (63%) than urgents (46%) and two week waits (48%). 
 
 

A&E four hour operational standard  

There is a national requirement that 95% of patients attending A&E are treated, admitted 
or transferred within 4 hours of arrival.  Increased demand and pressures over the winter 
period have affected performance at both East and North Hertfordshire NHS Trust and 
Princess Alexandra Hospital NHS Trust who have remained below standard, achieving 
82.72% and 74.56% respectively. Overall CCG performance is 78.28%.  
 
Focused work streams have continued at ENHT to improve patient assessment, flow and 
discharge:  

 ED/Front door improvement plan; focusing on reducing waiting times to triage and 
to be seen by clinical decision makers and mental health pathways; 

 Ambulance handover action plan; improving pathways and time taken for 
ambulance handovers;  

 Increased utilisation of alternative urgent care pathways for same day emergency 
care, including ambulatory emergency care,  frailty and surgical assessment;  

 Implementation of professional standards and escalation protocols. 
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Actions undertaken at Princess Alexandra Hospital to improve performance include:  

 Negotiation of a dedicated Hospital Ambulance Liaison Officer (HALO) 7 days a 
week, 12 hours a day; 

 Agreement of demand management schemes with CCGs and system partners; 

 Development of an Urgent Treatment Centre which went live on the 31st 
December 2019.  The urgent care team can now directly book appointments into 
primary care; 

 Weekly reviews across Trust which include GP and Community colleagues to 
ensure robust discharge plans are in place.  

 

Response times to ambulance calls 

Ambulance services are measured on the time it takes from receiving a 999 call to a 
vehicle arriving at the patient’s location. The Ambulance Response Programme has four 
categories of call with associated required average response times: 

 

 C1 People with life threatening injuries and illness (mean response time of 7 
minutes) 

 C2 Emergency calls (mean response time of 18 minutes) 

 C3 Urgent calls (90% of calls to be responded to within 120 minutes) 

 C4 Less urgent calls (90% of calls to be responded to within 180 minutes) 

 

The East of England Ambulance Trust has had a challenging year and not met any of the 
performance standards; however performance has improved from 2018/19 in C1.   

 

CCG Ambulance Response  Target Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 2019/20 

C1 People with life threatening 
injuries and illness  

<7 minutes 7:51 7:59 8:19 8:08 8:04 

C2 Emergency calls  <18 minutes 26:51 27:37 30:59 28:06 28:23 

C3 Urgent calls  <120 minutes 239:37 277:49 334:24 207:34 264:51 

C4 Less urgent calls  <180 minutes 245:10 275:31 313:09 278:32 278:05 
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Waiting times for cancer treatment 
 
The NHS Constitution sets out rights for patients with suspected cancer. There are a 
number of government pledges on cancer waiting times: 
 
Two-week waits 
 

 A maximum two-week wait to see a specialist for all patients referred with 
suspected cancer symptoms; 

 A maximum two-week wait to see a specialist for all patients referred for 
investigation of breast symptoms, even if cancer is not initially suspected. 

31 days 
 

 A maximum one month (31-day) wait from the date a decision to treat (DTT) is 
made to the first definitive treatment for all cancers; 

 A maximum 31-day wait for subsequent treatment where the treatment is surgery; 

 A maximum 31-day wait for subsequent treatment where the treatment is a 
course of radiotherapy; 

 A maximum 31-day wait for subsequent treatment where the  
treatment is an anti-cancer drug regimen 

62 days 
 

 A maximum two month (62-day) wait from urgent referral for suspected cancer to 
the first definitive treatment for all cancers; 

 A maximum 62-day wait from referral from an NHS cancer screening service to the 
first definitive treatment for cancer;  

 A maximum 62-day wait for the first definitive treatment following a consultant’s 
decision to upgrade the priority of the patient (all cancers). 
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East and North Hertfordshire NHS Trust  

East and North Hertfordshire NHS Trust has performed very well against the 2-week 
standard in 2019/20 with urgent cancer GP referrals meeting standard every month and 
breast symptom referrals meeting standard for the majority of months and every month 
in the second half of the year.     

31 day performance also achieved standard from Qtr 2 onwards for first definitive 
treatment, subsequent drug and subsequent radiotherapy pathways.  Work is still on-
going on the 31 day subsequent surgery pathway to improve performance to meet the 
required standard.     

The 62-day standard to definitive treatment has proved more of a challenge in 19/20, with 
the trust working to a performance improvement plan and recovery trajectory.  One 
month after plan, performance returned to meet the 85% standard in November 2019 for 
the first time in over 4 years, with the Trust achieving 79.81% for the year, a 10% 
improvement on 2018/19.   

Work has been ongoing between the trust, CCG and the Intensive Support Team to: 
 

 Capacity and demand modelling by tumour group; 

 Use of pathway analysers to ensure pathways support the delivery of timed 
patient pathways; 

 Review of the use of PTLs and supporting governance structures resulting in 
improved control and management, including patient review at senior level; 

 Senior management monthly review of tumour site improvement plans and 
escalations to provide support and guidance.  

The CCG also has a Cancer Steering Group which discusses issues of performance against 
the national cancer waiting standards, national guidance and reviews and agrees ways in 
which cancer pathways can be improved. 
 
 
Princess Alexandra Hospital NHS Trust 

Performance at Princess Alexandra Hospital against the cancer waiting time standards has 
met all required standards for 2019/20, with the exception of 62-day first and screening 
and 2 week wait urgent cancer GP referrals. The Trust met the 62-day standard in 
September 2019 and maintained for the majority of months thereafter, finishing the year 
on 81.47%. 
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The table below shows cancer performance at CCG level which is for ENHCCG patients 
attending any hospital. With the majority of our CCG patients attending ENHT, the 
performance at ENHT has a significant impact on CCG performance. 

Table: Cancer waiting times for all CCG patients  
 

Cancer Waiting Times at CCG level Target Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 2019/20 

Two 
Week 
Waits 

Maximum two-week wait for first 
outpatient appointment for patients 
referred urgently with suspected 
cancer by a GP 

93% 94.86% 94.08% 94.52% 96.97% 95.11% 

Maximum two-week wait for first 
outpatient appointment for patients 
referred urgently with breast 
symptoms (where cancer was not 
initially suspected) 

93% 90.07% 93.54% 96.32% 96.95% 94.22% 

31 
Day 
Waits 

Maximum one month (31-day) wait 
from diagnosis to first definitive 
treatment for all cancers 

96% 96.34% 95.69% 98.68% 97.78% 97.12% 

Maximum 31-day wait for subsequent 
treatment where that treatment is 
surgery 

94% 89.27% 84.85% 85.33% 
 

87.18% 
 

86.66% 

Maximum 31-day wait for subsequent 
treatment where that treatment is an 
anti-cancer drug regime 

98% 98.52% 100.00% 100.00% 99.55% 99.52% 

Maximum 31-day wait for subsequent 
treatment where that treatment is a 
course of radiotherapy 

94% 97.77% 95.85% 97.38% 97.84% 97.21% 

62 
Day 
Waits 

Maximum two month (62-day) wait 
from urgent GP referral to first 
definitive treatment for cancer 

85% 76.90% 78.83% 87.06% 83.30% 81.45% 

Maximum 62-day wait from referral 
from an NHS screening service to first 
definitive treatment for all cancers 

90% 87.42% 78.02% 88.49% 70.00% 80.98% 

Maximum 62-day wait for first 
definitive treatment following a 
consultant's decision to upgrade the 
priority of the patient (all cancers) 

85% 86.38% 86.84% 76.48% 83.36% 83.27% 
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Referral to Treatment Times (RTT)  

Under the NHS Constitution there is a performance standard related to patients waiting 
for treatment; the standard being that 92% of patients on an incomplete pathway should 
be within 18 weeks.   
 
The table below 1 details the RTT performance for East and North Hertfordshire CCG 
patients for 2019/20.  
 

RTT Waiting Times Target Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 

18 Weeks 

Patients on incomplete non-
emergency pathways (yet to 
start treatment) should have 
been waiting no more than 18 
weeks from referral 

92% 87.22% 86.92% 85.09% 79.66% 

 

This standard has not been met for East and North Hertfordshire CCG patients during 
2019/20 with both ENHT and PAH below standard, achieving 77.38% and 86.55% 
respectively.    
 
CCG performance was below standard throughout the year with demand and capacity 
constraints at providers increasing waiting lists and backlogs.  New rules on pension 
contributions impacted on clinicians’ ability to carry out some additional activities in 19/20 
to meet demand, particularly in surgical specialties.   
 
Demand and capacity modelling was undertaken throughout the year, supported by the 
Intensive Support Team at East and North Hertfordshire NHS Trust, and underpinned by 
action plans to improve overall RTT compliance.  Recovery plans focused on waiting list 
management, training and validation and also the outsourcing of some activity. The CCG 
also worked with providers to manage demand on services by reviewing pathways such as 
advice and guidance and triage services. 

In line with the national directive to increase capacity for COVID 19 patients, all routine 
elective activity was wound down from 17 March 2020, and ceased by 15 April 2020. As a 
result, the number of CCG patients on an incomplete list increased from February to 
March, together with the number of patients waiting over 18 and 52 weeks.   RTT and 
diagnostic performance at providers declined across this period.  
 

                                                       
1 Data shown is a ‘snapshot’ from month 3 of each quarter 
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Diagnostic test waiting times  

There is a requirement that 99% of patients have diagnostic tests within 6 weeks of 
clinician request.  

 
Diagnostic Test  Target Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 

Maximum six week wait for  
diagnostic test 

99% 99.21% 98.76% 98.08% 91.11% 

 
This standard has not been met for East and North Hertfordshire CCG patients during 
2019/20 with both ENHT and PAH below standard, achieving 94.43% and 82.04% 
respectively.   

 

Stroke performance 2 (to Jan – next annual release of CCG data is July 2020) 

Stroke performance is monitored nationally and reported publically, via the Sentinel 
Stroke National Audit Programme (SSNAP).  
 
East and North Hertfordshire NHS Trust met the 90% of time on a stroke unit consistently 
throughout 2019/20 (up until the latest data available  The 4-hours direct to stroke unit 
standard has remained a challenge together with the Thrombolysed within 3 hours 
standard, however ENHT performance remains ahead of national average on the 4 hour 
target achieving 60.1% for the year up to January 2020. 

The Trust has attained an ‘A Rating’ on SSNAP from December 2016 to March 2019, which 
is a significant achievement; SSNAP national ratings are based on 44 key indicators which 
are grouped into 10 domains covering key aspects of stroke care, with grade ‘A’ indicating 
delivery of a first class service indicative of world class stroke care. The next release of 
data will be in July 2020.   

 

 
 
 

                                                       
2 Overall CCG level performance will be available in July 2019. The data for ENHT provided above will also be 
validated in July 2019. 

https://www.strokeaudit.org/
https://www.strokeaudit.org/
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Stroke Performance - ENHT Target Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 2019/20 

4 hours direct to stroke unit (ASI 2) 90% 60.47% 69.27% 57.13% 40.60% 60.12% 

90% of time on the stroke unit  
(ASI 3, IPMR) 

80% 92.30% 92.65% 87.30% 84.80% 90.16% 

Thrombolysed within 3 hours 12% 11.47% 10.50% 10.50%  10.8% 

 

Dementia diagnosis 

By diagnosing patients more promptly with dementia, we will be better able to support 
them and their families. For 2019/20, GPs in east and north Hertfordshire met the target 
of 66.7% of the expected number of people over 65 to be diagnosed with dementia, 
achieving 66.8%. Work continues with GP practice visits to ensure that dementia registers 
are up to date and dementia diagnosis is correctly recorded.   
 

Improving Access to Psychological Therapies (IAPT) (Data to February 2020) 

The national standards for the numbers of people accessing psychological therapies and 
the proportion of people assessed as having recovered as a result of their treatment have 
both been met for 2019/20. The national waiting time standard of 75% of people starting 
treatment within six weeks was not achieved in 2019/20 with a particularly challenging 
first half of the year.  However, the standard of 95% of people starting treatment within 
18 weeks, was achieved for the year. 
 

Quality Premium (2017-19) 

All CCGs have the potential to earn a ‘Quality Premium’ (QP) which is in recognition of 
improving the quality of services that they commission and for associated improvements 
in health outcomes and reducing inequalities.  
 
The 2017-19 Quality Premium was a two-year scheme and paid to the CCG in 2018/19 and 
2019/20 to reflect the achievements in 2017/18 and 2018/19 of national and local 
measures based on the priorities of the Five Year Forward View, NHS Mandate and Right 
Care Programme.  
 

 

https://www.england.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2014/10/5yfv-web.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/nhs-mandate-2016-to-2017
https://www.england.nhs.uk/rightcare/
https://www.england.nhs.uk/rightcare/
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CCGs must use any QP payment awarded to them to improve the quality of care or health 
outcomes and/or reduce health inequalities. 

In 2019/20 the CCG received a Quality Premium payment of £111k relating to 18/19 
performance; this was a 50% payment for all indicators achieved, with a 50% reduction 
applied as a result of the constitutional performance target for Cancer Waiting Times not 
being met.  

Nationally, there is not a Quality Premium scheme in place for 2020/21.  
 

 

IMPROVEMENT AND ASSESSMENT FRAMEWORK (IAF) – HOW ARE LOCAL 
HEALTH SERVICES PERFORMING?  
 
CCGs are assessed on their performance each year by NHS England. This is done though 
the Improvement and Assessment Framework (IAF), with the overall result derived from 
our performance against a broad range of indicators plus a review of CCG leadership and 
our financial management. 
 
In July 2019, performance results for the previous year (2018/19) were published. East 
and North Hertfordshire CCG was once again rated as outstanding, one of only nine CCGs 
to achieve this top rating for three years in a row. Highlighted for particular praise was the 
CCG’s commitment to partnership working and the leadership role it plays with other NHS 
organisations in Hertfordshire. 
 
The assessment is a detailed review of 58 indicators which show how well the CCG is 
working in four key areas:  
 

• Better Health: how the CCG contributed towards improving the health and 
wellbeing of its population;  

• Better Care: focusing on care redesign, performance against national standards, 
and outcomes in important clinical areas;  

• Sustainability: how the CCG is remaining in financial balance, and is securing good 
value for patients and the public from the money it spends;  

• Leadership: assessing the quality of the CCG’s leadership, our plans, how the CCG 
works with its partners, and our governance arrangements  

 

The CCG was praised for its robust financial leadership and risk management, highlighting 
that quality, performance and financial risks were well understood, and underpinned by 
clear governance arrangements. Further details of the assessment methodology can be 
found on the NHS England website.  

https://www.england.nhs.uk/commissioning/regulation/ccg-assess/iaf/
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For 2019/20, (the year that this annual report covers), the IAF has been replaced by the 
NHS Oversight Framework. This will be a new unified approach to assessing the 
performance of both providers and commissioners. There will be a greater emphasis on 
system performance, alongside the contribution of individual healthcare providers and 
commissioners to system goals.  
 
It is intended as a focal point for joint work, support and dialogue between NHS England 
and NHS Improvement, CCGs, providers and sustainability and transformation 
partnerships, and integrated care systems.  
 
A full list of assessment metrics for the year 2019/20 can be found in appendix 1 of the 
framework document.   The results for our 2019/20 assessment will not be published until 
July 2020 at the earliest. 
 

ENSURING QUALITY  

The work of our nursing and quality team 

Our ambition is to commission high quality, safe and clinically effective services for our 
patients. The indicators in the NHS Outcomes Framework; clinical effectiveness, patient 
experience and patient safety, allow the CCG to gain assurance about the quality of 
services being delivered by our providers and enables us to challenge and intervene when 
necessary. 

The CCG’s quality assurance strategy sets out our approach to commissioning and 
monitoring services in order to deliver high quality care to our patients.  

The quality team: 

 sets key safety, experience and effectiveness measures which are monitored 
regularly through quality review meetings, quality assurance visits and contract 
review meetings 
 

 provides an integrated performance and quality report for the Governing Body 
 

 has a robust Quality Committee which reports to the Governing Body, providing 
assurance on the quality of services we commission. The committee receives a 
quality dashboard detailing key metrics and performance for all providers  
 

https://www.england.nhs.uk/commissioning/regulation/ccg-assess/iaf/
https://improvement.nhs.uk/documents/6278/NHS_Oversight_Framework_IE_Aug2019_revOct2019.pdf
https://www.england.nhs.uk/about/equality/equality-hub/nhs-outcome-framework-health-inequalities-indicators/
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 monitors and reviews data from a number of sources, including the GP hotline, to 
ensure early warnings of a potential decline in quality are identified and 
appropriate action taken. The GP hotline is a direct way for GPs and practice staff 
to let the CCG know if there are any issues with healthcare providers 
 

 has put in place a robust programme of quality assurance visits to providers, using 
the expertise of patient representatives to support visits. We use visits to identify 
concerns and ensure appropriate actions are taken 
 

 has a well-informed patient network group which plays an integral role in quality 
monitoring. All localities are represented on this group and provide feedback on 
the quality of services commissioned by the CCG 
 

 works in partnership with providers and other commissioners to ensure quality 
priorities are aligned to the current and future health needs of the local 
population. Where appropriate, improvements are incentivised through the 
commissioning for quality and innovation (CQUIN) national schemes 
 

 hosts the ‘designated professionals’ for Hertfordshire, who are members of local 
safeguarding boards.  
  

 works to monitor the quality of primary care. The CCG supports practices 
undergoing CQC inspections and uses the expertise of our own specialists and 
external partners to help practices improve the quality of their services 
  

 manages the ‘clinical funding prior approval’ process which ensures that clinical 
procedures are carried out at the optimum time for patients in line with best 
available clinical evidence and in accordance with clinical thresholds agreed by the 
Bedfordshire, Hertfordshire, West Essex and Milton Keynes Priorities Forum  
 

 reviews complaint themes and trends from our main providers. ‘Serious incidents’ 
in healthcare are adverse events, where the consequences to patients, families 
and carers, staff or organisations are so significant or the potential for learning is 
so great, that a heightened level of response is justified. The CCG’s Serious Incident 
Panel meets weekly to review investigation reports to make sure they are robust 
and have considered all aspects of how an incident happened and what is being 
done to learn from it. 
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‘Never Events’  

‘Never Events’ are particular types of serious incidents which meet the following criteria: 

 They are wholly preventable, where guidance or safety recommendations that 
provide strong systemic protective barriers are available at a national level, and 
should have been implemented by all healthcare providers 

 They have the potential to cause serious patient harm or death, although serious 
harm is not required to have happened in order to classify as a Never Event 

 There is evidence that the category of Never Event has occurred in the past 
(nationally) and a risk of recurrence remains. 

In 2019/20, five Never Events were reported by organisations where East and North 
Hertfordshire CCG is the host commissioner; three occurred at East and North 
Hertfordshire NHS Trust and two occurred at Pinehill Hospital. Of the five Never Events, 
two related to ENHCCG patients. The details of the incidents are as follows: 

Organisation Type of Never Event Detail 

East and North 
Hertfordshire NHS Trust 

Unintentional 
connection of a patient 
requiring oxygen to an 
air flowmeter 

A patient requiring oxygen was 
given air as the equipment was 
connected to an airflow outlet 
rather than the oxygen outlet. 

East and North 
Hertfordshire NHS Trust 

Wrong site surgery 
Incorrect tooth was removed 
from a patient. 3 

East and North 
Hertfordshire NHS Trust 

Retained foreign object 
post procedure 

A throat pack was left in situ 
following a patient’s surgery 

Pinehill Hospital  
(Ramsay Healthcare) 

Wrong site surgery 
Incorrect gynaecological 
procedure undertaken 

Pinehill Hospital  
(Ramsay Healthcare) 

Wrong site surgery 
Incorrect gynaecological 
procedure undertaken 

 

  

                                                       
3 This incident relates to a NHS England commissioned service. 

https://improvement.nhs.uk/resources/never-events-policy-and-framework/
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Achievements in 2019/20 

Throughout the year, the quality team has been involved with a number of workstreams 
that have improved quality, patient experience and clinical effectiveness: 

 Delegated responsibility for primary care 
Since April 2018, the responsibility for monitoring quality and responding to 
concerns arising from general practices has been delegated to the CCG. There have 
been regular quality visits to a number of GP practices supporting them to meet 
the CQC requirements. 
 

 Improving maternity care   
The CCG is a key partner in the local maternity system which is providing a full 
range of training to staff to help reduce perinatal mortality. There have been 
positive outcomes for women in our initial continuity of care pilots where women 
have the same midwife looking after them during their whole maternity 
experience. 
 

 Attraction and recruitment strategy 
The CCG is actively involved with STP workforce programme looking at ways of 
attracting, recruiting and retaining staff in the Hertfordshire health and social care 
sectors. This has involved developing a strategy that supports workforce initiatives 
to ensure we have the right levels and skills of staff for the future. 
 

 Aligning complaints processes across Hertfordshire 
The team has been working to align complaints processes and policies across the 
two Hertfordshire CCGs. By doing this we are able to provide a more consistent 
service to people who wish to raise concerns about the services we commission 
within Hertfordshire; and also ensure timely actions are taken when improvements 
are identified. 
 

 Improved consistency of the prior approval team 
The team has added more clinical expertise and administration support to process 
applications for prior approval and ‘individual funding requests’ to manage the 
process for both Hertfordshire CCGs. This means that services are more consistent 
across the county with more equitable application of clinical policies. The team has 
successfully aligned clinical criteria in line with the NHSE Evidence Based 
Interventions Programme.  
 
 

https://www.england.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2016/03/saving-babies-lives-car-bundl.pdf
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 Monitoring and improving the quality of care in care homes 
The CCG has worked closely with Hertfordshire County Council to undertake 
annual monitoring of care homes. There is a joint escalation process in place to 
manage and support homes in the Safety Improvement Process.  
 

 Safeguarding Children Assurance Tool 
The Designated Nurse for Safeguarding Children helped to develop the 
safeguarding assurance tool now implemented nationally. 
 

 Child deaths 
The Designated Team led on and collaborated with Health Providers to implement 
changes to the review of child death arrangements within Hertfordshire. 
 
 

CARING FOR VULNERABLE RESIDENTS 

Safeguarding adults 

We work alongside our partner agencies to identify and prevent all forms of abuse and 
neglect so that everyone living in Hertfordshire is able to make a full and positive 
contribution to society.  

Our Director of Nursing and Quality and Associate Director of Adult Safeguarding are 
members of the Hertfordshire Safeguarding Adult Board (HSAB).  This means we can make 
sure that the CCG works closely with partners to constantly improve the outcomes for 
adults at risk across the county. 

This year, in addition to providing training to GPs and Practice Nurses on adult 
safeguarding and domestic abuse; we completed our fifth year of safeguarding adult 
assurance visits to health partner agencies and gained the necessary assurance about their 
adult safeguarding activities.  

As Chair of the Domestic Homicide sub-group the Associate Director of Adult Safeguarding 
participated in a meeting at the Home Office to share learning identified from reviews and 
the actions taken and worked with colleagues to implement a quality framework to 
support the review process. 

As Chair of the Safeguarding Adult Review sub group the Associate Director of Adult 
Safeguarding has worked with colleagues to review the process and protocols for 
referrals, created a leaflet for families and identified how to improve the quality of 
reports. This will enable learning to be identified and disseminated. 
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We have implemented the CCG training strategy and the Named Nurse has worked with 
the Children’s Safeguarding Team and the CCG’s HR team to revise induction training for 
CCG staff. The Named Nurse has launched Level 3 Adult Safeguarding training for CCG 
staff and provides clinical supervision for relevant staff.  

Key achievements: 

 Implementation of Level 3 training for CCG staff 

 Domestic abuse conference for primary care staff 

 Monitoring of commissioned services in relation to adult safeguarding 

 Through the Strategic Quality Improvement Group (SQIG) worked with Care Homes 
and Home Care providers to maintain quality of care and safeguarding of 
individuals 

 Provided trauma and resilience training for key health and social care staff 

 
Safeguarding children 

It is the responsibility of all working in the NHS to uphold and adhere to the principles and 
duties of safeguarding children. The CCG governing body consistently seeks assurance that 
children are safeguarded. This is achieved through our commissioning arrangements, 
monitoring and reporting requirements through annual ‘section 11’ visits, key 
performance indicators and collaborative work with our providers. The CCG, Hertfordshire 
County Council and Hertfordshire Constabulary are partners in the new safeguarding 
children arrangements in Hertfordshire. 

Partnership Arrangements 
In January 2019, the CCG assumed joint responsibility for partnership arrangements to 
keep children safe. We are represented by the Director of Nursing and Quality who is the 
executive lead for safeguarding children. Partnership work is supported by the designated 
team who attend key groups, carry out audits, review performance data, take part in case 
reviews, contribute to policy and learning and development. A partnership report is 
published annually. 

Achievements 

 Learning Hubs to deliver training and information on the topics of knives/gangs, 
neglect, and health and wellbeing 

 Audits on the number and quality of health assessments for looked after children 
showed positive results  

 Training delivered to GPs covering topics such as exploitation, modern day slavery, 
trafficking and mental health to continually promote the needs of Care Leavers. 
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 Working closely with service users, for example to service users – an example to 
improve the pathway for young people leaving care who are pregnant 

 Development of a tool for primary care to support to capture key performance 

 A range of new processes and guidance has been implemented on various areas of 
the team’s work.  

 

Improving the health of people with a learning disability   

The CCG continues to work to the requirements of the NHS England quality standards for 
care of people with a learning disability. Using LeDeR (Learning Disability Review of 
Mortality Programme) as leverage to influence change, Community Learning Disability 
Nurses are supporting GPs and their practices to ensure people with a learning disability 
are identified and added to the LD QoF register. The team works hard to ensure that as 
many patients with a learning disability have an annual health check and are offered the 
seasonal flu vaccination.  

In addition to this mandatory activity, the CCG’s LD  lead GP is a key member of the  
‘Improving Health Outcomes Group’ alongside acute and mental health trusts, social care 
and hospices from across Hertfordshire. This group comes together on alternate months 
to consider the recommendations that are presented to LeDeR following the completion 
of reviews. Using this intelligence each member is responsible for considering how the 
learning can be actioned within their own organisations to reduce the health inequalities 
faced by people with a learning disability.  

Around half of all deaths of someone with a learning disability in Hertfordshire are as a 
result of pneumonia, aspiration pneumonia or sepsis. There are a number of issues that 
could have impacted on whether a death was premature and/or preventable including: 

 diagnostic overshadowing (where a health professional makes the assumption that 
the behaviour of a person with learning disabilities is part of their disability without 
exploring other factors) 

 inappropriate application of the mental capacity act and  

 poor completion of DNR documentation 

 a lack of ‘end of life planning’ and 

 ineffective communication between the person with a learning disability, families/ 
carers and health and care professionals  

A wide range of activity is taking place to drive forward change and improve practice. This 
is outlined in a comprehensive LeDeR action plan that is monitored by the Hertfordshire 
LeDeR steering group. 
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REDUCING HEALTH INEQUALITIES 

East and North Hertfordshire CCG is committed to taking action on the inequalities 
experienced by the population that we serve. The CCG continues to support a number of 
initiatives that aim to improve social inclusion, reduce isolation and improve mental 
wellbeing in some of the most disadvantaged communities, and in those living with long-
term conditions.  

While most of our population enjoys good health and have better health outcomes 
compared with the rest of the country, we know that significant health inequalities exist 
and some of our residents are dying from illnesses such as circulatory diseases, cancer and 
respiratory diseases at a younger age than we would expect.  

There are differences in people’s health outcomes in different districts. For example:  

 Life expectancy for women in east Hertfordshire is two years longer than in north 
Hertfordshire. In the Welwyn Hatfield area – the gap is 8.9 years between the most 
and least deprived areas of this borough.  

 More people in the borough of Broxbourne have been diagnosed with diabetes 
than other areas of the county  

 Stevenage generally tends to have poorer health outcomes than other districts in 
the county.  

 Deaths from heart disease are more common in Stevenage than the rest of 
Hertfordshire  
 

Working with partners to tackle health inequalities  

The CCG understands that by working together with partners across the health and social 
care system to identify and address health inequalities we can help secure improved 
health outcomes for our local population.  

‘Population health management’ is an approach that will help us to target our collective 
resources where evidence shows that we can have the greatest impact. Local government 
and health organisations, together with the community and voluntary sector, will deliver 
joined-up services to defined groups of the population. In this way, we will prevent, 
reduce, or delay need before it escalates; and prevent people with complex needs from 
reaching crisis points. 

We know that people’s health, access to services and experiences can be affected by 
many factors. As commissioners we are committed to planning services that meet the 
needs of everyone in our communities and we strive to continue to improve access for 
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patients, in part by meeting our Public Sector Equality Duty and our requirements under 
the Equality Act 2010. We will also consider the findings of the Marmot Review – 10 years 
on and how learning can be applied locally. We are also working hard to give equal priority 
to physical and mental health needs.  

Tackling health inequalities for people of all ages, or ‘life stages’, is a key local ambition. 
The Hertfordshire Health and Wellbeing Strategy is based around these four life stages: 

 Starting well 

 Developing well 

 Living well 

 Ageing well 

 
The strategy will be reviewed and refreshed during 2020/21. Engagement with district and 
borough councils is taking place to gain a better understanding of the diversity and variety of 
health and wellbeing activity that takes place across the county and the role that local areas, 
networks and communities can play in helping to achieve improvements. 
 

The role of Hertfordshire’s Health and Wellbeing Board  

Hertfordshire Health and Wellbeing Board brings together the NHS, Hertfordshire County 
Council and local district and borough councils, Healthwatch Hertfordshire and the Police and 
Crime Commissioner, to plan how best to meet the needs of Hertfordshire’s population and 
tackle local inequalities in health. East and North Hertfordshire CCG is one of the key decision 
makers represented on the Board.  

The board’s partnership strategy has been developed using four significant stages of the life 
course: Starting well; developing well; living and working well; and ageing well.  

The CCG works with partners taking a joined-up approach to tackle the causes of poor health as 
well as supporting people to make healthier lifestyle choices and improving healthcare.  

Hertfordshire has a strong history of partnership working and to date has had one of the largest 
pooled Better Care Funds in the country. This brings NHS and social care money into a single 
shared fund to help prevent older and vulnerable people going into hospital when they don’t 
need to and provide them with support in their community. 

 

 

 

 

http://www.instituteofhealthequity.org/resources-reports/marmot-review-10-years-on/marmot-review-10-years-on-full-report.pdf
http://www.instituteofhealthequity.org/resources-reports/marmot-review-10-years-on/marmot-review-10-years-on-full-report.pdf
https://www.hertfordshire.gov.uk/media-library/documents/about-the-council/partnerships/health-and-wellbeing-board/hertfordshire-health-and-wellbeing-strategy-2016-%E2%80%93-2020.pdf


Annual Report and Accounts 2019/20 

_____________________________________________________________________    54 

The CCG’s approach to tackle inequality 

Using insight 
 
To help plan our work and identify need, we use information, data and insight.  This is provided 
by our partnership with Mede Analytics and the information available to us through Herts Health 
Evidence and Public Health England. We use the NHS RightCare Pack for our area to help us 
understand how we compare to other parts of the country with similar demographics. These 
packs have been developed by a partnership of the NHS and a number of universities and aim to 
support health and care systems design and deliver services that work to reduce health 
inequalities in access to services and health outcomes for their diverse local populations. 
 
One of the challenges facing Hertfordshire is how we deliver the best care for our increasingly 
ageing population. We expect the number of over-75s to increase by 37% in the next 10 years. 
We are working to increase the support available, and we aim to identify people at risk of 
avoidable hospital admission sooner, before they reach the point where they are no longer 
managing to cope. We will achieve this by creating integrated teams; with primary care, 
community health, mental health and learning disability, ambulance and social care services 
working together in the community. 

We will ensure people who are most “at risk” – due to social vulnerabilities and their clinical 
needs – are prioritised for integrated care plans that are person, carer and whole-system owned. 
This will include groups of people who have the biggest inequalities in health such as looked 
after children, those with serious mental illness and people with learning disabilities, as well as 
those with a high frailty score. We are also seeking to develop personalised plans around people 
who have had multiple A&E attendances, multiple emergency admissions and those who have 
used 999 or 111 multiple times.  

The following will support this:  

 We’re prioritising the introduction of personal health budgets for more of our residents 
with complex health needs  
 

 We’re using a patient-held booklet, ‘My Plan’, developed by people with long-term 
conditions and their carers, to enable people to capture what’s important to them, their 
future wishes and the steps they need to take in a medical emergency  
 

 Every Primary Care Networkwill employ a social prescribing ‘link worker’ – focused on 
ensuring that people with non-medical issues that are making them ill, like loneliness, 
can access the help they need.  

https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/
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Clinical evidence 
 
Since 2017 we have been using our ‘prioritisation framework’ to provide a structured, evidence-
based way of considering which services could be commissioned by the CCG within its limited 
budget. This framework, used alongside our detailed equality impact assessment process allows 
our governing body to evaluate all proposals ensuring they produce the best outcomes for 
patients, offer good value for money and don’t negatively impact on particular groups of people.  
 
The CCG employs a number of ‘clinical fellows’ whose role is to provide clinical insight to support 
the CCG in developing its plans. They review the available evidence to develop robust, evidence 
based care pathways, new models of care and service transformation plans, which support the 
implementation of a population health management approach within the CCG and STP. 
 

Improving our equality impact analysis  

The CCG is continuously improving its approach to equality impact analysis (EIA).  In January all 
members of the governing body and the CCG’s senior managers took part in a workshop to 
understand the importance of carrying out a thorough equality impact assessment.  
 

A number of other CCG projects aim to ensure patients have access to the same standard of 
care, wherever they live and whatever their background:  

 This year, the CCG has launched a ‘rainbow badge’ scheme to educate staff about the 
health inequalities faced by the LGBTQ+ community and what actions should be taken to 
better support people with particular needs. The training will then be rolled out to GP 
practices in 2020. 
 

 The CCG continues to actively support young carers living in our area. Our contracts with 
providers have been rewritten to ensure that organisations who provide care for our 
patients also take account of the needs of young carers.  
 

 Our GP practices have access to an electronic ‘clinical decision support tool’ (Ardens) 
which helps GPs to assess patients’ symptoms and ensure their conditions and any 
treatment they need are managed according to recognised best practice.  
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PATIENT AND PUBLIC ENGAGEMENT 

New faces joined the Public Engagement Team in 2019/20, determined to build on established 
structures and relationships with patient voice representatives, as well as engaging CCG teams 
and stakeholders to help improve their inclusion of the patient voice. 

Alison Gardner was also appointed Lay Member for Patient and Public Involvement, bringing 
insight and a quality-driven approach to ensuring the voice of the public is heard. She has the 
same role at Herts Valleys CCG, creating another key link within the Hertfordshire health system. 

We work with GP surgery patient participation groups (PPGs) via Patient Locality Networks 
(PLNs). These networks reach out into their community and engage other people to have their 
say about services. Our core governance committees include the Primary Care Commissioning 
Committee and Patient Network Quality. We also provide regular assurance to the CCG’s 
Governing Body and submit a wide-ranging self-assessment to NHS England on governance, 
reporting and equalities. 

Internal audit recommendations and engagement with our numerous volunteer members help 
us regularly reflect on our engagement practice and make improvements to our work wherever 
possible.  
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        In August 2019 I was appointed to the Governing Body as Lay Member for Patient and 
Public Involvement.  In this capacity I contribute to as many Governing Body meetings, 
workshops, committees and patient/volunteer events as I can.   
 
I chair a steering group for the implementation of the new iteration of the NHS Equalities and 
Diversity System (EDS2) and am Deputy Chair for the Primary Care Commissioning Committee 
(PCCC).  With the support of my colleagues  it has been possible to very quickly feel fully 
embedded and involved in the governance structures and activities of the CCG.   

Because I undertake the same role in the CCG in the other part of the county - Herts Valleys, I 
also have a brief from the CEOs and Chairs of both CCGS to help us to prepare for our future 
structures. This means searching for best practice to share, looking for similarities and 
differences in approaches to being a commissioning organisation and most importantly looking 
for opportunities to work together, collaboratively for the benefit of all of the citizens of 
Hertfordshire and West Essex.  What I have found so far is a great deal already going on for us to 
build on.  We are already working together and learning from each other in many different 
practical ways.    

The key part of my role is of course to provide assurance to the Governing Body about the 
range, breadth and impact of patient involvement activity taking place.  I am a great believer in 
the statement "involve me and I will understand"  so I think to do the job well I need to spend a 
lot of time outside meeting rooms and in the thick of things.  I have been able to get out and 
about and involved in numerous ways, including the recent engagement on the UCC opening 
hours, quality assurance visits, quality meetings, a celebration of our volunteers and a winter 
warmer event.   

So thank you for keeping your side of the bargain and making it easy for me to be and feel 
involved.  I will carry on with mine, endeavouring to understand, share good practice and ideas 
and look for opportunities for us all to work together across the county and beyond for the 
benefit of patients and the public.  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Alison Gardner,  
Lay member for Patient and Public Involvement 

“ 

” 
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What we’ve been doing 

Service design, commissioning and change 

To improve access to care and patient outcomes, we gather views and feedback from the 
general public, patients and families with experience of using services, patient voice volunteers, 
and stakeholder organisations such as Healthwatch Hertfordshire, as well as using data and 
insight. 

During the summer, we ran a comprehensive 12-week engagement exercise about proposals to 
change the opening hours of the Urgent Care Centre (UCC) at The New QEII Hospital in Welwyn 
Garden City.  The UCC is for minor injuries and minor illness and data indicated the service is not 
well used overnight.  

The CCG proposed to close the UCC between 10pm and 8am each night, so we wanted to get an 
understanding of patients’ needs and whether it was the right thing for making best use of 
limited NHS clinical staff.   

Drop-in sessions, public meetings, and focus groups gave hundreds of local people the chance to 
ask questions and find out more about the proposal and more than 900 people completed a 
questionnaire about the proposal and local services.  

The findings from all of these activities were collated and analysed by an independent research 
company and these were reported to the Governing Body in October at a public meeting. The 
members decided unanimously to keep the UCC open overnight until the end of March 2020 to 
see if more patients used the service and the Governing Body would  review the usage data at its 
first meeting in 2020 to determine whether there is a justification for it remaining open during 
the night. 

In 2019, work began on a number of projects either led by the CCG or initiated by practices. 
These have included proposed and agreed practice mergers and relocations. The Public 
Engagement Team was involved in early discussions about each project to ensure that patients 
had a chance to have their say and could give feedback in different ways. 

For instance, primary care colleagues in Bishop’s Stortford are planning on improvements to 
service access in the town. This includes surgery relocation to Herts and Essex Hospital which 
hosts other surgeries, and another re-location to a new housing development. The proposals 
were discussed with all PPGs, and drop-in sessions were also held for patients so they could 
share their views on the plans.   
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These types of projects will continue until April 2021 and we will continue to engage with 
practices, patient representatives, stakeholders and CCG colleagues to help ensure we meet our 
legal duty to involve the public.  

In the early autumn, the CCG made the decision to close Orchard Surgery in Buntingford and 
Ware Road Surgery in Hertford and we wrote to patients at both surgeries about the decision six 
months before the closure date of 31 March 2020.  

The CCG also engaged with the surgeries’ Patient Participation Groups (PPGs), set up feedback 
mechanisms for people who wanted to share their views, and compiled and regularly updated a 
‘question and answers’ webpage for patients. We wanted to ensure people could have good 
access to up to date information designed to help them through what was an understandably 
unsettling time. This included asking them for their preferred alternative surgery to be 
transferred to, and the process leading up to and including the transfer. 

At the time of writing, patients from these surgeries are being safely transferred over to 
alternative practices in time to use new services before and from 1 April 2020. 

As well as our local work we are using our website and social media accounts to encourage 
patient members and the public to take part in regional and national consultations, such as the 
proposal to move Moorfields Eye Hospital to a new site and plans to separate planned from 
emergency orthopaedic surgery in north London, at hospitals used by some of our Lower Lea 
Valley patients. 

 

Community engagement and education 

The community engagement campaign Cancel out Cancer has made great progress since its 
launch in February 2019.  

Cancel Out Cancer is a one-hour long interactive session to help people understand the risks, 
screening for cancer, and cancer prevention. This supports the ambition to reduce the likelihood 
of cancer developing in the first place for everyone who lives in our CCG area. 

By raising awareness of the cancer screening programmes, it helps those in the session become 
better aware of the need to accept the invites they received from their GP practice to be 
screened for different cancers. It also helps people understand key warning signs and to see 
their GP at the earliest opportunity if they have concerns. 

The campaign is based on Cancer Research UK information and educational materials and the 
format of the interactive engagement workshops are similar to a Dementia Friends session. 

https://www.enhertsccg.nhs.uk/have-your-say
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The aims for 2020/21 are to roll out a similar programme to young people, and increase 
engagement with BME communities. To find out how you can get involved, please visit: 
www.enhertsccg.nhs.uk/canceloutcancer  
 

Patient representatives Mike Carn and Justin Jewitt, who sit on the CCG’s Cancer Steering 
Group, worked with more than a dozen volunteer presenters in 2019/20 to deliver 60-minute 
information sessions to a range of community groups and organisations across the county 
including Carers in Herts and adults with learning disabilities.  
 

         We have a very enthusiastic team of energetic and enthusiastic volunteers who present the 
sessions to community groups and organisations in the area. By early 2020, we had presented a 
Cancel Out Cancer session to around 150 people and our ambition has been to get the 
presentation out to more than 200 people within 2019/20. 

In order to accommodate the increase in demand for sessions we will also have had nearly 20 
volunteers trained to present the session. 

 “In order to report on our progress, talk over concerns, and share ideas, we hold a monthly 
meeting of the Working Group which then feeds back to the CCG’s Steering Group that Justin 
and I sit on. It’s also attended by the trainers who can make it to keep track of performance and 
the way forward. 

We are actively looking into the possibility of creating a Cancel Out Cancer session aimed at 
younger people, and how to make the session available online for those who would like to see 
the content before committing to booking a session with us. 

We will continue to spread the word about Cancel Out Cancer 
including working with the Hertfordshire County Council Workplace 
Health Champions and seeing how we can involve each GP practice in 
delivering the sessions as well.  

With the support of volunteers, our stakeholder partners, and of 
course the communities, the campaign will go from strength to 
strength in the coming year. 

 
Mike Carn, Patient Volunteer 

 

“ 

” 

http://www.enhertsccg.nhs.uk/canceloutcancer
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We have supported a wide range of activity and planning with the Programme Management 
Office, Primary Care and other teams: 
 

Long Term Conditions Strategy 

To support this planning work by our Programme Management Office, enthusiastic patient 
representatives took part in two workshops in 2019 to share their experiences and ideas, 
commenting on a draft version of the strategy. Through their involvement, patient 
representatives have been able to say how important effective two-way communication with 
them is in managing their conditions. We will work closely with the CCG’s Project Management 
Office to create engaging and informative materials produced with patient representatives and 
ensure they continue to be fit for purpose for the lifetime of the Long Term Conditions Strategy. 
 

Primary Care Networks 

Twelve Primary Care Networks (PCNs) went live in July 2019. The networks will enable access to 
more proactive, personalised, coordinated and integrated health and social care. We have 
worked with CCG Primary Care Development colleagues and our Patient Locality Network to 
ensure the patient voice is heard at PCN level. Volunteers took part in a development workshop 
to discuss their views and ideas, and we have shared briefings on PCNs when new information 
has arisen. In January, patient representatives also responded to the national consultation on 
the GP contract which included specifications about PCNs.  

 
Extended access 

The introduction of ‘extended access’ GP services has created opportunities for Patient Locality 
Network members and the Patient Network Quality to engage with practices and patients on the 
options people have when making an appointment. We looked at patient survey responses 
linked to the Consolidated Funding Framework for 2019 / 2021 which showed that of around 
20,000 responses between July and November 2019, just under 40% were aware of extended 
access appointments at their GP practice. Our patient voice representatives want to ensure 
more is known about extended access services, and we are supporting them in raising 
awareness of these appointments so that patients themselves ask for one even if they are not 
offered by staff. 
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Consolidated Funding Framework 

The Primary Care Consolidated Funding Framework (CFF) supports targeted investment in 
primary care. GP practices do not have to take part, but if they meet the requirements of the 
CFF each year, they benefit from extra funding based on the number of registered patients. 

The CFF elements about engagement and patient representation in 2019/20 required practices 
to ensure people know how to make their voices heard at practice level. We devised a wide-
ranging patient survey for GP practices to promote between July and November, and around 
20,000 responses were received. Practices are reviewing  the results with their patient 
participation groups (PPGs) to explore how the issues raised will be addressed and then 
feedback their improvement plans to patients. 

 
Community events 

We supported our patient community in Lower Lea Valley with its first health awareness event, 
working with local stakeholders to raise awareness of health matters, prevention, and services. 
Although held on one of July’s damper days, it attracted interest from families and individuals 
living in and around Cheshunt and the patient representatives are planning a second event in 
June 2020. 

We also represented the local NHS services at the annual Health Fest in Welwyn Garden City, 
talking to local people about matters such as sepsis, GP appointments, health and wellbeing, and 
using NHS 111. 

 
Supporting our volunteers 

We provide support to our regular volunteers and celebrate their contribution to our 
organisation. This is done in a number of ways to better enable their contribution: 

Herts Health Matters is a fortnightly e-newsletter sent to our patient volunteer network and 
anyone who signs up via the website. It summarises local and national health related news, and 
highlights involvement and volunteering opportunities and local events: 
www.enhertsccg.nhs.uk/newsletter-social-media  

Health Involvement Network is a ‘closed’ Facebook group to help improve our virtual 
engagement. Members share news, views and best practice from their own and other 
communities. The group is moderated by the Public Engagement Team and we regularly post 
about engagement opportunities and events.  

http://www.enhertsccg.nhs.uk/newsletter-social-media


Annual Report and Accounts 2019/20 

_____________________________________________________________________    63 

You can find out more details on our social media engagement activities here: 
https://www.enhertsccg.nhs.uk/newsletter-social-media 

Training and support for our volunteers help them feel supported in their role. We have 
signposted members to local, regional and national training events, workshops and conferences 
as well as online opportunities such as the Kings Fund. NHS England has also begun to provide a 
suite of opportunities for patient voice representatives which we will promote to volunteers 

The second Winter celebration event gave us the opportunity to thank our volunteers for their 
contribution they have made throughout the year. Attended by our Chief Executive Beverley 
Flowers, Lay Member Alison Gardener, GPs and Carers in Herts, the evening provided some 
insight into their work and gave everyone a chance to network and build contacts.    

The above highlights are just a snapshot of the engagement activity we have undertaken over 
the course of the past year. You can see other examples of our activities, working alongside 
Healthwatch, the voluntary and community sector and of course our public volunteers on our 
website at: www.enhertsccg.nhs.uk/get-involved  

  

https://www.enhertsccg.nhs.uk/newsletter-social-media
http://www.enhertsccg.nhs.uk/get-involved
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You said, we did 

Here are a few highlights of the difference patients and stakeholders have made to our work:  

Project You Said We Did/Are Doing 

 
Engagement 
about proposed 
service changes 

 
We want to support the CCG in 
sharing engagement 
opportunities to groups and 
want to know our critical 
feedback is being heard. 

 
We asked our Patient Locality Network 
(PLN), who are made up of  
people from GP patient participation 
groups, to share information about a 
range of engagement opportunities 
including a review into Mount Vernon 
Cancer Centre which services patients 
in our area. 
 
We involved the Patient Participation 
Groups (PPGs) at two surgeries which 
closed in 2020. 

 
Young Carers 
Takeover 
Challenge 

 
Young carers need a better 
opportunity to share their ideas 
and concerns about how they 
access services in the area, and 
whether improvements can be 
made.  
 

 
A group of young carers spent time 
with different providers so they could 
better understand life as young carer 
accessing local services. We have 
amended our core contract with all of 
our service providers to insert a 
requirement to ensure there is staff 
understanding of young carers their 
role, and support better identification 
of young carers. 
 

Tackling big issues 
such as loneliness  

We know there are issues 
around helping people in our 
communities access help and 
support and we want to see a 
joined-up approach. 
 

The CCG is a key member of a 
countywide loneliness steering group, 
and a staretgy will be launched later in 
2020. We have supported a number of 
‘Winter Warmer’ lunch events which 
aim to link people to local services as 
well as the great ‘Hertfordshire Door 
Knock’ multi-agency project 
encouraging people to get to know 
their neighbours. 
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Involving all of our community 

We continue to work on ensuring all of our population is considered and consulted in our 
decision-making. Our activities are evidence-based and intelligence-led with projects subject to 
rigorous equality impact assessments and these are published publically as part of our 
Governing Body papers on the website here: https://www.enhertsccg.nhs.uk/governing-body-
meetings-in-public  

Our engagement with partners, stakeholders and community groups acting as advocates or 
representatives in Hertfordshire contributes to this work. In 2019/20, the CCG has actively 
contributed to many groups including: 

 Local authority health and wellbeing boards 

 Carers Co-production Board 

 Hertfordshire Tackling Loneliness Steering Group  

 Hertfordshire Equality Committee 

 Mental Health Crisis Concordat  

If there is no existing stakeholder group to reference or work with, we look to engage with 
specialist organisations such as local CVS organisations. 

We aim to ensure public involvement meetings are held in accessible locations and venues, 
they’re convenient to attend, and that there are options to engage face to face, online, by 
telephone or post. We also work with an external company to produce different formats of 
documents and materials, including ‘easy read’ format.  

 
Case study: Meeting the needs of our young carers 

The national Takeover Challenge initiative at the end of 2018 was the launchpad for a year-long 
project with the Carers in Herts. 

A small group of the council became our ‘youth executive’ in 2019, visiting provider sites around 
the area and spending time with different colleagues both clinical and non-clinical. We wanted 
to give them a safe space to address their priorities and raise concerns, and help them learn 
more about local services and how to use them in an effective way for the best outcome.  

They visited Hertfordshire Community Trust and East and North Hertfordshire NHS Trust. They 
also spent a day with those working in mental health services. These activities meant they could 
give direct feedback about their experiences and how things can be improved and Carers in 
Herts also secured funding from NHS England to create a video about the carers’ experiences, to 
be released in spring 2020. 

https://www.enhertsccg.nhs.uk/governing-body-meetings-in-public
https://www.enhertsccg.nhs.uk/governing-body-meetings-in-public
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One significant outcome has been a change to the pharmacy contract within hospitals which 
allows young carers to manage medication for the person they care for. It was a real barrier for 
young carers, and we were very pleased that from 2019/20, this clause in the contract came into 
effect. Another outcomes has been strengthened relationships between organisations and a 
joint ambition to make the lives of young carers as easy as possible when they access the NHS. 

We really enjoyed working with this group of young people, and will continue our engagement 
with them as well as setting up a takeover year with another group of young people.  

Laura Green, Young Carers Team Leader at Carers in Herts said: “We were really pleased that 
young carers were able to get involved in this project and have their voices heard by health 
professionals. We know from what young carers tell us that health is an area that they feel need 
a greater awareness about their needs, so it was great that they had this opportunity. Members 
of the Youth Exec have said that they have learnt a lot about the NHS, and that they have felt 
listened to by the professionals involved.”  

Jodie Deards, Carers Lead at East and North Hertfordshire NHS Trust said of the project: 
“Listening to the young carers enabled us to really understand what mattered most to them 
when they came into hospital. As a result, we are making changes to ensure young carers feel 
more welcomed and supported within the hospital environment. It was also a fantastic 
opportunity to develop relationships with the young carers and our Trust that we will continue 
to encourage.” 
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The year ahead 

A range of key activities were planned to keep the involvement principles at the centre of CCG 
activity and help achieve priorities in the Communications and Engagement Strategy for 2019-
2021. Because of the restrictions to people’s movements in the wake of COVID-19, these activities 
will be modified or postponed:  

 development days for Patient Locality Network (PLN) members so they can network, 
hear from key speakers and have a platform, may be held online if face-face meetings 
cannot take place by the end of 2020 
 

 supporting the PLN and primary care network (PCN) colleagues to develop wider reach to 
their population and stakeholders  
 

 equipping volunteers with new training and development so they can enhance the 
contribution they make to our work will involve online opportunities, with face-face 
training hopefully open to volunteers in the later part of 20/21 
 

 continuing to work with young carers on ensuring the improvements we have made keep 
up with their needs, and start another similar project with a different group of young 
people will be planned for face-face with online options such as Zoom meetings with NHS 
staff considered 
 

 campaigns tackling awareness, prevention, and living well at the end of life and a rolling 
education programme relating to living with, and managing, long term conditions which 
is accessible to everyone and relates to real life situations 
 

 supporting patient voice volunteers and GP practices in running local events on key 
health matters, if possible face-face in early 2021 but online ‘events’ explored in 2020  
 

 working closely with Herts Valley and West Essex CCGs particularly looking at volunteer 
recruitment and development. 

Thank you to our patient member volunteers and stakeholders for delivering and supporting a 
wealth of engagement work over the past year. It helps us make important decisions, improve 
services and ensure quality is at the heart of what we do.  

If you would like to get involved with any of the activities you have read about within our report, 
or simply have your say on local health services in east and north Hertfordshire, then please get 
in touch either by visiting: www.enhertsccg.nhs.uk/get-involved  or call: 01707 685 397 or 
email: enhertsccg.engagement@nhs.net  

http://www.enhertsccg.nhs.uk/get-involved
mailto:enhertsccg.engagement@nhs.net
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The view from Healthwatch Hertfordshire 
 

         We help people to find out about local health and social care services, and listen to 
people’s views and experiences of using these services. Using this information, we work with 
decision makers, like East and North Hertfordshire CCG, to help improve services and champion 
the involvement of patients, carers, and service users in changes to care.  

We have again worked closely with the CCG over the past year, representing patients and 
involving the public in the CCG’s work. We have shared information and intelligence on service 
providers to enhance the CCG’s quality monitoring activities and improve patient experience. 
We have also worked with the CCG around complaint handling and were able to feed the views 
of the CCG into work we were doing with the Parliamentary and Health Service Ombudsman. 

We provided a route for patients, communities and specialist interest groups to feed back and 
are able to explore the views of our membership about developments in the NHS. We have also 
acted as an independent chair of meetings of public meetings of the CCG exploring sensitive 
issues with patients. An example of this was around the proposed overnight closure of the 
Urgent Care Centre at the QE2 hospital. 

The CCG also participates in our engagement with 
patients and service users such as their attendance at 
our meetings and events including our AGM in July.   

We would like to take this opportunity to thank the CCG  
for its continued support, and look forward to 
continuing to work in partnership to improve services 
for patients. 

 
 

Geoff Brown, Chief Executive,  
Healthwatch Hertfordshire 

 

  

“ 

” 
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THE WORK OF HERTFORDSHIRE, BEDFORDSHIRE AND LUTON 
(HBL) ICT SERVICES 

Hosted by East and North Hertfordshire CCG, HBL ICT delivers IT services to a number of NHS 
clients, including the CCG and some of its key provider organisations.   

The introduction of the HBL ‘Private Cloud’ is now very well established across the partnership 
and is now starting deliver services to other NHS organisations, including Central London 
Community Healthcare NHS Trust (CLCH), who provide adult healthcare in west Hertfordshire. 
 
The private cloud is delivered through two load-balanced data centres. This new infrastructure is 
no longer a risk to the delivery of clinical services in our counties and is now a key enabler to 
their individual and combined digital strategies. 

In 2019, the HBL partnership started its migration programme from N3 to the new HSCN 
network, working in partnership with Redcentric.  For the corporate sites, this means upgrading 
the network connections at our two data centres, but for GP practices this is more complicated 
as this is a practice by practice activity that requires significant planning to minimise disruption 
of clinical services. 

HBL Financial Management 

During 2019/20, HBL ICT achieved a financial break-even point and met its operational control 
total as defined by the stakeholder board; this included a 2% national efficiency target.  Capital 
investments during previous years presented the challenge of increased depreciation revenue 
costs, which HBL met through prudent financial management and benefit realisation of 
investments made without needing to request additional funds from the member organisations. 
 

Key technology investments  

In 2019, HBL successfully introduced two technology investments that are making a significant 
improvement to the service provision to the partnership. 

 Robotic Process Automation (RPA) – Initially within operational ICT management, RPA 
has transformed the way in which ICT user accounts are managed, which has saved 
around 2,000 manual hours during the year, allowing technical resources to be 
redeployed to improve the ICT service. 
 
 
In addition, the RPA process been used to assist in the closure of a GP practice by 
performing the manual activity of redirecting patient records to their new receiving 
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practices.   This is a good example of how RPA can undertake routine activities at scale, 
pace and accuracy and is key component in the HBL digital strategy. 
 

 Service Desk Live Chat – The introduction of ‘live chat’ as a communication channel into 
the service desk has been rewarding for all ICT service users. Around 60% of contacts to 
the service desk are now via the live chat channel, which has enhanced availability by 
50% in real terms.  Live chat has now overtaken phone calls as our customers’ preferred 
way of reaching us. 

Governance and Cyber Security 

Significant time has been spent this year in preparing all partner organisations for the transition 
to the new DSP Toolkit which replaced the IG Toolkit in 2019.  This includes updating all the 
relevant ICT policies to meet the new standard. 

For cyber security, HBL has now replaced all the legacy enterprise operating systems within our 
core infrastructure and has introduced advance threat protection across all devices which is a 
key requirement from NHS Digital, including at all GP practices. 

In June 2019, we began migrating all laptops and other devices to the Windows 10 operating 
system, which is on schedule to be completed by April 2020.  The migration to Windows 10 is 
key deliverable is protecting our users against cyber-crime. 

Managing GP IT  

The informatics team in HBL is working well with practices in developing their digital capability, 
including how they use national systems and SystmOne.  Deployment of system hubs to support 
the Extended Access programme is progressing well and we have now introduced a support 
resource to help practices use IT and clinical codes to support data capture for population health 
management. 

We are engaging with practices to understand their digital requirements as they progress on 
their PCN journey. This includes the publishing of a ‘Model Office PCN Digital Enablement’ 
document which is being communicated to all PCN Clinical Directors.  
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Introducing a new partner organisation 

In 2019, HBL ICT succeeded in its bid to provide ICT services to Milton Keynes CCG and its 27 GP 
practices, being the service on 1 April 2020.  The introduction of a seventh member organisation 
is a significant milestone and will enable the partnership to leverage its ICT assets for mutual 
operational and financial benefit to all member organisations. As part of the service transition, 8 
members of staff will transition to HBL, working within the HBL informatics service function. 

New Chief Digital Officer Role 

In October 2019, the CCG introduced the Chief Digital Officer role as a new executive position 
into the CCG structure.  This is a dual HBL and CCG role which is responsible for: 

 CCG 
Executive sponsor for digital process and innovation; accountable for and leading the 
digital portfolio within the CCG, transitioning from analogue to digital ways of working 
and conducting business. This includes developing and implementing the digital strategy 
for the CCG corporate function and primary care within the CCG, as well as linking with 
Provider organisations commissioned by the CCG, enabling greater collaboration and 
integration of services provided to the CCG’s population.  
 

 HBL ICT Shared Services  
Senior executive Managing Director for the ICT shared service hosted by East and North 
Hertfordshire CCG for the benefit of the partnership.  
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PREPARING FOR EMERGENCIES 

The CCG has a responsibility in law to be fully prepared and able to respond effectively in the 
event of an incident which challenges the capacity or capability of the local health system.  

In 2019/20 we remained fully compliant with all nine areas of NHS England’s Core Standards for 
Emergency Preparedness, Resilience and Response (EPRR).  

We have focused on:  

 Continuing to work on our capability to respond to the most concerning issues on the 
community risk register in cooperation with our external partners such as the Local 
Health Resilience Partnership (LHRP) and the Local Resilience Forum (LRF) 

 Assisting the LRF by taking part in the national security risk assessment and cyber 
security workshops  

 Supporting commissioned providers and primary care to improve business continuity 
processes 

 Ensuring that we had regular attendance at all multi-agency meetings (LHRP, LHRP Sub 
Group, LRF Exec Group, LRF Sub groups) 

 Continuing our EU Exit preparation and complying with national guidance 

 Supporting providers with guidance on the emerging Coronavirus outbreak – ensuring 
consistency with the national approach.    

 
In 2020/21 our priorities will be:  

 To continue  developing our capability to deal with issues that are part of the community 
risk register 

 Reviewing our work programme for 2019/20 and embedding this within the organisation 

 To ensure that the CCG retains its organisational memory from the work completed in 
relation to EU Exit now that the withdrawal bill has been passed through parliament 
preventing a ‘No Deal Exit’ 
 

 

 

 

 

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2004/36/contents
https://www.england.nhs.uk/ourwork/eprr/gf/
https://www.england.nhs.uk/ourwork/eprr/gf/
https://www.hertfordshire.gov.uk/services/fire-and-rescue/are-you-ready-for-anything.aspx
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COVID-19 

The Civil Contingencies Act 2004 imposes a series of duties on local bodies in England and Wales, 
Scotland and Northern Ireland to be known as Category 1 responders.  These duties include the 
duty to assess the risk of an emergency occurring and to maintain plans for the purposes of 
responding to an emergency.  The range of Category 1 responders includes certain bodies with 
functions which relate to health.  NHS England is a designated Category 1 Responder. 

The Act also provides the mechanism to impose duties on other local bodies to be known as 
Category 2 responders to co-operate with, and to provide information to Category 1 responders 
in connection with their civil protection duties.  The CCG is a Category 2 responder. 

Local arrangements for Civil Protection 

The NHS declared an NHS Level 4 incident during March 2020, as the country moved to a 
confirmed Pandemic.  A ‘Level 4’ incident is one that requires NHS England's national command 
and control to support the NHS response.  They coordinate this response in collaboration with 
the CCG whom in turn then provide support at a tactical level through a local health leadership 
role. The CCG plays a key role on several cells supporting the Local Resilience Forum, including 
the health economy tactical group, swabbing and testing cell and PPE cell.  The CCG regularly 
takes parts in crisis management exercises, which simulate major incidents occurring such as a 
pandemic, to help it plan for rapid changing scenarios and uncertain times. 

New ways of working 

As the COVID-19 incident and response has evolved and new work-streams have been 
developed, the Executive Team has reviewed key roles, responsibilities and structures within the 
CCG to ensure the organisation is able to respond most effectively to directions from NHS 
England.  Following this review, key workstream operational cells have been created that will 
report into the Organisation, Performance and Delivery Programme.  This Programme will 
manage oversight and decision-making in relation to service transformation and changes in 
response to COVID-19, implementation of new guidance and the impact on current provision of 
core services in the coming year.  The CCG has added a new strategic objective ‘COVID-19 – To 
maintain a system of internal control during the Pandemic’, which it will keep under close 
review. 
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SUSTAINABLE DEVELOPMENT   

Introduction 

As an NHS organisation, and as a spender of public funds, we have an obligation to work in a 
way that has a positive effect on the communities we serve.  Sustainability means spending 
public money well, the smart and efficient use of natural resources and building healthy, 
resilient communities.  By making the most of social, environmental and economic assets we can 
improve health both in the immediate and long term even in the context of rising cost of natural 
resources.  Demonstrating that we consider the social and environmental impacts ensures that 
the legal requirements in the Public Services (Social Value) Act (2012) are met. 

To fulfil our responsibilities for the role we play, the CCG has created a sustainable development 
management plan (SDMP). 

Our sustainability mission statement is:  The vision for a sustainable health and care system by 
reducing carbon emissions, protecting natural resources, preparing communities for extreme 
weather events and promoting healthy lifestyles and environments. 
 

Policies 

One of the ways in which an organisation can embed sustainability is through the use of an SDMP.  
The Governing Body approved our SDMP so our plans for a sustainable future are well known 
within the organisation and clearly laid out. 

Sustainability and social values will be embedded into all procurement specifications, along the 
lines of guidelines delivered in training by the Sustainable Development Unit. 

Climate change brings new challenges to our business both in direct effects to the healthcare 
estates, but also to patient health.  Examples of recent years include the effects of heat waves, 
extreme temperatures and prolonged periods of cold, floods, droughts etc. Our Governing Body 
approved plans to address the potential need to adapt the delivery of the organisation's activities 
and infrastructure to mitigate climate change and adverse weather events. 
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Partnerships 

As a commissioning and contracting organisation, we will need effective contract mechanisms to 
deliver our ambitions for sustainable healthcare delivery.  The NHS policy framework already 
sets the scene for commissioners and providers to operate in a sustainable manner.  Crucially for 
us as a CCG, evidence of this commitment will need to be provided in part through contracting 
mechanisms. 

Head Office Occupancy 

The CCG occupies a small head office space, which is rented from NHS Property Services who 
also provide facilities management on behalf of the organisation.  The energy rating of the 
building is ‘F’, which indicates the energy efficiency of the building fabric and the heating, 
ventilation, cooling and lighting systems. 

 
2018-19 2019-20 

CCG Net Internal Area of Charter House (m2) 1,730 1,796 

Number of staff (Whole Time Equivalent) 286 282 

Average floor space per staff member (m2) 6 6 

 

Total Energy Cost (All Energy Supplies) 

NHS East and North Hertfordshire CCG spent £75,986 on energy in 2019-20. 

Energy used (consumption in kWh)4 

 2016-17 2017-18 2018-19 2019-20 kg CO2e (19-205) 

Gas (natural) consumed 623,464 497,344 409,945 452,162 83,392 

Electricity consumed 575,969 620,989 352,221 351,077 98,932 

 

 

 

                                                       
4 Please note that East and North Hertfordshire CCG shares a building with other organisations and pays a 
percentage of the overall cost for utilities. It is not possible to identify consumption by organisation so the figures 
shown are for the overall building. 
5 www.gov.uk/government/publications/greenhouse-gas-reporting-conversion-factors-2019 
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Paper 

The CCG is committed to supporting the movement to a paperless NHS and will begin 
monitoring performance in this area from a baseline in 2017-18. 

Paper consumed 

Material use / 
Primary material 
production 

2017-18 kg CO2e 

(17-18) 

2018-19 kg CO2e 

(18-19) 

2019-20 kg CO2e 

(19-20) 

Paper spend (£) 2,783  3,308  2,829  

Paper products used 
(Tonnes) 

4.19 3,890 5.00 4,778 3.94 3,753 

 
Travel 

NHS East and North Hertfordshire CCG spent £120,097 on business travel costs in 2019-20.  We 
can improve local air quality and improve the health of our community by promoting active 
travel to staff and to the patients and public that use our services.  CCG staff can claim cycle 
mileage for their business travel and the CCG has joined the government’s ‘cycle to work’ 
scheme. This allows staff to purchase a bike and cycle safety equipment as a tax-free benefit. 

Financial 
Year 

Total Pedal 
Cycle Mileage 
claimed as 
expenses 
(miles) 

Total Travel 
Mileage 
(cars) 
claimed as 
expenses 
(miles) 

Average 
Whole 
Time 
Equivalent 
(WTE) staff 
employed 

Average 
Travel 
Mileage 
(cars) per 
WTE staff 
employed 

Total kg CO2e from 
Travel Mileage 
(cars)  
 
Estimated using 
figures for the 
average car of 
unknown fuel type, 
see here.   

2015-16 19 251,159 248 1,013 75,569 

2016-17 18 269,889 272 992 81,204 

2017-18 10 221,613 263 842 65,059 

2018-19 0 203,344 285 713 59,116 

2019-20 66 205,709 290 709 57,395 

 

http://www.gov.uk/government/publications/greenhouse-gas-reporting-conversion-factors-2019
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Waste Disposal and Recycling 

 2017-18 2018-19 2019-20 

Waste disposal6 
spend (£) 

11,267 18,359 10,281 

 

 

 

General 
Waste (£) 

General 
Waste 
(Tonnes) 

Recycling 
(£)  

Recycling 
(Tonnes)  

Confidential  
(£) 

Confidential 
(Tonnes) 

2019-20 £1,320.21 6.497 £1,184.20 6.29 £4,469.00 18.53 

 

Water and Sewage Cost 

 2017-18 2018-19 2019-20 

Water costs (£) 3,787 8,888 5,110 

 
Key Initiatives 2019-20 

During 2019-20 the organisation continued to champion recycling. The CCG’s ‘Green Team’ 
introduced various recycling initiatives throughout the year. This has included the introduction 
of a compost bin and recycling of specific articles including crisp packets, milk tops and pens. In 
addition, the organisation also promoted the use of reusable coffee cups where a number of 
reusable cups were made available for staff to use, thereby reducing the environmental impact 
of using disposable cups.  

  

                                                       
6 This includes confidential waste, general waste and mixed recycling including glass 
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SUMMARY 
East and North Hertfordshire CCG’s Annual Accounts are included within this Annual Report.  
The accounts have been prepared under a Direction issued by NHS England under the National 
Health Service Act 2006 (as amended by the Health and Social Care Act 2012).  

CCGs have a statutory duty to keep their expenditure within the resources available.  There are 
six separate duties with this regard, although there is some overlap between them and some are 
not relevant to the CCG in 2019/20.  The duties, their relevance in 2019/20 and the performance 
of East and North Hertfordshire CCG in 2019/20 are set out in the following table.   

Further details are provided in note 15 of the accounts on page 199 of this Annual Report. 

 

Duty [and section of 2012 Act] 
Relevance in 
2019/20 

Achievement 

Expenditure does not exceed sums allotted to 
the CCG plus other income received [223H(1)] 

Applicable 
 Breakeven (Cumulative 
underspend of £18.851m) 

Capital resource use does not exceed the 
amount specified in Directions [223I(2)] 

Applicable  Breakeven 

Revenue resource use does not exceed the 
amount specified in Directions [223I(3)] 

Applicable 
 Breakeven (Cumulative 
underspend of £18.851m) 

Capital resource use on specified matter(s) does 
not exceed the amount specified in Directions 
[223J(1)] 

Not applicable;  
no specified matters in 2019/20 

Revenue resource use on specified matter(s) 
does not exceed the amount specified in 
Directions [223J(2)] 

Not applicable;  
no specified matters in 2019/20 

Revenue administration resource use does not 
exceed the amount specified in Directions 
[223J(3)] 

Applicable   Underspend £1.225m 
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FUNDING ALLOCATED TO THE CCG 

NHS England continued with issuing firm allocations for 3 years along with “indicative” 
allocations for the following two years. Underlying 2019/20 CCG programme allocations are 
unchanged from those published in January 2019. The table below shows CCG recurrent 
allocations from 2019-20 onwards. 

 

CCG Programme allocation 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24 

Recurrent allocation (£’000) 776,641* 809,535** 842,819** 875,349** 906,680** 

% increase allocation 5.72% 4.24% 4.11% 3.86% 3.58% 

% increase per capita 7 4.85% 3.39% 3.29% 3.06% 2.82% 

Opening Distance from Target % 3.50% 3.83% 4.09% 4.44% 4.77% 

Closing Distance from Target % 2.71% 3.00% 3.39% 3.72% 4.04% 

 
*Excludes allocation transfer for specialist commissioning activity of £2.1m now managed by CCG resulting in total recurrent 
programme allocation of £778,741 
 
**Excludes allocation transfer for specialist commissioning activity now managed by CCG 

 
In calculating these allocations, NHS England took account of individual CCG’s distance from a 
‘target’, with the target being their fair share of the total funding being made available to CCGs. 
For 2019/20, NHSE introduced a new target allocation formula which resulted in the CCG moving 
from being underfunded to being overfunded hence the CCG received funding growth at the 
average rate for the country. Adjusted closing distance from target for East and North 
Hertfordshire CCG programme allocation for 2019/20 is above by 2.71%. 

From 2018/19, CCG assumed responsibility for managing the Primary Care Devolved 
Commissioning Budget. The allocation to CCG for 2019-20 and future years are as shown in the 
following table: 

 

 

 

                                                       
7 i.e. after taking account of estimated population increases 
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Primary Care Devolved Commissioning 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24 

Recurrent allocation (£’000) 76,951* 80,739** 85,270** 88,959** 92,756** 

% increase allocation 7.64% 4.92% 5.61% 4.33% 4.27% 

% increase per capita 8 6.76% 4.07% 4.78% 3.53% 3.50% 

Opening Distance from Target % -0.44% 0.44% 0.68% 0.63% 0.61% 

Closing Distance from Target % -0.18% 0.09% 0.09% 0.07% 0.05% 

* Excludes Clinical Negligence central allocation adjustments of (£2.232m) resulting in adjusted allocation of £74.719m. 

** Excludes Clinical Negligence central allocation adjustments. 

 
Adjusted closing distance from target for East and North Hertfordshire primary care devolved 
commissioning allocation for 2019/20 is below by 0.18%. 

When considering the total Place Based funding position of individual CCGs, NHS England also 
considered spending on specialist services in each CCG area. The aggregate of these three 
spending categories is used to create a “place” based target allocation for the CCG. 

The closing total Place Based allocation in 2019/20 is above by 2.32% and this is also above 
target over the five-year period as shown in the following table:  

 

Total Place Based Allocation £’000 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24 

Recurrent allocation (£’000) 1,017,609 1,065,791 1,116,224 1,166,897 1,218,081 

% increase allocation 6.28% 4.73% 4.73% 4.54% 4.39% 

% increase per capita 5.41% 3.89% 3.91% 3.74% 3.62% 

Opening Distance from Target % 3.01% 3.39% 3.67% 3.99% 4.30% 

Closing Distance from Target% 2.32% 2.63% 2.99% 3.31% 3.61% 

 

                                                       
8 i.e. after taking account of estimated population increases 
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The CCG received an Administration Cost allocation of £12.712m in 2019-20 and is expected to 
deliver a 20% real terms reduction against their 2017/18 running cost allocation in 2020/21, 
adjusted for the recent pay award. The CCG has already delivered some of the expected 
reduction in 2019-20 by working more closely with organisations across local health economies 
to improve efficiency, reduce duplication and remove bureaucratic and expensive contracting 
processes.  

The figures for East and North Hertfordshire CCG are shown in the following table:  

 

CCG Administration Cost 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24 

Recurrent Administration  
Cost allocation (£’000) 

12,712 11,216 11,216 11,216 11,216 

% increase 0.19% -11.77% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 

 
FINANCIAL BUSINESS RULES FOR 2019/20 

The 2019/20 planning guidance to CCGs sets out the key business rules for commissioners, over 
and above the statutory duties set out above.   

All CCGs were required to sign up to deliver an NHS England set revenue Control Total.  For East 
and North Hertfordshire CCG this is an in-year breakeven position requiring the cumulative 
brought forward underspend to be maintained at £18.851m. 

The CCG’s Operating Financial Plan allocated resources to fund cost pressures and increased 
investment to support the CCG’s continued commitment to deliver cancer waiting time 
standards, General Practice forward view commitments, compliance with the Mental Health 
Investment standard and service expansions set out by the Mental Health Taskforce. Additional 
investment was provided in acute services to fund realistic levels of emergency activity and 
elective activity necessary to tackle long waiting times.  

The CCG has delivered the revenue Control Total of in-year financial balance and an £18.851m 
cumulative underspend agreed with NHS England. This financial performance was achieved 
despite a significant unplanned overspend on acute hospital services which was offset by 
underspends within prescribing, non-acute budgets , Primary Care including devolved 
commissioning , running costs and the deployment of contingency reserve. 

The cumulative underspend of £18.851m will be carried forward into 2020/21. 
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LOCALITY LEVEL PERFORMANCE 

The Governing Body has continued to review financial performance at locality level.  Funding 
was retained centrally by the CCG to cover reserves, administration costs and where healthcare 
costs could not be attributed to a Locality, with the balance distributed to Localities on a fair 
share basis using updated practice list sizes. This method of managing performance at Locality 
level allows the CCG to engage effectively with Localities who jointly own delivery of the 
financial duty. 
 
As can be seen from above, East and North Hertfordshire CCG was successful in meeting all of its 
financial duties and the business rules. Three out of six locality groups achieved financial balance 
against their agreed budget, as can be seen from the table below. 
 

Locality Budget £'000 Spend £'000 Variance £'000 

North Herts 135,867 137,046 1,179 

Lower Lea Valley 100,046 99,157 (889) 

Stevenage 142,698   143,659 961 

Welwyn and Hatfield 146,337   146,099 (238) 

Upper Lea Valley 151,078   151,284 206 

Stort Valley and Villages 69,470 68,384 (1,086) 

Central budgets 151,435 132,451 (18,984) 

     

Total Surplus (in year)   0 

Cumulative Surplus b/f   (18,851) 

Cumulative Surplus carried forward   (18,851) 
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MENTAL HEALTH INVESTMENT STANDARD 

A very important requirement in the 2019/20 planning guidance related to the Mental Health 
Investment Standard, under which all CCGs were required to increase their spending on mental 
health services by at least the percentage increase in the CCG’s programme allocation growth.  
In 2019/20 the CCG’s programme allocation growth was 5.72%, but the CCG was required to 
increase its mental health spending by 6.42%, i.e. 0.7% above the programme growth. In 
addition, spend on Children’s and Young People’s (CYP) mental health services were required to 
increase as a percentage of each CCG’s overall mental health spend and any historical 
underspend had to be made good.  

The CCG targeted the increased investment at delivering the Mental Health Five year forward 
view and other national priorities. This included investment in: 

 Improving Access to Psychological Therapies (IAPT) – delivering the national target of 
19% of the population who could benefit having access to the service 

 Child and adolescent mental health 

 Core24 psychiatric liaison service 

 Early Intervention in Psychosis 

 Access and quality improvements in community crisis resolution and home treatment 

Spending on Learning Disability and Dementia services is currently excluded from the Mental 
Health Investment Standard calculation, although the CCG did invest in the Transforming Care 
Programme. 

Achievement of the Mental Health Investment Standard is measured by comparing expenditure 
in 2019/20 to that in 2018/19, after taking into account any mental health specific recurrent or 
non-recurrent allocations received by the CCG in either of these years.  These adjustments are 
made to ensure that changes in spending are not skewed by non-recurrent allocations and are 
limited to reviewing spending funded from the CCG’s general allocation. 

CCGs are required to calculate if their spending met the Mental Health Investment Standard and 
to publish a formal declaration on this, i.e. whether in 2019/20 East and North Hertfordshire 
CCG’s spending on mental health services increased by at least 6.42%.  This statement will be 
subject to a separate audit assurance engagement through the CCG’s auditor. This report from 
the Auditor will be published alongside the CCG’s own formal declaration. 
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The table below provides the CCG’s calculations demonstrating that in 2019/20 East and North 
Hertfordshire CCG did meet the requirements of the Mental Health Investment Standard.   

Description £000 unless stated otherwise 

2019/20 Mental health spending  100,968 

Less spending on Learning disability and dementia (26,643) 

Less spending covered by allocations received (4,416) 

2019/20 spending funded by general allocation 69,908 

  

2018/19 spending funded by general allocation 64,828 

Increase in spending 5,080 
  

Increase in spending (%) 7.84% 
  

 

Has the Mental Health Investment Standard been met? Yes 

 
FUTURE FINANCIAL STRATEGY 

East and North Hertfordshire CCG has a strong underlying financial level of performance and has 
met its revenue Control Total every year since inception.  At the end of 2019/20 the CCG 
delivered an in-year breakeven financial position which maintained the cumulative underspend 
of £18.851m, well above the standard national requirement (1% of its allocation).  

The CCG’s future Financial Outlook has been updated for the 2019/20 financial position, the 
impacts on future years and the published allocations to provide assurance on the financial 
sustainability of the CCG. 

Changes to the CCG’s operating environment require closer working relationships across the 
Hertfordshire and West Essex STP partners with STP wide strategic, operational and financial 
plans; the aim being to improve the overall system’s performance and achievement of financial 
sustainability for the system as a whole.  

The CCG Financial outlook for 2020/21 has been prepared in line with the national planning 
guidance issued, NHS Long Term Plan and impact of the draft National Tariff Payment System 
(NTPS) prices.  

Alongside this publication, NHS England has also confirmed that it requires the CCG to meet all 
its financial business rules for 2020/21; the main one being to deliver an in-year underspend of 



Annual Report and Accounts 2019/20 

_____________________________________________________________________    86 

4.1m to create a regional risk reserve. In view of the significant growth in non-elective activity 
experiences in 2019/20, but the CCG’s previous good financial performance, the CCG has made a 
case for a drawdown of £4.1m of its cumulative underspend. This has been approved. This 
means that the CCG is required once again to maintain its cumulative underspend at £18.851m 
rather than increase it to £22.951m. 

When planning for future years CCGs have to take into account changes to the national tariff 
(prices charged by providers), growth in activity, meeting National targets and inflationary 
increases in other spend areas compared to changes in funding.  Changes to national tariffs are 
based on guidance issued by NHS England and NHS Improvement, the sector regulators for 
health services in England. 

Growth in activity and spend is estimated based on a number of factors.  Firstly, population 
growth, which is based on the Office of National Statistics estimate of the population increase in 
the CCG by age-band according to the age of the population using the services we commission.  
Secondly, non-demographic growth which is based on previous years’ trends in activity and 
extrapolated assuming the trend continues into future years.  Thirdly, there are other 
inflationary increases in costs, e.g. prescribed drugs and Continuing Healthcare.  There is also 
recurrent investment in schemes which may have been previously funded non-recurrently or 
funded for part of the previous year.  Finally a contingency reserve is created to meet 
unexpected events during the year. 

On the funding side, new 5-year allocations were issued by NHS England in January 2019. For 
East and North Hertfordshire CCG, the annual growth in CCG programme allocation for 2020-21 
is 4.24% or £33.479m, for Primary Care Devolved Commissioning growth is 4.92% or £3.684m 
and for running costs it is 12% reduction or £1.496m. Cost neutral transfers of funding have also 
taken place. The total CCG allocation for 2020/21 is £901.625m (excluding drawdown) 

On the expenditure side the CCG needs to recreate the contingency reserve utilised in 2019/20, 
fund the full year effect of investments made part way through 2019/20 and cover the impact of 
non-recurrent benefits realised in 2019/20.  Together these total about £7.4m.  Inflation and 
other tariff changes have a cost impact of £15.3m and the activity/cost impact of demographic 
and non-demographic changes add a further £21.3m.  Spending to meet the Mental Health 
Investment Standard needs to grow by a further £2.4m above this and all other changes and 
service developments required to deliver the CCG’s ambitions add £8.3m. 

The CCG received an allocation of £78.42m (after adjustment for the centrally held Clinical 
Negligence on GP contracts) for Primary Care Devolved commissioning and is planning to spend 
this allocation in full. The budget has taken account of the price changes to global sum, provision 
for rent reviews, QOF (aspiration and achievement) and the financial impact of other contract 
changes as published. A contingency of 0.5% has also been provided. 
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Taking account of all the factors described above, growth in expenditure would exceed growth 
in funding in 2020/21 by £19.2m.  This is the minimum target for efficiency savings in 2020/21. 
This compares to an efficiency requirement of £13m in 2018/19 and £23m in 2017/18.  The CCG 
has identified a programme of schemes that will deliver net savings of £19.2m most of which 
were already worked up from 2019/20 and are now expected to deliver in 2020/21. 

Looking further forward, expenditure growth in future years is much more closely aligned to 
funding growth and efficiency requirements are expected to reduce to significantly lower levels. 
Further initiatives will be developed during 2020/21 for implementation later in the year and in 
2021/22. 

Driving the CCG’s financial strategy are our over-arching aims to improve the health of the 
population, to reduce health need and to find different ways of commissioning high quality 
services at lower cost.  This will include investing in primary and community care services, and 
together with colleagues in Hertfordshire County Council, into social care services, bearing down 
on the demand for and expenditure on acute hospital care. 

East and North Hertfordshire CCG recognise that the delivery of the financial challenge is closely 
intertwined with the delivery of the commissioning challenge. Some of the commissioning 
challenges being addressed by the CCG’s strategic plan include: 
  

 The challenge in efficient use of financial resources, management resources, sound risk 
management and sound governance arrangements 

 Inter-practice collaborative working to reduce referrals to secondary services by using 
expertise currently residing within general practice, community and voluntary services, 
and specialist services commissioned in a community setting 

 Working with constituent practices to change health behaviours and so clinical and 
patient activity to make the best use of available resources. 

 Involving patients in commissioning decisions affecting their care 

 Working with Community Services, Local authority, Public Health and other sectors, to 
identify those at risk of admission to hospital and provide integrated services to meet 
their needs. 

 Continuing the strong performance management of commissioned services to ensure 
that the needs of the population that we serve are met 

The CCG continues to support the use of its Primary Care Consolidated Funding Framework as a 
mechanism to invest in additional capacity and transformation of services in primary care and so 
improve population health and reduce avoidable pressure on hospitals.  

Investment will continue to be made into services focussing on long term conditions and our 
ageing population and we will work with our partner organisations and patients to reduce 
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avoidable hospital admissions and improve the safety and patient experience wherever care is 
delivered.  

The CCG has identified risks to the delivery of its financial position, e.g. activity growth beyond 
the level included in the budget which may result in an overspend and other unexpected 
increase in spend. To mitigate, the CCG will deploy its contingency reserve, identify additional 
efficiency savings schemes, reduce/delay level of in-year investments and use its contract levers 
with providers to ensure they operate within contractual rules. System-wide risks will need to be 
managed through closer working relationship with STP partners and finding efficiency schemes 
where system-wide costs reduce and savings can be shared. 

 

COVID-19 

In March 2020, the Government and NHS England recognised the significant operational and 
financial pressures the NHS would face in preparing for and responding to the corona virus 
outbreak.  The Government committed to providing the NHS with the resources it needed to 
respond. As part of the response NHS England instigated a number of changes to the operation 
of the NHS, including: 

 Suspending the operation of Payment by Results and instructing CCGs to pay NHS 
providers based on the average of expenditure for 9 months during 2019/20 

 Suspending routine elective operations 

 Suspending CCG contracts with independent sector providers, utilising the capacity to 
support the wider response to corona virus 

 Introducing new arrangements to facilitate accelerated hospital discharge and avoidance 
of hospital admissions 

Additionally NHS England has agreed an approach to the identification and funding of COVID-19 
related costs incurred by NHS organisations.  

Whilst this means that operationally the NHS will look very different during 2020/21, the CCG is 
assured that additional costs it incurs compared to business as usual will be reimbursed by NHS 
England during 2020/21.  In responding to COVID-19 in 2019/20 the CCG incurred costs of 
£1.366m and its revenue allocation was increased by £1.366m, meaning the financial impact of 
COVID-19 was cost neutral in 2019/20. 
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At this stage it is too early to tell what the knock-on impact may be once the corona virus 
outbreak has been resolved.  With the suspension of routine elective operations and a reduction 
in non-corona virus presentations there is real concern that future performance against NHS 
Constitution standards will be poor and there will be a release of pent up demand for services. 
Combined, this will require a significant increase in capacity if the NHS is to achieve recovery in a 
timely fashion. To date there is no agreement on what the future performance requirements will 
be or for how long additional funding will be made available. 

 

REVIEW OF STATUTORY DUTIES  

East and North Hertfordshire CCG has reviewed all of the statutory duties and powers conferred 
on us by the National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended) and other associated legislative and 
regulations. We are clear about the legislative requirements associated with each of the 
statutory functions for which we are responsible, including any restrictions on delegation of 
those functions. 
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_______________________ 
 

 

 

 
 
 

     
Beverley Flowers     Dr Jane Halpin  
Accountable Officer    Accountable Officer 
1 April 2019 to 31 May 2020    From 1 June 2020 
 
Date signed: 18 June 2020 
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PART ONE: CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT 
 
MEMBERS REPORT 

The Governing Body is made up of a group of individuals, who are appointed to the CCG with the 
main function of ensuring that the organisation has made appropriate governance 
arrangements, and for formulating policy and directing its affairs. 
 

THE CCG GOVERNING BODY AS AT 31 MARCH 2020 
 

  Dr Prag Moodley, CCG Chair  

Prag has been a GP for over 20 years and a GP Partner in Stevenage 
since 2004.  Prag took up the role of CCG Chair in September 2018, 
and has held various roles in CCG commissioning over the last ten 
years.  Prior to becoming CCG Chair, Prag’s lead areas of work 
included Mental Health and Learning Disabilities.   

   

  Dr Ashish Shah, Deputy Clinical Chair and Prescribing Lead 
ENHCCG and GP Governing Body Member, Welwyn and Hatfield 

Ashish has been GP principal and trainer at Wrafton House surgery, 
Hatfield since 2009 and an appraiser. He has been the prescribing 
lead for the CCG and locality lead for Welhat since 2014 and 
became the Deputy Chair in 2018.He has a special interest in 
cardiology, respiratory medicine and frailty. He is the GP member 
on the Primary Care Commissioning Board and Governance and 
Audit Committee. He is also the workforce and education lead for 
his locality and Co-Chair of the locality provider board. 

   
  Beverley Flowers, Chief Executive/Accountable Officer 

Beverley joined the CCG in April 2014 from NHS England. Previous 
to this she held a range of commissioning, partnership and 
contracting roles across health and social care organisations in 
London and the East of England. Beverley became Chief Executive 
of East and North Hertfordshire CCG in December 2015. Since July 
2019, Beverley has been the Joint Interim Executive Lead for the 
Hertfordshire & West Essex 
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 Denise Boardman, Director for Primary Care Development 

Denise trained as an occupational therapist and worked in a variety 
of clinical and managerial roles including leading multidisciplinary 
teams in acute and community services. She is also a former 
member of the Royal College of Occupational Therapy Professional 
Practice Board. In 2004, following experience as an Allied Health 
Professional representative on a Professional Executive Committee 
of a Primary Care Trust, Denise took up a commissioning role in 
Hertfordshire; to broaden her knowledge and experience of the 
wider NHS. In 2013, Denise joined East and North Hertfordshire 
CCG as Associate Director for Unscheduled Care and more recent 
roles include the CCG’s Programme Director leading the 
countywide Integrated Urgent Care procurement, General Practice 
Forward View programme and STP Director lead for Primary Care. 

   
  Sharn Elton, Director of Operations 

Sharn originally trained as a nurse and moved into general 
management in 2003, working in a variety of hospital services 
across surgery, medicine, women’s and children’s specialities. 
Through developing her networks beyond the hospital Sharn 
became interested in the broader aspects of health and moved to 
work for NHS England across Hertfordshire and the South Midlands 
in 2013. Sharn was appointed as the Director of Operations at the 
CCG in 2015. 

   

 

 Dr Rachel Joyce, Medical Director 

Rachel is a medical doctor, who is both a GP and a public health 
consultant by background. In the past she has worked as a Director 
of Public Health and a Medical Director in Bedfordshire, and has 
been working in the Hertfordshire health system for over 10 years. 
Rachel has particular expertise in clinical effectiveness (ensuring 
health services are as safe and effective as possible), the redesign 
of services from a clinical perspective, including the development 
of pathways and the prioritisation of scarce resources, wellbeing 
and the prevention and early identification of illness. 
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 Alan Pond, Chief Finance Officer (Senior Information Risk Owner) 

Alan has been a Finance Director/Chief Finance Officer for 17 years.  
During this time he has worked for numerous NHS commissioning 
organisations.  He has over 30 years’ experience in the NHS in both 
provider and commissioner organisations and 2 years at the 
Department of Health.  He has a broad range of experience within 
the finance function and also other areas, having been involved in 
strategy development and implementation and with direct 
operational responsibility for financial management, costing and 
pricing, contract negotiation, contract management and business 
case preparation. 

   

 
 

 

 Sheilagh Reavey, Director of Nursing & Quality (Caldicott 
Guardian) 

Sheilagh has trained as a nurse, midwife and health visitor and has 
worked at a senior level in the NHS for a number of years. She has 
both operational service delivery and commissioning experience 
and has significant experience in relation to quality and 
safeguarding issues. 

   
 
 

 

 Phil Turnock, Chief Digital Officer (from 1 October 2019) 

As a fellow of the British Computer Society, Phil has held senior ICT 
leadership positions in both the private and public sectors, 
including Royal Mail Group, CSC Ltd and the NHS, both acute and 
commissioning organisations. He currently has a dual functional 
executive director role for both the CCG and for Hertfordshire, 
Bedfordshire and Luton ICT (HBL ICT) Shared Services. This includes 
being executive sponsor for digital process innovation, accountable 
for and leading the digital portfolio within the CCG, transitioning 
from analogue to digital ways of working and conducting business. 
As the Managing Director of HBL ICT Shared Services Partnership, 
accountable for the provision of ICT services to six NHS 
organisations, plus 210 GP Practices across Hertfordshire and 
Bedfordshire, supporting 14,500 users across 350 sites. 
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 Dianne Desmulie, Lay Member – Primary Care Commissioning 
(Freedom to Speak Up Guardian) 

Dianne has a career background in local government and the NHS. 
She has experience at director level in Housing, Family Health 
Services Authority (NHS) and was awarded an MBA (Master of 
Business Administration) in 1990. Her work as a freelance 
consultant includes Equality and Human Rights Commission, 
Department of Health, NHS Modernisation Agency, Hertfordshire 
Constabulary and Multiple Sclerosis Society. Dianne was a local 
councillor in East Herts for 8 years and in 2001 was Mayor of 
Hertford, where she has lived since 1982. She is a member of 
Hanscombe House Surgery Patient Participation Group and 
volunteers for Carers in Hertfordshire as a Hub Lead in Hoddesdon. 

   

 

 Linda Farrant, Deputy Chair, Lay Member – Governance and Audit 

A qualified accountant, Linda spent much of her career in local 
government working on finance, regeneration policy and practice 
and developing devolved public sector services. She has 
undertaken various non-executive director roles in the voluntary 
and public sectors and became the Lay Member for Governance 
and Audit at the CCG in April 2013. 

   

 

 Alison Gardner, Lay Member – Public and Patient Involvement 
(from 1 August 2019)  

Alison spent the first 22 years of her professional life as a Civil 
Servant, in the Ministry Of Defence, Home Office and then 
Department of Trade, mostly as an IT Specialist.  After completing a 
Masters Degree in Change Management she enjoyed a lengthy 
period of self-employment working as a Change Facilitator and 
Coach, specialising in transformational and behavioural change, 
mostly working on projects for the Health Sector in Ireland  and for 
the Royal College of Nursing in the UK .  In 2013 Alison joined Herts 
Valleys CCG as their Lay Member for Patient and Public 
Involvement - a role she continues to perform.  Alison has been a 
Hertfordshire resident for over 25 years. 
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 Dr Tara Belcher, GP Governing Body Member, North Herts  

Tara is a GP Partner at The Portmill Surgery in Hitchin, where she 
has worked since 2003. She is also a GP trainer and Clinical Director 
of Hitchin & Whitwell Primary Care Network 
 

   

 

 Dr Sarah Dixon, GP Governing Body Member, Stort Valley and 
Villages  

Sarah has worked as a GP Partner at South Street Surgery in 
Bishops Stortford since 2001.  She is the CCG Cardiology Lead.  She 
is the Workforce and Education lead for her locality and is also a GP 
trainer and appraiser. 

   
  Dr Russell Hall, GP Governing Body Member, Stevenage 

Russell has worked as a full time GP in Stevenage since 1999. 
Before joining the CCG Governing Body, he was the prescribing 
lead for Stevenage. He is the CCG’s Quality lead. 
 
 

   

 

 Dr Rini Saha, GP Governing Body Member, Stevenage 

Rini trained at Cambridge and Imperial College and has been 
practising as a GP for 17 years. She has been a partner at King 
George Surgery in Stevenage for the past 13 years and worked as 
the prescribing lead for the locality until 2019 . In addition, she is 
the ENHCCG lead for Mental Health and Learning Disabilities 

   

 

 Dr Rupal Shah, GP Governing Body Member, Upper Lea Valley 
(from 1 May 2019)  

Since qualifying in 2009, Rupal has been working in Hertfordshire 
as a General Practitioner. She is currently working at Hanscombe 
House Surgery and has a keen interest in diabetes and mental 
health. Rupal is a member of the locality provider board. She also 
enjoys doing charitable work and travelling in her spare time. 
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 Dr Dermot O’Riordan, Secondary Care Specialist Doctor 
Dermot is a Consultant General Surgeon at West Suffolk NHS 
Foundation Trust and previously was Medical Director for 5 years 
and interim-Chief Executive Officer.  Dermot is also Chief Clinical 
Information Officer. 
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Member practices 
 

During the year 2019/20, the membership body of the CCG was formed of 56 member 
practices9, grouped below under their respective Primary Care Network: 

Hitchin and Whitwell 

• Bancroft Medical Centre  
• The Portmill Surgery 
• Regal Chambers Surgery 
• Whitwell Surgery 

 

Icknield 

• Birchwood Surgery 
• The Garden City Surgery 
• Nevells Road Surgery 
• The Sollershott Surgery 
• Ashwell Surgery 
• The Baldock Surgery 

Stevenage North 

• Chells Way Surgery 
• Manor House Surgery 
• Stanmore Medical Group   
• Symonds Green Health Centre 

Stevenage South 

• Knebworth and Marymead Surgery 
• Bedwell Medical Centre  
• King George Surgery 
• Shephall Way Surgery 

Welwyn Garden City and Villages  

• Bridge Cottage Surgery 
• Peartree Lane Surgery 

Welwyn Garden City A 

• The Garden City Practice 
• Hall Grove Surgery 
• Spring House Medical Centre 

Hatfield 

• Burvill House Surgery 
• Lister House Surgery 
• Potterells Medical Centre 
• Wrafton House Surgery 

Hertford and Rurals 

• Castlegate Surgery 
• Church Street Surgery 
• Hanscombe House Surgery 
• Wallace House Surgery 
• Ware Road Surgery (closed on 31/3/20) 
• Watton Place Surgery 
 
 
 

                                                       
9 Sawbridgeworth Medical Services is not part of a Primary Care Network 
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Ware and Rurals 

• Buntingford Medical Centre 
• Dolphin House Surgery 
• Orchard Surgery (closed on 31/3/20) 
• Puckeridge Surgery 

Hoddesdon and Broxbourne 

• Amwell Street Surgery 
• Hailey View Surgery 
• Haileybury College 
• The Limes Surgery 
• Park Lane Surgery 
 
 

Stort Valleys and Villages 

• Central Surgery 
• Church Street Partnership 
• Much Hadham Health Centre 
• Parsonage Surgery 
• South Street Surgery 

Lea Valley Health 

• Abbey Road 
• Cromwell and Wormley Medical Centres 
• Cuffley and Goffs Oak Medical Centre 
• High Street Surgery 
• The Maples 
• Stanhope Surgery 
• Stockwell Lodge Medical Centre 
• Warden Lodge Medical Practice 
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Composition of Governing Body 

The Chair of the CCG is Dr Prag Moodley.  The Chief Executive was Beverley Flowers until 31 May 
2020 with Dr Jane Halpin taking up the role from 1 June 2020.  From April 2019 to the date this 
report was signed (18 June 2020), the Governing Body was composed of the following members:  

 

Role Name 

Chair Dr Prag Moodley  

Deputy Clinical Chair Dr Ashish Shah 

Chief Executive (Accountable Officer) Beverley Flowers (until 31 May 2020) 

Chief Executive (Accountable Officer) Dr Jane Halpin (from 1 June 2020) 

Director for Primary Care Development Denise Boardman  

Director of Operations Sharn Elton 

Medical Director Dr Rachel Joyce 

Chief Finance Officer Alan Pond 

Director of Nursing and Quality Sheilagh Reavey 

Chief Digital Officer  Phil Turnock (from 1 October 2019)  

Lay Member Dianne Desmulie 

Lay Member and Deputy Chair Linda Farrant 

Lay Member Alison Gardner (from 1 August 2019) 10  

GP Member Dr Mark Andrews (until 30 September 2019)  

GP Member Dr Tara Belcher 

GP Locality Link 
Dr Simon Chatfield11  (until 31 December 
2019) 

GP Member  Dr Sarah Dixon  

GP Member Dr Sachin Gupta (until 17 October 2019) 

GP Member Dr Russell Hall 

GP Member Dr Alison Jackson (until 30 June 2019) 

GP Member Dr Rini Saha  

GP Member Dr Nabeil Shukur (until 27 February 2020) 

GP Member Dr Rupal Shah (from 1 May 2019)  

Secondary Care Specialist Doctor Dr Dermot O’Riordan 

                                                       
10 Alison is joint Lay Member with Herts Valleys CCG and is required to attend Governing Body and committee 
meetings for both organisations, therefore her attendance figures may be lower 
11 Dr Chatfield is not a member of the Governing Body, but regularly attends meetings to provide support to North 
Herts locality. 
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Committee(s), including Audit Committee 
 
The members of the Governance and Audit Committee throughout the year and up to the 
signing of the Annual Report and Accounts and unless otherwise stated: 
 

 Linda Farrant – Lay Member (Governance and Audit), Deputy Chair of the Governing 
Body and Chair of the Governance and Audit Committee. 

 Dr Ashish Shah– Governing Body Deputy Clinical Chair  

 Alison Gardner – Lay Member (Public and Patient Involvement) from 1 August 2019 
 
The Remuneration Report starting on page 135 provides details of the membership of the 
Remuneration Committee. 
 
The Governance Statement, from page 104 provides details of the attendance of the Governing 
Body and its Committee members at their respective meetings, namely: 
 

 Governing Body in Public 

 Governing Body in Private 

 Governing Body Workshops 

 Governance and Audit Committee 

 ICT Stakeholder Board 

 Joint Commissioning and Partnership Programme Committee 

 Locality Committees x 6 

 Primary Care Commissioning Committee 

 Quality Committee 

 Remuneration Committee 
 

Register of Interests 

The Governing Body maintains an up-to-date Register of Interests, which formally records the 
declarations of interests made by its employees and members, and is available on the Clinical 
Commissioning Group’s website.  Any interest that arises during the course of a meeting is 
declared immediately and recorded in the minutes of the meeting.  This ensures that the 
Governing Body acts in the best interests of the organisation and avoids situations where there 
may be a potential conflict of interest.  To view details of the Register of Interests please visit 
our website: www.enhertsccg.nhs.uk/declarations-interest  
 

http://www.enhertsccg.nhs.uk/declarations-interest
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Personal data related incidents 

The organisation has not reported any Information Governance Serious Untoward Incidents to 
the Information Commissioner’s Office in 2019-20. 
 

Statement of Disclosure to Auditors 

Each individual who is a member of the CCG at the time the Members’ Report is approved 
confirms:  

 so far as the member is aware, there is no relevant audit information of which the 
CCG’s auditor is unaware that would be relevant for the purposes of their audit 
report  

 the member has taken all the steps that they ought to have taken in order to make 
him or herself aware of any relevant audit information and to establish that the 
CCG’s auditor is aware of it.  
 

Modern Slavery Act  

NHS East and North Hertfordshire Clinical Commissioning Group fully supports the 
Government’s objectives to eradicate modern slavery and human trafficking but does not meet 
the requirements for producing an annual Slavery and Human Trafficking Statement as set out in 
the Modern Slavery Act 2015.  
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STATEMENT OF ACCOUNTABLE OFFICER’S RESPONSIBILITIES  
 
The National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended) states that each Clinical Commissioning 
Group shall have an Accountable Officer and that Officer shall be appointed by the NHS 
Commissioning Board (NHS England).  NHS England has appointed the Chief Executive to be the 
Accountable Officer of NHS East and North Hertfordshire Clinical Commissioning Group. 
 
The responsibilities of an Accountable Officer are set out under the National Health Service Act 
2006 (as amended), Managing Public Money and in the Clinical Commissioning Group 
Accountable Officer Appointment Letter.  They include responsibilities for:  
 

 The propriety and regularity of the public finances for which the Accountable Officer is 
answerable; 
 

 For keeping proper accounting records (which disclose with reasonable accuracy at any 
time the financial position of the Clinical Commissioning Group and enable them to 
ensure that the accounts comply with the requirements of the Accounts Direction); 
 

 For safeguarding the Clinical Commissioning Group’s assets (and hence for taking 
reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities); 
 

 The relevant responsibilities of accounting officers under Managing Public Money; 
 

 Ensuring the CCG exercises its functions effectively, efficiently and economically (in 
accordance with Section 14Q of the National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended)) and 
with a view to securing continuous improvement in the quality of services (in accordance 
with Section14R of the National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended)); 
 

 Ensuring that the CCG complies with its financial duties under Sections 223H to 223J of 
the National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended). 
 

Under the National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended), NHS England has directed each 
Clinical Commissioning Group to prepare for each financial year a statement of accounts in the 
form and on the basis set out in the Accounts Direction. The accounts are prepared on an 
accruals basis and must give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Clinical 
Commissioning Group and of its income and expenditure, Statement of Financial Position and 
cash flows for the financial year. 
 
In preparing the accounts, the Accountable Officer is required to comply with the requirements 
of the Government Financial Reporting Manual and in particular to: 
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 Observe the Accounts Direction issued by NHS England, including the relevant 
accounting and disclosure requirements, and apply suitable accounting policies on a 
consistent basis; 
 

 Make judgements and estimates on a reasonable basis; 
 

 State whether applicable accounting standards as set out in the Government 
Financial Reporting Manual have been followed, and disclose and explain any 
material departures in the accounts; and, 
 

 Prepare the accounts on a going concern basis; and 
 

 Confirm that the Annual Report and Accounts as a whole is fair, balanced and 
understandable and take personal responsibility for the Annual Report and Accounts 
and the judgements required for determining that it is fair, balanced and 
understandable. 
 
 

To the best of my knowledge and belief, I have properly discharged the responsibilities set out 
under the National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended), Managing Public Money and in my 
Clinical Commissioning Group Accountable Officer Appointment Letter. I also confirm that:  
 

 as far as I am aware, there is no relevant audit information of which the CCG’s 
auditors are unaware, and that as Accountable Officer, I have taken all the steps 
that I ought to have taken to make myself aware of any relevant audit information 
and to establish that the CCG’s auditors are aware of that information.  
 

 that the annual report and accounts as a whole is fair, balanced and 
understandable and that I take personal responsibility for the annual report and 
accounts and the judgements required for determining that it is fair, balanced and 
understandable. 

    
…………………………………………..   …………………………………………… 

Beverley Flowers    Dr Jane Halpin  
Accountable Officer    Accountable Officer 
1 April 2019 to 31 May 2020    From 1 June 2020 
 
Date signed: 18 June 2020  
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GOVERNANCE STATEMENT 

Introduction and context 

NHS East and North Hertfordshire Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG) is a body corporate 
established by NHS England on [1 April 2013] under the National Health Service Act 2006 (as 
amended). 

The clinical commissioning group’s statutory functions are set out under the National Health 
Service Act 2006 (as amended).  The CCG’s general function is arranging the provision of services 
for persons for the purposes of the health service in England.  The CCG is, in particular, required 
to arrange for the provision of certain health services to such extent as it considers necessary to 
meet the reasonable requirements of its local population.  

As at 1 April 2020, the clinical commissioning group is not subject to any directions from NHS 
England issued under Section 14Z21 of the National Health Service Act 2006.  
 

Scope of responsibility 

As Accountable Officer, I have responsibility for maintaining a sound system of internal control 
that supports the achievement of the clinical commissioning group’s policies, aims and 
objectives, whilst safeguarding the public funds and assets for which I am personally 
responsible, in accordance with the responsibilities assigned to me in Managing Public Money. I 
also acknowledge my responsibilities as set out under the National Health Service Act 2006 (as 
amended) and in my Clinical Commissioning Group Accountable Officer Appointment Letter. 

I am responsible for ensuring that the clinical commissioning group is administered prudently 
and economically and that resources are applied efficiently and effectively, safeguarding 
financial propriety and regularity. I also have responsibility for reviewing the effectiveness of the 
system of internal control within the clinical commissioning group as set out in this governance 
statement. 
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Governance arrangements and effectiveness 

The main function of the governing body is to ensure that the group has made appropriate 
arrangements for ensuring that it exercises its functions effectively, efficiently and economically 
and complies with such generally accepted principles of good governance as are relevant to it. 

 

UK Corporate Governance Code 

NHS Bodies are not required to comply with the UK Code of Corporate Governance. However 
the CCG follows the principles in the code that are most relevant to it given its size and nature, 
but does not comply with the code as a whole. The following section discusses the most relevant 
parts of the code where the CCG has complied. 
 

Governance Structure 

The Governing Body has created the statutorily-required Audit Committee and Remuneration 
Committee.  Additionally the Governing Body has established six Locality Committees, a Joint 
Commissioning and Partnership Programme Committee, a Quality Committee, and an 
Information Communication Technology Stakeholder Board and a Primary Care Commissioning 
Committee. 
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Council of Members 

NHS East and North Hertfordshire Clinical Commissioning Group is a membership organisation 
currently made up of 56 GP member practices.  The main function of the Council of Members is 
to provide clinical leadership across east and north Hertfordshire. All of the GP practices are 
members and a representative from each practice make up the full council. The Council of 
Members meet annually and discuss various themes relating to primary care.  

 

Governing Body 

The Governing Body met regularly last year in both public and private sessions.  During the year 
the Council of Members and the Governing Body worked together to consider the benefits of 
developing an Integrated Care System (ICS) and Integrated Care Partnerships (ICPs) for 
Hertfordshire and west Essex.  This is in line with national NHS requirements that these will 
cover all of the country by April 2021, and the NHS Long Term Plan sets out evidence 
demonstrating the effectiveness of Integrated Care working.   
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Remuneration Committee 
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The Governing Body reviewed its roles and structures and the CCG locality structures to begin to 
make the move towards integrated working. 
 
An ICS acts as a strategic planner and commissioner for the health and care needs of a whole 
population and aligns the system in terms of strategy, commissioning and delivery.  It 
commissions care from ICPs that focus care needs for specific population cohorts.  ICPs 
coordinate care delivery at local level between multiple providers, reducing barriers between 
organisations and enabling a shift in focus from traditional disease or pathway based approach 
to a holistic and individual value based approach.  It is about partners working together to 
deliver commissioned care pathways and how it is delivered to best meet the needs of their 
populations. 

 
Governance and Audit Committee 

The Governance and Audit Committee is a committee of the Governing Body.  It provides 
assurance to the Governing Body that the organisation’s overall internal control and governance 
system operates in an adequate and effective way.  The committee’s work focuses on the 
adequacy of the controls on finance, risk management and clinical quality.  It does this by 
reviewing the assurance framework, strategic and operational risk and obtaining independent 
assurance on controls.  It also oversees internal and external audit arrangements, for both 
financial and non-financial systems.  As part of its role the committee reviews audit reports and 
monitors implementation of recommendations.  Members also undertake in-depth analysis of 
specific risks. 

During its work, activities and areas of review throughout the year, the committee ensured that 
any areas of particular concern were brought to the Governing Body's attention through the 
Governance Report. 
 
 
ICT Stakeholder Board 

The Information Communication Technology Stakeholder Board is a committee of the Governing 
Body.  This committee brings together the stakeholders of the ICT Shared Service and its role is to 
ensure focus on strategy, policy and the overall operational performance of information and 
communications technology. 
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Joint Commissioning and Partnership Programme Committee 

The Joint Commissioning and Partnership Programme Committee has a focus on the partnerships 
that the CCG has with Hertfordshire County Council, in particular covering the Better Care Fund, 
mental health and learning disability services and children and young people. It also considers 
areas of joint interest such as care homes, home care and public health issues. During the year 
the Board discussed issues such as SEND transformation, the development of new joint Learning 
Disability Commissioning Strategy, community perinatal mental health services, the future 
contractual arrangements with Hertfordshire Partnership NHS Foundation Trust and the Core 24 
model of mental health support in acute hospitals.  
 
 
Locality Committee(s) 

There are six Locality Committees of the Governing Body, which are responsible for ensuring the 
Governing Body is informed by the members of the Clinical Commissioning Group and that local 
knowledge is fed into the decision making process.  The committees are responsible for ensuring 
that members have the opportunity to contribute to the development of policy and 
commissioning strategy. 
 

Primary Care Commissioning Committee 

The role of the Primary Care Commissioning Committee is to carry out the functions relating to the 
commissioning of primary medical services provided under General Practice Contract 
arrangements, for example, General Medical Services and Alternative Provider Medical Services 
contracts.  This is with the exception of those functions relating to individual GP performance 
management, which have been reserved to NHS England.   
A minimum of six scheduled public meetings take place per year, and where required, additional 
meetings are arranged. 

The remit of the committee has covered premises, supporting transformation and resilience in 
general practice, technological developments, workforce, education and training, new care models 
and mergers, monitoring quality and improving standards. 
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Quality Committee 

The Quality Committee is a committee of the Governing Body.  It works to ensure that 
commissioned services are being delivered in a high quality and safe manner, ensuring that quality 
sits at the heart of everything the organisation does.  It is responsible for providing assurance and 
information on quality to allow the Governing Body to fulfil its role and responsibilities in relation 
to quality.  It also reports on quality related risks to the Governance and Audit Committee.  The 
committee takes on overall responsibility for leading the organisation’s patient care, quality and 
safety agenda and reports directly to the Governing Body on these matters.  To support it in this 
role the committee involves a Patient Network Quality representative to provide an invaluable 
patient perspective. 
 
 
Remuneration Committee 

The Remuneration Committee is a committee of the Governing Body.  It makes recommendations 
to the Governing Body on determinations about pay and remuneration for all ‘Very Senior 
Managers’, and Governing Body members, including GPs and Lay Members of the Clinical 
Commissioning Group.  A Very Senior Manager typically has Executive Director level responsibility 
and reports to the Chief Executive.  During the year, the committee considered the proposed 
salary for the Hertfordshire and West Essex CCG’s Joint Accountable Officer and STP/ICS Lead.  The 
Committee also made a recommendation to the Governing Body to pay Very Senior Managers a a 
consolidated pay increase of 1.32%, backdated to 1 April 2019 and a one-off non-consolidated cash 
lump sum of 0.77%, based on NHS England and NHS Improvement guidance.  No individual is 
involved in determining their own remuneration. 
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Governing Body Attendance for 2019-20 

 
Members’ attendance records are detailed in the following table: 
 

 
Public Private Workshops 

Number of meetings held during 2019-20 412 313 11 

Name: Title/Locality: Attendance: 

Dr M Andrews14 Upper Lea Valley 1/2 1/2 4/5 

Dr T Belcher North Herts 4/4 3/3 10/11 

D Boardman Director for Primary Care Development 4/4 3/3 9/11 

S Chatfield15 North Herts. Locality Link N/A N/A 8/8 

D Desmulie Lay Member – Primary Care Commissioning 4/4 2/3 10/11 

S Dixon Stort Valley and Villages 4/4 3/3 10/11 

S Elton Director of Operations 4/4 3/3 10/11 

L Farrant Lay Member – Governance and Audit, Deputy Chair 3/4 3/3 10/11 

B Flowers Chief Executive 4/4 3/3 5/11 

A Gardner16 Lay Member – Public and Patient Involvement 0/2 0/1 4/7 

Dr S Gupta17 Welwyn and Hatfield 2/2 2/2 3/5 

Dr R Hall Stevenage 4/4 3/3 9/11 

Dr A Jackson18 Lower Lea Valley 1/1 1/3 2/2 

Dr R Joyce  Medical Director  1/4 1/3 10/11 

Dr P Moodley Chair 2/4 1/3 10/11 

Dr D O'Riordan19 Secondary Care Specialist Doctor 3/4 3/3 N/A 

A Pond Chief Finance Officer 4/4 3/3 11/11 

S Reavey Director of Nursing and Quality 4/4 3/3 8/11 

Dr R Saha Stevenage 2/4 2/3 11/11 

Dr A Shah Welwyn and Hatfield, Deputy Chair - Clinical 2/4 2/3 8/11 

Dr R Shah20 Upper Lea Valley  3/4 2/3 9/10 

Dr N Shukur21 Stort Valley and Villages 4/4 3/3 10/10 

P Turnock22 Chief Digital Officer  1/2 1/1 2/6 

 

                                                       
12 Final meeting cancelled due to Covid-19 
13 Final meeting cancelled due to Covid-19 
14 Dr M Andrews left the Governing Body in September 2019  
15 This role is not required to attend public and private meetings 
16 A Gardner joined the Governing Body in August 2019 
17 Dr S Gupta left the Governing Body in October 2019  
18 Dr A Jackson left the Governing Body in June 2019 
19 This role is not required to attend workshop meetings 
20 Dr R Shah joined the Governing Body in May 2019  
21 Dr N Shukur left the Governing Body in February 2019  
22 P Turnock joined the Governing Body in October 2019  
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Governing Body Committee Attendance for 2019-20 
 
All members have good attendance records – these are detailed in the following tables. 

 
Governance and Audit Committee 

Number of meetings held during 2019-20 4 

Name: Title: Attendance: 

L Farrant * Lay Member – Governance and Audit 4/4 

Dr A Shah Deputy Chair – Clinical 4/4 

A Gardner  Lay Member - Public and Patient Involvement 3/3 

* Chair of Governance and Audit Committee 
 
 

Information Communication Technology Stakeholder Board 

Member Organisations: Out of total of 5 meetings 

Bedfordshire Clinical Commissioning Group 5/5 

East and North Hertfordshire Clinical Commissioning Group 5/5 

HBL ICT Shared Services Director 5/5 

Hertfordshire Community NHS Trust 3/5 

Hertfordshire Partnership University NHS Foundation Trust 5/5 

Herts Valleys Clinical Commissioning Group 3/5 

Luton Clinical Commissioning Group 5/5 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



Annual Report and Accounts 2019/20 

_____________________________________________________________________    112 

Joint Commissioning and Partnership Programme Committee 

Number of meetings held during 2019-20 3  23 

Name: Title: Attendance: 

Sheilagh Reavey Director of Nursing and Quality, ENHCCG* 3/3 

Sharn Elton Director of Operations, ENHCCG* 2/3 

Tom Hennessey Assistant Director of Health Integration, HCC/ ENHCCG 3/3 

Marion Ingram Operations Director, Specialist Services for Children, HCC 2/3 

Simon Pattison 
Head of Integrated Health and Care Commissioning Team, 
HCC 

3/3 

Anna Hall 24 Senior Commissioning Manager for Mental Health, HCC 1/1 

James Salmon Senior Commissioning Manager for Mental Health, HCC 3/3 

Ruth Harrington Head of Community Commissioning for adult disabilities, HCC 2/3 

Cath Slater Associate Director of Nursing and Quality, ENHCCG 1/3 

Sally Orr 
Head of Family Services Commissioning, Children's Services, 
HCC 

1/3 

Linda Mercy Consultant in Public Health, HCC 3/3 

Kulbir Lalli Head of Integrated Accommodation Commissioning, HCC 1/3 

Tim Parlow Head of Integrated Community Support Commissioning, HCC 0/3 

* Co-chairs of Joint Commissioning and Partnership Programme Committee 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

                                                       
23 Fourth meeting in March 2020 cancelled due to Covid-19 
24 Anna Hall was replaced by James Salmon as Senior Commissioning Manager for mental health 



Annual Report and Accounts 2019/20 

_____________________________________________________________________    113 

Locality Committees 

Lower Lea Valley: Out of total of 6 meetings 

Abbey Road, Waltham Cross 6/6 

Cromwell and Wormley Medical Centre, Cheshunt 6/6 

Cuffley and Goffs Oak Medical Centre, Cuffley 5/6 

The High Street Surgery, Cheshunt 6/6 

The Maples Health Centre, Broxbourne 6/6 

Stanhope Surgery, Waltham Cross 5/6 

Stockwell Lodge Medical Centre, Cheshunt 6/6 

Warden Lodge, Cheshunt 6/6 

North Herts: Out of total of 6 meetings 

Ashwell Surgery, Ashwell 5/6 

The Baldock Surgery 6/6 

Bancroft Medical Centre25 6/6 

Birchwood Surgery, Letchworth 6/6 

Garden City Surgery, Letchworth 6/6 

Nevells Road Surgery, Letchworth 6/6 

Portmill Surgery, Hitchin 6/6 

Regal Chambers Surgery, Hitchin 6/6 

Sollershott Surgery, Letchworth 3/6 

Whitwell Surgery, Whitwell 6/6 

Stevenage: Out of total of 9 meetings 

Bedwell Medical Centre, Stevenage 9/9 

Chells Way Surgery, Stevenage 7/9 

King George Surgery, Stevenage 8/9 

Knebworth & Marymead Surgery, Knebworth 8/9 

Manor House Surgery, Stevenage 5/9 

Shephall Way Surgery, Stevenage 7/9 

Stanmore Medical Group, Stevenage 7/9 

Symonds Green Health Centre, Stevenage 4/9 

 
 
 

 

   

Stort Valley and Villages: Out of total of 5 meetings 26 

                                                       
25 previously Courtenay House and Orford Lodge 

http://abbeyroadsurgery.org.uk/index.html
http://www.cromwellandwormleymedicalcentres.nhs.uk/
http://www.cuffleyvillagesurgery.co.uk/
http://www.highstsurgerycheshunt.co.uk/
http://www.themapleshealthcentre.co.uk/
http://www.stanhopesurgery.nhs.uk/index.aspx
http://www.stockwell-lodge.nhs.uk/
http://www.wardenlodge.co.uk/
https://www.ashwellsurgery.co.uk/
https://baldocksurgery.co.uk/
http://www.birchwoodsurgery.co.uk/
http://www.nhs.uk/ServiceDirectories/Pages/GP.aspx?pid=8022B685-7D3B-4D3E-8D31-E9F8070D012B
http://www.surgerynevellsroad.co.uk/
http://www.portmillhealth.co.uk/
http://www.regalchambers.co.uk/
http://www.thesollershottsurgery.nhs.uk/
http://www.whitwellsurgery.nhs.uk/index.aspx
http://www.bedwellandroebucksurgery.com/
http://www.chellssurgery.co.uk/
http://www.kinggeorgesurgery.co.uk/
http://www.knebworthandmarymeaddrs.co.uk/
http://www.manorhouse-surgery.org.uk/
http://www.shephallwaysurgery.co.uk/
http://www.stanmoremedicalgroup.co.uk/
http://www.symondsgreenhealthcentre.co.uk/
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Central Surgery, Sawbridgeworth 5/5 

Church Street Partnership, Bishop’s Stortford 5/5 

The Health Centre, Much Hadham 5/5 

Parsonage Surgery, Bishop’s Stortford 4/5 

Sawbridgeworth Medical Services, Sawbridgeworth 27 N/A 

South Street Surgery, Bishop’s Stortford 5/5 

Upper Lea Valley: Out of total of 4 meetings 28 

Amwell Street Surgery, Hoddesdon 4/4 

Buntingford Medical Centre, Buntingford29 4/4 

Castlegate Surgery, Hertford 2/4 

Church Street Surgery, Ware 4/4 

Dolphin House Surgery, Ware 3/4 

Hailey View Surgery, Hoddesdon 4/4 

Haileybury College, Hertford Heath 30 
 

N/A 

Hanscombe House Surgery, Hertford 3/4 

The Limes Surgery, Hoddesdon 3/4 

Orchard Surgery, Buntingford 1/4 

Park Lane Surgery, Broxbourne 4/4 

Puckeridge Surgery, Puckeridge31 N/A 

Wallace House Surgery, Hertford 4/4 

Ware Road Surgery, Hertford 0/4 

Watton Place Surgery, Watton at Stone 2/4 

  

  

  

  

Welwyn and Hatfield: Out of total of 5 meetings 32 

                                                                                                                                                                                
26 Final meeting cancelled due to Covid-19 
27 This GP practice provides services to a limited cohort of patients at a care home and is therefore not required to 
attend meetings 
28 Final meeting cancelled due to Covid-19 
29 Buntingford Medical Centre and Puckeridge Surgery are in a soft merger, and the locality has agreed that one 
Practice Representative can represent both practices 
30 This GP practice provides services to a limited cohort of patients at a boarding school and is therefore not 
required to attend meetings 
31 Buntingford Medical Centre and Puckeridge Surgery are in a soft merger, and the locality has agreed that    one 
Practice Representative can represent both practices 
32 Final meeting cancelled due to Covid-19 

http://www.centralsurgerysawbo.nhs.uk/
http://www.churchstsurgery.co.uk/
http://www.muchhadhamhealthcentre.co.uk/index.aspx
http://parsonagesurgery.co.uk/
http://www.nhs.uk/ServiceDirectories/Pages/GP.aspx?pid=9257A209-E59F-4E73-BF59-1B2C38B86B14
http://www.southstreetsurgery.co.uk/
http://www.amwellsurgery.co.uk/
http://www.buntingfordmedicalcentre.co.uk/
http://castlegatesurgery.co.uk/
http://www.churchstware.org/
http://www.dolphinhousesurgery.co.uk/
http://www.hailey-viewsurgery.co.uk/
http://www.nhs.uk/servicedirectories/pages/gp.aspx?pid=36c90d78-fc80-4f0f-90b7-6805a6a68b0f
http://hanscombehousesurgery.nhs.uk/welcome%2C43020.htm
http://www.thelimessurgery.co.uk/
http://www.orchardsurgerybuntingford.co.uk/index.php?home
http://www.parklanesurgerybroxbourne.nhs.uk/
http://www.nhs.uk/Services/gp/Overview/DefaultView.aspx?id=38046
http://www.wallacehousesurgery.co.uk/
http://www.wareroadsurgery.co.uk/
http://www.nhs.uk/ServiceDirectories/Pages/GP.aspx?pid=0692288D-FBDA-4A3E-91DE-FD4393CE16D8


Annual Report and Accounts 2019/20 

_____________________________________________________________________    115 

Bridge Cottage Surgery, Welwyn 4/5 

Burvill House Surgery, Hatfield 3/5 

The Garden City Surgery, Welwyn Garden City 2/5 

Hall Grove Surgery, Welwyn Garden City 4/5 

Lister House Surgery, Hatfield 3/5 

Peartree Lane Surgery, Welwyn Garden City 2/5 

Potterells Medical Centre, Hatfield 5/5 

Spring House Surgery, Welwyn Garden City 5/5 

Wrafton House Surgery, Hatfield 4/5 

 

Primary Care Commissioning Committee 

  
Public Private 

Number of meetings held during 2019-20 5 5 33 

Name Title/Locality Attendance: 

Dr T Belcher34 North Herts 3/5 3/5 

D Boardman  Director for Primary Care Development 5/5 5/5 

Dr F Chowdhury  Independent GP 4/5 4/5 

D Desmulie* Lay Member – Primary Care Commissioning 5/5 5/5 

L Farrant  Lay Member – Governance and Audit 4/5 4/5 

B Flowers  Chief Executive 5/5 5/5 

A Gardner Lay Member – Public and Patient Involvement 1/3 1/3 

A Pond  Chief Finance Officer 5/5 5/5 

S Reavey  Director of Nursing and Quality 4/5 4/5 

Dr A Shah  Welwyn and Hatfield 5/5 5/5 

Dr N Shukur  Stort Valley and Villages 5/5 5/5 

* Chair of Primary Care Commissioning Committee 
 

 

Quality Committee 
 

                                                       
33 Final meeting cancelled due to Covid-19 
34 Dr T Belcher stepped down from the committee in November 2019 

http://www.bridgecottagesurgery.nhs.uk/
http://www.burvillhousesurgery.org.uk/
http://www.gardencitypractice.nhs.uk/contact1.aspx
http://www.hallgrovesurgery.co.uk/
http://www.listerhouse.nhs.uk/
http://www.peartree-surgery.co.uk/index.aspx
http://www.potterells.net/
http://www.springhouse.nhs.uk/
http://www.wraftonhousesurgery.co.uk/
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Number of meetings held during 2019-20 4 

Name: Title/Locality: Attendance: 

L Farrant * Lay Member – Governance and Audit 4/4 

Dr R Hall  Stevenage 4/4 

J Jewitt or Nominated Deputy Patient Network Quality 3/4 

Dr R Joyce or Nominated Deputy  Medical Director 3/4 

S Reavey  Director of Nursing and Quality 4/4 

N Shukur  Stort Valley and Villages 2/3 

A Gardner  Lay Member - Public and Patient 
Involvement 

1/3 

C Slater  Associate Director – Nursing and Quality  4/4 

* Chair of Quality Committee 
 
 

Remuneration Committee 

Number of meetings held during 2019-20 2 

Name: Title/Locality: Attendance: 

L Farrant * Lay Member – Governance and Audit 2/2 

Dr D O’Riordan Secondary Care Specialist Doctor 2/2 

Dr A Shah Deputy Chair – Clinical 2/2 

* Chair of Remuneration Committee 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Discharge of Statutory Functions 
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The Clinical Commissioning Group has reviewed all of the statutory duties and powers conferred 
on it by the National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended) and other associated legislative and 
regulations.  As a result, I can confirm that the Clinical Commissioning Group is clear about the 
legislative requirements associated with each of the statutory functions for which it is 
responsible, including any restrictions on delegation of those functions.  Responsibility for each 
duty and power has been clearly allocated to a lead Executive Director.  Directorates have 
confirmed that their structures provide the necessary capability and capacity to undertake all of 
the Clinical Commissioning Group’s statutory duties. 
 

Risk management arrangements and effectiveness  

The CCG undertakes proactive holistic identification of risks utilising a top down and bottom up 
approach to ensure a robust process is in place.  These risks are managed using tiered risk 
registers, which include:- 

 Assurance Framework: The framework brings together in one place all of the relevant 
information on the principal risks to the Governing Body’s principal objectives.  The 
Governing Body is responsible for determining the nature and extent of the risks it is 
willing to take in achieving its principal objectives. 
 

 Corporate Risk Register: Risks are managed by Associate/Assistant Directors across the 
CCG with an assigned Executive Director responsible for oversight, as the risk owner. 
 

 Directorate and Project Risk Registers: These risk registers are maintained for Directorate 
and work stream oversight and risks may be escalated to the Corporate Risk Register. 

 

The Risk Management Policy sets out the strategic aim, commitment to and objectives of the 
risk management process.  It also identifies the leadership and responsibilities for risk 
management throughout the organisation.  Roles and responsibilities are based around the 
‘Three Lines of Defence’ model. 
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First Line of Defence – Management and Staff 

Each department and employee is responsible for implementing the requirements of the Risk 
Management Policy.  All line managers have a responsibility for identifying, assessing, managing 
and reporting risk within their area of responsibility, which could affect achievement of any of 
the organisation’s objectives.  They are also responsible for putting actions into place to mitigate 
these risks and for reporting activities or circumstance that may give rise to new or changed risk. 

Second Line of Defence – Specialist Support Functions 

The second line of defence is made up of the functions that specialise in risk management or 
compliance.  The Governance and Corporate Affairs team is responsible for facilitating risk 
management activity across the CCG.  This includes providing training and advice to staff in the 
management of risk, embedding best practise risk management, co-ordinating and reporting risk 
information to the Governing Body and its committees.  In addition, this role is also responsible 
for ensuring that the Risk Management Policy is kept relevant and in line with current best 
practise. The Risk Review Group ensures that the necessary processes are in place to achieve 
compliance with the statutory requirements. 
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Third Line of Defence 

The third line of defence relates to functions that provide independent assurance, which 
includes Internal Audit. 
 

Committee effectiveness 

Governing Body members have undertaken mandatory training throughout the year, which 
included risk management, health and safety, bullying and harassment, information governance, 
equality and diversity and equality impact assessments.  Annual mandatory training enables the 
members to regularly keep their knowledge and skills up-to-date.  In addition, each member is 
allocated sufficient time to discharge their respective duties and responsibilities effectively. 

The Governing Body made three new appointments throughout the year to ensure progressive 
refreshing of the membership.  The election process is formally overseen by Bedfordshire and 
Hertfordshire Local Medical Committee for openness and transparency.  New members are 
subject to a probationary period and to re-election after 4 years. 

The Governance and Audit Committee undertook an effectiveness of external audit assessment 
and the Primary Care Commissioning Committee undertook a self-assessment of their 
effectiveness. The Chairman and Chief Executive undertake performance evaluations through 
regular 1:1 and appraisals of the members. 
 

Capacity to Handle Risk  

The Governing Body delegates to the Chief Executive and Executive team primary ownership and 
responsibility for operating risk management and control.  It is management’s job to provide 
leadership and direction to the employees in respect of risk management, and to control the 
organisation’s overall risk-taking activities in relation to the agreed level of risk appetite.  The 
Chief Executive has overall responsibility for risk management within the organisation.  The 
Director of Nursing and Quality has delegated responsibility for clinical risk and the Chief Finance 
Officer has delegated responsibility for financial risk and information risk. 
The amount and type of risk that the Clinical Commissioning Group is willing to take on in 
pursuit of its strategic objectives is determined by the Governing Body in their determination of 
the organisation’s Risk Appetite.  This appetite is influenced by a number of key factors including 
(but not limited to) the overall level of risk, as well as the economic, regulatory and operational 
landscape. 

Strategic risks are identified by the Executive team based on the Strategic Objectives and 
informed by other sources.  The Clinical Commissioning Group is an active member of the Health 
and Wellbeing Board and regularly participates in scrutiny meetings led by Hertfordshire County 



Annual Report and Accounts 2019/20 

_____________________________________________________________________    120 

Council to discuss local health issues.  This level of joint activity enables stakeholders to work 
with the organisation to understand and manage any risks that may impact on them.  The 
Assurance Framework and highest scoring risks are published for Governing Body Meetings, in 
which they are reviewed three times a year, providing a further opportunity for public 
engagement with stakeholders in risks that impact on them. 
 
All Executive Directors are responsible for ensuring that key and emerging strategic risks are 
identified, assessed and managed.  They also monitor the effectiveness of risk assessment, 
mitigating actions and assurances in place.  The Directorate teams are responsible for reviewing 
their work areas to identify risks to the achievement of objectives and to put in place actions to 
mitigate these. 
 
Members of the Governing Body have attended specific training in risk management.  Risk 
management training is also mandatory for all managers and staff.  At 31 March 2020, 96.2% of 
staff had completed risk management training. 
 

Risk Assessment  

The risk management process starts with the organisation setting its strategic objectives and 
identifying possible risks to their achievement.  The controls in place to mitigate the risks are 
assessed together with the assurance in place on those controls.  Gaps in controls and assurance 
are evaluated and further actions identified and implemented.  If the residual risk is not 
acceptable further actions are identified, assigned to named individuals and timescales for 
implementation agreed. 
 
The Risk Management Policy is used by all levels of staff and contains the risk scoring matrix and 
descriptors, which helps staff to ensure that risks are scored consistently so that priority can be 
given to the risks that could hinder the achievement of objectives.  It also details the process by 
which risks are managed and escalated to the Corporate Risk Register. 
 
The Assurance Framework details the risks that, at a strategic level, could have an impact on 
achieving the organisation’s objectives.  Updates to the Assurance Framework take into 
consideration the risks on the Corporate Risk Register.  These updates include a review of the 
nature of the risk, the risk description including causes and impact, risk scoring, discussion and 
challenge of the controls and identification of further actions required to mitigate the risk.  The 
Corporate Risk Register is reviewed on a monthly basis by the Risk Review Group. 
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The following table details the strategic objectives of the organisation and the ‘primary’ risks affecting these, which reflect both the ‘in-
year’ and ‘future’ risks faced by the CCG. 

Strategic Objective Principal risks (risks that score 12 and above) 

 
SO1 - Living well and preventing ill health  
To support people to improve their health and 
wellbeing, and to live well with long term 
conditions via three enabling approaches to 
prevention 

 
M2 - If the Medical Directorate do not deliver their portfolio of improvement/ 
transformation projects then activity and demand on current services will continue 
to grow (i.e. aging/frail population) resulting in increased demand for services which 
would mean that the current level of services will be inadequate for the needs of 
the population and little or no improvement in patient outcomes. This would also 
likely cause financial pressure for the CCG and/or providers and may result in cuts 
to services. 
 

 
SO2 - Integrated Commissioning for Better 
Outcomes 
To improve outcomes through integrated 
commissioning taking a person-centred, place-
based and outcomes-focused approach, working 
closely together to improve clinical quality, patient 
experience and affordability, and give equal 
priority to physical and mental health needs. 

 
NQ1 -  If East and North Herts NHS Trust fail to address the quality and governance 
issues due to the increased turnover within the 'middle management tier' and 
financial pressures across the Trust, then the delivery of the CIP and quality of care 
may be compromised potentially (including IPC & Cancer), resulting in patient harm. 
 
NQ2 - If there continues to be a shortage of appropriately skilled staff then there is 
a risk that the CCG will not be able to effectively commission new services or 
provide existing services potentially resulting in diminished services, poor outcomes 
for patients and failure to deliver core services. 
 
NQ6 - If Royal Free do not address a number of areas of quality concerns relating to 
their services then quality of care may be compromised resulting in harm to 
patients.   
 
NQ14 - If the national shortage of beds for Children and Young People who need an 
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Strategic Objective Principal risks (risks that score 12 and above) 

admission for a mental health crisis continues then this will have a knock on impact 
on local areas as children wait longer than is ideal for a bed and then are often 
placed outside Hertfordshire resulting in families finding it difficult to maintain 
contact and poorer patient outcomes. 
 
NQ15 - If we don't achieve/make reasonable adjustments in healthcare settings 
and/or offer regular GP health checks to patients with learning disabilities then we 
may fail to identify serious underlying health conditions potentially resulting in 
detrimental health outcomes including reduced life expectancy patients with 
learning disabilities. 
 
NQ18 - If requirements for health checks for adults with severe mental illness is not 
met, then there are risks of unsafe or poor quality care for patients, poor patient 
experience & outcomes resulting in Enforcement Action/ Notice imposed by 
regulators and Loss of reputation for ENHCCG. 
 
NQ19 - If patients are not adequately risk assessed following their initial 
appointment at PAH out-patients and receive their follow up in a timely manner 
then there is a risk of not being able to identify deterioration in patients health 
resulting in harm to patients. 
 
PMOT1 - If GPs prescribe high doses of opioid analgesics for chronic pain which are 
not regularly reviewed then there is a risk that patients would continue to be 
prescribed very high doses of opioid analgesics, sometimes inappropriately which 
do not provide any additional clinical benefit and can increase patient harm and 
mortality resulting in potentially serious harm to patients including dependency, 
reduction of quality of life and reputational damage to the CCG. 
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Strategic Objective Principal risks (risks that score 12 and above) 

 
SO3 - Improving urgent care services 
To deliver improved urgent and emergency care 
pathways across our commissioned services for 
unplanned care. 

 
OP1 - If there is increased demand and/or reduced capacity (e.g. workforce, 
infrastructure, pandemic, major incident, winter) then there may be reduced 
patient flow throughout the system resulting in an inability to sustain commissioned 
services and may potentially have a detrimental effect on patient outcomes. 
 
OP3 – If the CCG is not sufficiently prepared for Pandemic Flu then there is a risk 
that, if pandemic flu occurs, delivery of essential services could be compromised 
resulting in poor outcomes for patients and staff welfare. 
 
OP4 - If demand for capacity for the Non-Emergency Patient Transport Service is not 
met then patient journeys may be delayed or aborted resulting in delays in access 
to ongoing care or discharges from the patients setting which will in turn impact on 
patient's care, patient flow across the system and lengths of inpatient stay. 
 
OP5 - If the CCG is not sufficiently prepared for COVID-19 (Corona virus) then there 
is a risk that if COVID-19 becomes more wide spread, delivery of essential services 
could be compromised resulting in poor outcomes for patients and staff welfare. 
 

 
SO4 - Delivering health and care more efficiently 
and effectively 
To deliver health and care more efficiently and 
effectively, and successfully achieve financial and 
activity targets, including successful delivery of 
Quality, Innovation, Productivity and Prevention 
(QIPP) initiatives. 

 
PMOT2 - If external factors cause prices of medicines to increase (for example due 
to national drug shortages) then the CCG will overspend on the annual prescribing 
budget and QIPP targets will not be met Resulting in an additional financial burden 
on the CCG. 
 
F2 - If the CCG fails to implement its medium term initiatives, which are designed to 
improve patient outcomes, then there is a risk that efficiency and effectiveness 
improvements will not be delivered, resulting in higher costs and the need to cut 
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Strategic Objective Principal risks (risks that score 12 and above) 

other services impacting on the achievement of improved patient outcomes and 
other objectives. 
 
IG01 - If records held in off-site storage are not appraised then records may be held 
beyond their retention period resulting in a breach of the GDPR Principles relating 
to processing of personal data. 

 
SO5 - Data and Technology 
To deliver a CCG business strategy that will enable 
the digital innovation portfolio within the CCG, 
transitioning from analogue to digital ways of 
working and conducting business, whilst enabling 
greater collaboration and integration of services 
provided to the CCG’s population. The digital 
innovation portfolio that will enable the CCG to 
develop as an organisation and transform with 
partners into a single ICS from the current the 
Hertfordshire and West Essex STP and enabling the 
emerging strategies of the ICP and PCN’s within 
the STP footprint. 

 
DS02 – If there is limited access to capital or revenue funding, then there will be a 
restriction in the options available for investment in technology and innovation 
solutions resulting in the digital strategy being compromised or not realised. 
 
DS03- If sovereign organisations within the ICS or ICP fail to engage into the digital 
strategy, then there is a risk that the strategy being becomes fragmented and 
'siloed', resulting in digital innovation becoming stagnated. 
 
DS04 - If the CCG are not aware of, or are unable to keep pace with the ICT industry 
in terms of technology advancement, then the organisation will have to refine or 
refocus its digital strategy resulting in delays in technological advancement. 
 

 
SO6 - Workforce 
To ensure that the CCG recruits retains and 
develops staff to ensure the organisation has the 
capability to successfully deliver its ambitions and 
objectives, and transition to an ICS. 

 
There are currently no risks rated 12 or above. 
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Strategic Objective Principal risks (risks that score 12 and above) 

 
SO7 - Participation and Engagement 
To ensure that the public are involved in designing, 
planning and monitoring the health and care 
services we commission and are encouraged and 
supported to take responsibility for their own 
health and wellbeing. 
 

 
There are currently no risks rated 12 or above 

 
SO8 - Sustainability of General Practice:  
To deliver the NHS Long Term Plan through the 
reform of the GMS Contract as outlined in 
“Investment & Evolution” document. This is 
supported by the Hertfordshire and West Essex 
Integrated Health and Care Strategy and the 
Primary Care Strategic Framework & Primary Care 
Vision document. 

 
PC1 - If effective and sustainable primary care networks are not established then 
there is a risk that the amount of investment and workforce across GP practices will 
be insufficient to meet current and future patient demand and render practices 
financially unviable.  This would result in reduced provision of primary care services 
for the local population and potential patient harm.  Individual GP contracts may be 
handed back at short notice.  
 
PC2 - If providers of primary care services do not meet the required regulatory 
standards set by CQC then there is a risk that quality of care to patients is 
compromised and services may be suspended or terminated resulting in reduced 
provision of primary care services for the local population and potential patient 
harm and increased pressure on adjacent, remaining services 
 

SO9 – Covid-19  
To maintain a system of internal control, and able 
to respond as required by NHS England and NHS 
Improvement to ensure safe and effective services 
for patients during the pandemic 

 
As a result of Covid-19, the CCG is currently reviewing and agreeing risks associated 
to this objective 
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Other sources of assurance  

Internal Control Framework 

A system of internal control is the set of processes and procedures in place in the clinical 
commissioning group to ensure it delivers its policies, aims and objectives.  It is designed to 
identify and prioritise the risks, to evaluate the likelihood of those risks being realised and 
the impact should they be realised, and to manage them efficiently, effectively and 
economically. 

The system of internal control allows risk to be managed to a reasonable level rather than 
eliminating all risk; it can therefore only provide reasonable and not absolute assurance of 
effectiveness. 
 

Internal Audit 

The organisation uses an internal audit function to monitor the internal controls in operation 
to try to identify and correct any weaknesses identified.  The system is embedded in the 
activity of the organisation through an annual Internal Audit Work Plan.  The Internal Audit 
services for the organisation are currently provided by RSM.  The Head of Internal Audit 
reports independently to the Chair of the Governance and Audit Committee and provides 
objectivity and independent assurance on the effectiveness of its system of internal control, 
including the application of the Risk Management Framework.  The annual Head of Internal 
Audit Opinion (see page 133) provides independent overarching assurance to the 
organisation. 
 

Annual audit of conflicts of interest management  

The revised statutory guidance on managing conflicts of interest for CCGs (published June 
2016) requires CCGs to undertake an annual internal audit of conflicts of interest 
management. To support CCGs to undertake this task, NHS England has published a template 
audit framework.  

The organisation received substantial assurance for this audit with no management 
recommendations. 
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Nationally Outsourced Services 

The CCG receives some administrative services from nationally commissioned organisations 
and in 2019/20 also received Service Auditor Reports on these services, which it reviews: 

 Electronic Staff Record system provided by NHS Business Services Authority and IBM 
UK Ltd 

 Finance and accounting services provided by NHS Business Services Authority 

 GP payments to providers of General Practice services in England provided by NHS 
Digital 

 Prescription payments provided by NHS Business Services Authority  

 Primary Care Support England services for processing GP and Pharmacy payments 
and pensions administration provided by Capita 

The audit report on finance and accounting services notes that as a result of Covid-19 and 
the Indian Government’s lock-down requirements, the auditor was unable to obtain 
evidence in respect of certain controls for the months of February 2020 and March 2020 and 
so was not able to obtain sufficient appropriate evidence that the controls were operating 
effectively. 

The audit report on GP payments to providers of General Practice services in England 
identified that despite system changes requiring authorisation from all of the Solutions 
Assurance and Service Management Cell 5 team, the CQRS team, the Security Team and the 
Technical Architecture team; for two sample items out of nine approval was not sought or 
received from the Technical Architecture Team. 

The audit report on Primary Care Support England services identified a qualification relating 
to one out of 12 control objectives during the period. This was with respect to control 
objective 4 – the validity, accuracy and completeness of pensions calculation.  Capita state 
that they have controls in place to verify that requests for retirement submitted using AW8 
forms are approved by the NHS Service Management Team (SMT) or CCG for the respective 
region and applications must be approved with certain defined identification. However, 
during the period 1 April 2019 to 31 March 2020, for three out of 40 items selected, no form 
of identification was available for inspection and for seven out of 40 items selected, SMT 
approval could not be evidenced.   

Capita also state that they have controls in place to verify that retirement applications are 
recorded completely and accurately in the Pensions Online and National Health and 
Infrastructure Services (NHAIS) systems. However, during the months of April to September 
2019 and the month of March 2020, Capita recognise this control was not operating. These 
issues have resulted in the non-achievement of the control objective ‘Controls provide 
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reasonable assurance that GPs and Other Medical Practitioners (OMPs) pensions are 
calculated and deducted/paid completely and accurately based on a signed request form‘. 

These Service Auditor Reports and the gaps in assurance were provided to the CCG’s External 
Auditor, but did not impact on their risk assessment or audit approach. 

 
Data Quality 

The CCG undertakes monthly validation of all ‘Secondary Uses Service’ data for all contracted 
providers against a comprehensive list of validation rules.  There is also a monthly 
Organisational Performance and Delivery Day held with Executive Directors to discuss and 
resolve a range of issues associated with the organisation’s main providers, including data 
quality and validation issues.  Commissioning Information Groups are held monthly with all 
main acute and community providers to discuss and agree improvements in performance and 
data quality issues.  Data Quality Improvement Plans have been agreed with all main 
providers and monitored at the Commissioning Information Groups on a monthly or quarterly 
basis. 
 
The CCG has a contract with Methods for access to the NHS specific Stethoscope online 
benchmarking tool for comparing the CCG performance against national data. The CCG also 
has access to the national Hospital Episode Statistics data, through Mede/Analytics, to 
undertake bespoke comparative data analysis to be compared alongside any national 
benchmarking reports such as Right Care. 
 

Information Governance 

The NHS Information Governance Framework sets the processes and procedures by which the 
NHS handles information about patients and employees, in particular personal identifiable 
information.  The NHS Information Governance Framework is supported by a Data Security 
and Protection toolkit and the annual submission process provides assurances to the clinical 
commissioning group, other organisations and to individuals that personal information is dealt 
with legally, securely, efficiently and effectively. Risks to data security are managed through a 
series of management, technical, operational and privacy controls. 

 
Data Security and Protection Toolkit 

The Data Security and Protection Toolkit is an online self-assessment tool that all 
organisations must complete if they have access to NHS patient data and systems to provide 
assurance around the controls they have in place to manage information risk.  The toolkit 
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enables organisations to measure and publish their performance against the National Data 
Guardian's ten data security standards. 

The CCG has undertaken an assessment of its position against the Toolkit and has submitted a 
standards met assessment for 2019/20.  Policies and processes for the management of 
information have been agreed at the Information Governance Forum. 

We place high importance on ensuring there are robust information governance systems and 
processes in place to help protect patient confidentiality and corporate information.  We have 
established an Information Governance Management Framework and have developed 
information governance processes and procedures in line with the Information Governance 
Toolkit.  We have ensured that all staff members undertake information governance training 
annually, which is mandatory and ensures they are aware of their roles and responsibilities. 

There are processes in place for incident reporting and investigation of serious incidents.  We 
have a Senior Information Risk Owner, who is the Chief Finance Officer, and continue to 
embed an information risk culture throughout the organisation.  We also have a Data 
Protection Officer, who is the Company Secretary, in line with the General Data Protection 
Regulation. 
 
 

Business Critical Models 

The CCG uses activity models that are based on official Government produced information; for 
example, population demographics, provided by the Office for National Statistics (ONS).  It is 
assumed that the ONS, as a nationally recognised body will have undertaken quality assurance 
processes with regard to construction of these models. 
 
The CCG currently uses a local risk stratification model that was jointly developed between 
health and social care and is made available through Mede/Analytics.  This model is used to 
identify a discrete group of patients who are at risk of being admitted to hospital as an 
emergency, who may be better looked after through local community services.  The CCG has 
developed a model to calculate the elderly frailty index (EFI) using primary care data. 
 
The organisation does not use any other sophisticated models beyond those described above, 
but is currently undertaking further analysis to develop new risk stratification models using 
the wider range of data that is now available through the data integration and 
pseudonymisation at source project. 
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Third Party Assurances 

The CCG has a contract with Mede/Analytics to provide Business Intelligence support as a 
Data Processor.  As a third party supplier, assurance is provided by satisfactory completion of 
the annual Data Security and Protection Toolkit and they have registered and paid a data 
protection fee to the Information Commissioners Office (ICO). In addition there is a 
confidentiality clause in the contract between the CCG and Mede/Analytics and they have 
been audited by NHS Digital with an assessment of minimal risk of inappropriate exposure 
and/or access to data provided by NHS Digital. The audit also identified a number of areas of 
good practice. 
 
The CCG also has a contract with NHS Arden and GEM Commissioning Support Unit (AGEM 
CSU) to provide Data Services for Commissioning (DSCRO) services.  As a third party supplier 
assurance is provided by satisfactory completion of the Data Security and Protection Toolkit 
and they are entered on the Data Protection Register with the ICO.  Further assurance is 
provided by the inclusion of a confidentiality clause in the contract between the CCG and 
AGEM CSU. 

The organisation does not have any other contracts with third party suppliers who have 
access to and process patient identifiable data.  All other third party contractors are assessed 
on an annual basis and contract clauses included where appropriate. 
 

Control Issues 

The Head of Internal Audit has concluded that there are no significant control issues 
currently facing the organisation. 
 

Review of economy, efficiency and effectiveness of the use of resources 

To ensure the Clinical Commissioning Group resources are used economically, efficiently and 
effectively the organisation has implemented processes, which are described below: 

 the CCG has agreed its prime and detailed financial policies, which set out the 
systems to be adhered to in order to ensure that resources are used efficiently. 

 developed and implemented strategic and operational plans, which include an agreed 
annual budget approved by the Governing Body. 

 contracts with providers that use the national standard NHS contract and include 
detailed finance, activity and quality schedules.  The contracts require providers to 
innovate to improve quality and efficiency. 



Annual Report and Accounts 2019/20 

_______________________________________________________________________    131 

 comprehensive programme of contract monitoring, covering all aspects of 
performance, quality, activity and finance against agreed plans. 

 corporate wide process for the development and review of business cases for 
investment.  Processes include assessment of value for money and contribution to 
the achievement of CCG objectives. 

 reports on finance and quality presented on a monthly basis to the Governing Body, 
with actions identified when performance is off track. 

 report on identified key financial risks to regular meetings of the Governance and 
Audit Committee. 

 implementation of an internal audit programme that is targeted at the strategic risks 
and key financial control processes. 

 annual fraud risk assessment undertaken by an independent party, providing 
recommendations for key actions. 

 comprehensive suite of Fraud and Bribery policies agreed and in place with local 
counter fraud specialist delivering an agreed work plan. 

 requirement as part of mandatory training that all staff undertake counter fraud and 
bribery training. 

 training for staff on how to raise concerns under the whistleblowing policy – with the 
mechanisms being used appropriately 

 NHS Right Care allows the organisation to compare the amount we spend, the health 
services we commission and the health of our population against that of other areas 
in England.  These comparisons help the CCG to identify whether our population is 
receiving high quality, efficient and effective health services. 

 QIPP work programme  

 the NHS Benchmarking Network CCG Functions Project provides comparisons about 
CCG’s in their own right, rather than just the services they commission 

 regular reporting to the Governing Body on financial planning, in-year performance 
monitoring and central management costs. 

 

 
Counter fraud arrangements 

The Clinical Commissioning Group contracts RSM to provide the counter fraud provision by 
way of a nominated lead local counter fraud specialist (LCFS).  The LCFS is accredited by the 
NHS Counter Fraud Authority and qualified to undertake the duties of that role. 
 
RSM provides the Clinical Commissioning Group with a LCFS Annual Report, which details all 
work undertaken in respect of counter fraud activities for the reporting year and measures 
each task as specified in the NHS Counter Fraud Authority Standards for NHS Commissioners: 
Fraud, Bribery and Corruption.  The LCFS work plan is designed to meet the requirements set 
out in the Standards and each task is designed to provide compliance with each of the 
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standards described.  The LCFS work plan is designed to address the locally and nationally 
identified fraud risk areas in conjunction with the Chief Finance Officer. 
 
The Chief Finance Officer holds Governing Body level responsibility for the delivery of the 
LCFS work and provides the support to the LCFS in achieving this.  The LCFS works with the 
Chief Finance Officer in submitting the annual NHS Counter Fraud Authority Self-Review 
Tool.  An action plan is produced on the findings of this tool which is monitored at the 
Governance and Audit Committee for any areas not deemed as fully compliant with the 
standards. 

Please see page 162 of this report for the CCG’s ‘whistleblowing’ procedures. 
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HEAD OF INTERNAL AUDIT OPINION 

Following completion of the planned audit work for the financial year for the clinical 
commissioning group, the Head of Internal Audit issued an independent and objective 
opinion on the adequacy and effectiveness of the clinical commissioning group’s system of 
risk management, governance and internal control. The Head of Internal Audit concluded 
that: 

The organisation has an adequate and effective framework for risk management, 
governance and internal control. However, our work has identified further 
enhancements to the framework of risk management, governance and internal 
control to ensure that it remains adequate and effective.  

During the year, Internal Audit issued the following audit reports:  

Area of Audit Level of Assurance Given 

Assurance Map  Advisory  

Primary Care Development  Advisory  

Financial Feeder Systems and Payroll Reasonable Assurance  

Data Security and Protection Toolkit  Advisory  

Primary Care Workforce Development  Substantial Assurance  

Effectiveness of Integrated Partnership Arrangements  Reasonable Assurance  

Management of Conflicts of Interest  Substantial Assurance  

Participation and Engagement  Substantial Assurance  

Primary Care Commissioning  Substantial Assurance  

QIPP Planning and Delivery  

- Substantial Assurance 
(Controls)  

- Reasonable Assurance 
(Effectiveness)  

Follow up  Good progress 
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Review of the effectiveness of governance, risk management 
and internal control 

My review of the effectiveness of the system of internal control is informed by the work of 
the Internal Auditors, the Executive Directors and senior management within the Clinical 
Commissioning Group who have responsibility for the development and maintenance of the 
internal control framework.  I have drawn on performance information available to me.  My 
review is also informed by comments made by the External Auditors in their annual audit 
letter and other reports. 
 
Our assurance framework provides me with evidence that the effectiveness of controls that 
manage risks to the Clinical Commissioning Group achieving its principal objectives have 
been reviewed. 
 

I have been advised on the implications of the result of this review by the: 

 Governing Body 

 Governance and Audit Committee 

 Quality Committee 

 Internal Audit 

 External Audit 

 

Conclusion 

As Accountable Officer, and based on the review processes outlined above, I can confirm 
that the Governance Statement is a balanced reflection of the actual controls position and 
there are no significant internal control issues identified for the Clinical Commissioning 
Group. 
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PART TWO: REMUNERATION  
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REMUNERATION REPORT 

The information on pages 136 and 137 is not subject to audit, except for ‘payments to past 
senior managers’. 
 

 

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE 
 
The members of the Remuneration Committee for the year were as follows. The committee 
met twice during 2019/20 and all members were in attendance. 

 

 Linda Farrant – Lay member (Governance and Audit), Chair of the Remuneration 
Committee 

 Dr Ashish Shah – Deputy Clinical Chair  

 Dr Dermot O’ Riordan – Secondary Care Specialist Doctor 
 

 

POLICY ON REMUNERATION OF SENIOR MANAGERS (not subject to audit) 

The Clinical Commissioning Group’s Remuneration Committee used the remuneration 
guidance provided by NHS England to inform its decisions regarding the pay of all very senior 
managers. We can confirm that the pay of all our very senior managers is within the pay 
ranges identified in the guidance. Additional payments have been agreed on a post-by-post 
basis for additional responsibilities and complexity, as assessed by the Remuneration 
Committee. 

 

SENIOR MANAGERS PERFORMANCE RELATED PAY (not subject to audit) 
 
The Remuneration Committee has agreed that there will be no performance related pay for 
senior managers. 
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POLICY ON SENIOR MANAGERS’ CONTRACTS (not subject to audit) 
 
As at 31 March 2020 there were eight permanent executive team managers, including one 
individual on secondment to the STP.  GPs on the Governing Body are engaged on fixed term 
contracts: 

 Dr Belcher (4 year fixed term from 1 July 2017 to 30 June 2021)   

 Dr Chowdhury 35 (4 year fixed term from 20 February 2019 to 31 March 2024) 

 Dr Dixon (4 year fixed term from 1 May 2018 to 30 April 2022) 

 Dr Hall (4 year fixed term from 1 April 2017 to 31 March 2021) 

 Dr Moodley (4 year fixed term from 1 September 2018 to 31 August 2022)  

 Dr O’Riordan (from 29 January 2015 to 28 January 2022)  

 Dr Saha (4 year fixed term from 1 October 2018 to 30 September 2022) 

 Dr A Shah (4 year fixed term from 10 September 2018 to 9 September 2022) 

 Dr R Shah (from 1 May 2019 to 31 March 2021) 
 
Lay members are also employed on fixed term contracts: 
 

 Linda Farrant (1 April 2013 to 31 March 2022) 

 Dianne Desmulie (27 November 2014 to 26 November 2022) 

 Alison Gardner (1 August 2019 to 31 March 2021) 
 
 
 

PAYMENTS TO PAST SENIOR MANAGERS (subject to audit) 
There have been no payments to past senior managers. 

  

                                                       
35 Dr Chowdhury is an independent GP on the Primary Care Commissioning Committee but is not a member of 
the Governing Body 
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SALARIES AND ALLOWANCES (AUDITED SECTION) 
 
The salary and pension entitlements of East and North Hertfordshire CCG’s senior managers are disclosed in the following two tables. The definition 
of a senior manager is a person in a senior position having authority or responsibility for directing or controlling the major activities of the clinical 
commissioning group. This means those who influence the decisions of the clinical commissioning group as a whole rather than the decisions of 
individual directorates or departments, people including advisory and lay members. The Chief Executive confirms that this definition covers members 
of the Governing Body only. 
 

SALARIES AND ALLOWANCES IN 2019/20 

TABLE 1: SINGLE TOTAL FIGURE 

   

2019-20 

Name  Role Note 
Salary  

(bands of 
£5,000) 

Expense 
payments 
(taxable) 

to nearest 
£100 

Performance 
pay and 
bonuses 

(bands of 
£5,000) 

Long term 
performance 

pay and 
bonuses 

(bands of 
£5,000) 

All pension 
related 
benefits       

(bands of 
£2,500) 

TOTAL       
(bands of 
£5,000) 

      £000 £ £000 £000 £000 £000 

Beverley Flowers Accountable Officer  1 90-95 0 0 0 7.5-10 100-105 

Alan Pond Chief Finance Officer   130-135 300 0 0 22.5-25 155-160 

Denise Boardman Director of Primary Care   115-120 100 0 0 0-2.5 115-120 

Sharn Elton Director of Operations    115-120 100 0 0 5-7.5 120-125 

Rachel Joyce Medical Director  2 85-90 0 0 0 27.5-30 110-115 

Sheilagh Reavey Director of Nursing & Quality   115-120 0 0 0 10-12.5 125-130 

Phil Turnock (from 1 October 2019) Chief Digital Officer  3 50-55  3500  0 0 0 55-60 

Prag Moodley CCG Chair   4 115-120 0 0 0 £NIL 115-120 

Ashish Shah  CCG Deputy Chair  4,5 120-125 0 0 0 £NIL 120-125 

Mark Andrews (to 30 September 2019) GP Board Member 6 35-40 0 0 0 £NIL 35-40 

Tara Belcher  GP Board Member 4 55-60 0 0 0 £NIL 55-60 

Sarah Dixon  GP Board Member 4 45-50 0 0 0 £NIL 45-50 

Sachin Gupta (to 17 October 2019) GP Board Member 4 30-35 0 0 0 £NIL 30-35 
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Table 1 continued 
  

2019-20 

Name  Role Note 
Salary  

(bands of 
£5,000) 

Expense 
payments 
(taxable) 

to nearest 
£100 

Performance 
pay and 
bonuses 

(bands of 
£5,000) 

Long term 
performance 

pay and 
bonuses 
(bands of 
£5,000) 

All pension 
related 
benefits       

(bands of 
£2,500) 

TOTAL       
(bands of 
£5,000) 

Russell Hall  GP Board Member   50-55 0 0 0 £NIL 50-55 

Alison Jackson (to 30 June 2019) GP Board Member 4 10-15 0 0 0 £NIL 10-15 

Anindita Saha  GP Board Member 4 55-60 0 0 0 £NIL 55-60 

Rupal Shah (from 1 May 2019) GP Board Member 4 45-50 0 0 0 £NIL 45-50 

Nabeil Shukur (to 29 February 2020) GP Board Member   45-50 0 0 0 £NIL 45-50 

Dianne Desmulie   Lay Member    10-15 0 0 0 0 10-15 

Linda Farrant   Lay Member    15-20 300 0 0 0 15-20 

Alison Gardner  (from 1 August 2019)  Lay Member  7 5-10 0 0 0 0 5-10 

Dermont O'Riordan  Secondary Care Specialist Doctor   10-15 0 0 0 0 10-15 

Notes         

The value of pension benefits accrued during the year is calculated as the real increase in pension multiplied by 20, less, the contributions made by 
the individual. The real increase excludes increases due to inflation or any increase or decrease due to a transfer of pension rights. 
 
This value does not represent an amount that will be received by the individual. It is a calculation that is intended to convey to the reader of the 
accounts an estimation of the benefit that being a member of of the pension scheme could provide. 
 
The pension benefit table provides further information on the pension benefits accruing to the individual. 
 
The taxable benefits referred to in the table above relate to the re-imbursement of mileage incurred on official duties, unless included in the notes 
below. The benefit arises from the mileage allowance payments made to all staff, to reimburse them for expenses related to the use of their own 
vehicle for business travel. East and North Hertfordshire CCG pays the rate per mile set out in Agenda for Change, which exceeds the HMRC 
"approved mileage allowance payments" rate in 2019-20 of 45p a mile. The excess amount is taxable and is disclosed above. 
 



Annual Report and Accounts 2019/20 

____________________________________________________________________________________________________________________    140 

Note 1 - Beverley Flowers was appointed as Joint Hertfordshire and West Essex Sustainability and Transformation Partnership (STP) lead as from June 
2019 at 40% WTE. The remuneration disclosed above relates to the CCG role and remuneration relating to the STP post is shown in the table below.  
 
Note 2 - Rachel Joyce was appointed as Clinical and Professional Director for Hertfordshire and West Essex STP as from April 2019 at 40% WTE. In 
addition to the remuneration disclosed above which relates to the CCG role, remuneration relating to the STP post is shown in the table below. 
 
Note 3 - The taxable benefit relates to the member having a lease car and the excess amount that is taxable for the reimbursement of mileage 
incurred on official duties. 
 
Note 4 - Where a GP Board member is working under a ‘contract for services’ and the GP is set up on the payroll system to satisfy HMRC rulings, the 
position is pensionable under the ‘Practitioner Pension Scheme’. The CCG must make the post non-pensionable on the payroll and submit a GP Solo 
form with the employer's pension contribution of 14.3% plus an administration levy of 0.08% to the NHS Pension Authority. The salary banding 
above comprises of gross payment plus employer pension contribution, where applicable.  
 
Note 5 - The total remuneration for Dr Ashish Shah includes £1,711.09 paid via payroll to his limited company and a further £7,195.68 paid directly to 
the member. Both payments relate to a locality workforce lead role. 
 
Note 6 - The total remuneration for Dr Mark Andrews includes £12,671 relating to a clinical lead role. 
 
Note 7 - Alison Gardner was also a Lay Member of Herts Valleys CCG Board in 2019/20 for Patient and Public Involvement. The costs disclosed above 
are recharged by Herts Valleys CCG. 
 
The table below shows the costs for those senior managers employed by East and North Hertfordshire CCG who have additional posts with 
Hertfordshire and West Essex STP. The costs disclosed are recharged to West Essex CCG who host the STP. 
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The table below shows the costs for those senior managers employed by East and North Hertfordshire CCG who have additional posts with 
Hertfordshire and West Essex STP. The costs disclosed are recharged to West Essex CCG which hosts the STP.  

Name  Role 
Salary  

(bands of 
£5,000) 

Expense payments 
(taxable) to 

nearest £100 

Performance pay 
and bonuses 

(bands of £5,000) 

Long term performance 
pay and bonuses  
(bands of £5,000) 

All pension  
related benefits     

   (bands of £2,500) 

TOTAL       
(bands of 
£5,000) 

  
£000 £ £000 £000 £000 £000 

Beverley Flowers Joint STP lead 45-50 0 0 0 2.5-5 50-55 

Rachel Joyce Clinical & Professional Director 55-60 0 0 0 17.5-20 75-80 

 
The total combined costs for these senior managers are shown in the table below.       

Name  Role 
Salary  

(bands of 
£5,000) 

Expense payments 
(taxable) to 

nearest £100 

Performance pay 
and bonuses 

(bands of £5,000) 

Long term performance 
pay and bonuses  
(bands of £5,000) 

All pension  
related benefits       

(bands of £2,500) 

TOTAL       
(bands of 
£5,000) 

    £000 £ £000 £000 £000 £000 

Beverley Flowers Accountable Officer/Joint STP lead 135-40 0 0 0 12.5-15 150-55 

Rachel Joyce 
Medical Director/STP Clinical  
& Professional Director 140-145 0 0 0 47.5-50 190-195 

 

FAIR PAY DISCLOSURE (AUDITED ELEMENT OF REMUNERATION REPORT) 

Reporting bodies are required to disclose the relationship between the remuneration of the highest-paid director/member in the organisation and 
the median remuneration of the CCG's workforce, as at the reporting date (31 March 2020). 

The banded remuneration of the highest paid director/member in East and North Hertfordshire CCG at the reporting date was £130,000-£135,000 
(2018-19: £130,000-£135,000). This was 3.37 times (2018-19: 3.5) the median remuneration of the workforce, which was £39,332 (2018-19: 
£37,844). 
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In 2019-20 and 2018-19, at the reporting date, no employee received remuneration in excess of the highest paid director/member of the CCG's 
Governing body. The lowest paid member of staff received £17,465 (2018-19: £15,565). 

Total remuneration includes salary, non-consolidated performance-related pay, benefits-in-kind, but not severance payments. It does not include 
employer pension contributions and the cash equivalent transfer value of pensions.  
 

TABLE 2: SALARIES AND ALLOWANCES IN PREVIOUS YEAR (2018/19) 

 

2018-19 

Name and Title 
Salary  

(bands of 
£5,000) 

Expense 
payments 
(taxable) 

to 
nearest 

£100 

Performance 
pay and 
bonuses 

(bands of 
£5,000) 

Long term 
performance 

pay and 
bonuses 
(bands of 
£5,000) 

All 
pension 
related 
benefits       

(bands of 
£2,500) 

TOTAL       
(bands 

of 
£5,000) 

  £000 £ £000 £000 £000 £000 

Beverley Flowers -  Accountable Officer  130-135 0 0 0 7.5-10 140-145 

Alan Pond - Chief Finance Officer 130-135 200 0 0 0 130-135 

Sheilagh Reavey - Director of Nursing & Quality 115-120 0 0 0 0 115-120 

Sharn Elton - Director of Operations  115-120 100 0 0 0-2.5 115-120 

Harper Brown - Director of Commissioning (1 April - 30 September 2018) - Note 1 40-45 0 0 0 0 40-45 

Rachel Joyce - Medical Director  130-135 0 0 0 50-52.5 180-185 

Denise Boardman - Director for Primary Care Development (from 1 April 2018) 115-120 100 0 0 130-132.5 245-250 

Hari Pathmanathan - GP Board Member and CCG Chair (1 April - 31 August 2018) - Note 2  40-45 0 0 0 £NIL 40-45 

Nicky Williams - GP Board Member and CCG Vice Chair (1 April - 9 Sept 2018) - Note 3 45-50 0 0 0 £NIL 45-50 

Prag Moodley - GP Board Member. Appointed CCG Chair from 1 Sept 2018 - Note 3 & 6 105-110 0 0 0 £NIL 105-110 

Ashish Shah - GP Board Member. Appointed CCG Vice Chair from 10 Sept 2018 - Note 3 & 4 95-100 0 0 0 £NIL 95-100 

Mark Andrews - GP Board Member - Note 5 75-80 0 0 0 £NIL 75-80 

Alison Jackson - GP Board Member - Note 3 55-60 0 0 0 £NIL 55-60 

Russell Hall - GP Board Member  50-55 0 0 0 £NIL 50-55 

Nabeil Shukur - GP Board Member  50-55 0 0 0 £NIL 50-55 

Sachin Gupta - GP Board Member - Note 3 55-60 0 0 0 £NIL 55-60 

Tara Belcher - GP Board Member - Note 3 55-60 0 0 0 £NIL 55-60 

Haydar Bolat - GP Board Member   50-55 0 0 0 £NIL 50-55 

Sarah Dixon - GP Board Member (from 1 May 2018) - Note 3 35-40 0 0 0 £NIL 35-40 
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Anindita Saha - GP Board Member (from 1 October 2018) - Note 3 25-30 0 0 0 £NIL 25-30 

Dianne Desmulie - Lay Member  10-15 0 0 0 0 10-15 

Linda Farrant - Lay Member 15-20 200 0 0 0 15-20 

Dermot O'Riordan - Secondary Care Specialist Doctor 10-15 0 0 0 0 10-15 

Notes       

The taxable benefits referred to in the table above relate to the re-imbursement of mileage undertaken on official duties. The benefit arises from the 
mileage allowance payments made to all staff, to reimburse them for expenses related to the use of their own vehicle for business travel. East and 
North Hertfordshire CCG pays the rate per mile set out in Agenda for Change, which exceeds the HMRC "approved mileage allowance payments" rate 
in 2018-19 of 45p a mile. The excess amount is taxable and is disclosed above.       

The "All pension related benefits" in the table above shows the real terms increase in pension benefits over the course of the past year, i.e. the 
additional money (lump sum and annual pension) that would be payable to the individual if they had become entitled to it on 31 March 2019 
compared to their entitlements as at 31 March 2018. These benefits are funded by East and North Hertfordshire CCG and are calculated on the 
assumption that the annual pension will be paid for 20 years after the date of retirement.       

Note 1 - Harper Brown was seconded to the Hertfordshire & West Essex Sustainability and Transformation Partnership (STP) as Director of Strategy 
during the year. He received a total salary of £118,366 for the year of which £74,142 has been recharged to West Essex CCG representing 40% of July 
and August salary, 60% of September's salary and 100% of salary as from 1 October 2018.        

Note 2 - In addition to his remuneration as a GP Board Member and CCG Chair, Hari Pathmanathan also received £3,349 in salary which was 
recharged to West Essex CCG for his role as the clinical lead in the Hertfordshire and West Essex STP.   

Note 3 - Where a GP Board member is working under a ‘contract for services’ and the GP is set up on the payroll system to satisfy HMRC rulings, the 
position is pensionable under the "Practitioner Pension Scheme". The CCG must make the post non pensionable on the payroll and submit a GP Solo 
form with the employer's pension contribution of 14.3% plus an administration levy of 0.08% to the NHS Pension Authority. The salary banding 
above comprises of gross payment plus employer pension contribution, where applicable.        

Note 4 - The total remuneration for Ashish Shah includes £11,534.90 paid via payroll to his limited company relating to a locality workforce lead role 
for 42 sessions. 

Note 5 - The total remuneration for Mark Andrews includes £25,341 relating to a clinical lead role.       
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Note 6 - The total remuneration for Prag Moodley includes £10,559 relating to a clinical lead role for the period April - August 2018.    

Note 7 - Total remuneration includes salary, non-consolidated performance-related pay, benefits-in-kind, but not severance payments. It does not 
include employer pension contributions (with the exception of those GPs see Note 4 above, where employer pension contributions are included in 
accordance with guidance) and the cash equivalent transfer value of pensions. 
 

PENSIONS BENEFITS 2019/20 (SUBJECT TO AUDIT) 
 
TABLE 2: PENSIONS BENEFITS 
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£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 

Relating to the period 1 April 2019 to 31st March 2020                   
                      

Beverley Flowers  Accountable Officer  1 0-2.5 0 30-35 65-70 530 11 567 0 

Alan Pond  Chief Finance Officer    0-2.5 0 60-65 85-90 887 32 959 0 

Denise Boardman  Director of Primary Care Development    0-2.5 0-2.5 45-50 145-150 1,093 30 1,165 0 

Sharn Elton Director of Operations 
 

0-2.5 0 50-55 115-120 867 13 918 0 

Rachel Joyce  Medical Director 2 0-2.5 0-2.5 25-30 65-70 497 31 552 0 

Sheilagh Reavey  Director of Nursing & Quality   0-2.5 2.5-5.0 40-45 130-135 989 38 1,067 0 

Phil Turnock - (from 1 October 2019) Chief Digital Officer  3 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 
                      

Prag Moodley  CCG Chair 4 £NIL £NIL £NIL £NIL £NIL £NIL £NIL £NIL 

Ashish Shah  Deputy Clinical Chair 4 £NIL £NIL £NIL £NIL £NIL £NIL £NIL £NIL 

Mark Andrews (to 30 September 2019) GP Board Member     £NIL £NIL £NIL £NIL £NIL £NIL £NIL £NIL 

Tara Belcher   GP Board Member  4 £NIL £NIL £NIL £NIL £NIL £NIL £NIL £NIL 
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Sarah Dixon  GP Board Member  4 £NIL £NIL £NIL £NIL £NIL £NIL £NIL £NIL 

Sachin Gupta (to 17 October 2019)  GP Board Member  4 £NIL £NIL £NIL £NIL £NIL £NIL £NIL £NIL 

Russell Hall  GP Board Member    £NIL £NIL £NIL £NIL £NIL £NIL £NIL £NIL 

Alison Jackson (to 30 June 2019)  GP Board Member  4 £NIL £NIL £NIL £NIL £NIL £NIL £NIL £NIL 

Anindita Saha  GP Board Member   4 £NIL £NIL £NIL £NIL £NIL £NIL £NIL £NIL 

Rupal Shah (from 1 May 2019)  GP Board Member  4 £NIL £NIL £NIL £NIL £NIL £NIL £NIL £NIL 

Nabeil Shukur (to 29 February 2020) GP Board Member    £NIL £NIL £NIL £NIL £NIL £NIL £NIL £NIL 

Linda Farrant  Lay Member  5 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Dianne Desmulie  Lay Member   5 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Alison Gardner (from 1 August 2019)  Lay Member  5,6 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Dermot O'Riordan  Lay Member  5 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

 
Notes 

Note 1 – Beverley Flowers was appointed as joint Lead Officer for Hertfordshire & West Essex Sustainability & Transformation Partnership (STP) from 
1 June 2019 at 40% WTE. The disclosure above has been adjusted to reflect the CCG role only. For transparency, figures for the STP role, which is 
hosted by W Essex CCG are disclosed in the table below.  

Note 2 – Rachel Joyce was appointed Clinical and Professional Director for Hertfordshire & West Essex STP with effect from 1 April 2019 at 40% WTE. 
The disclosure has been adjusted to reflect the CCG role only. For transparency, figures for the STP role, which is hosted by West Essex CCG are 
disclosed in the table below.  

Note 3 – Phil Turnock is not a member of the NHS pension scheme. 

Note 4 – Where a GP Board member is working under a "contract for services" and the GP is set up on the payroll system to satisfy HMRC rulings, the 
position is pensionable under the "Practitioner Pension Scheme". The CCG must make the post non-pensionable on the payroll and for GPs who are 
members of the Practitioner scheme, submit GP SOLO forms to reflect the employers pension contribution of 14.3% plus 0.08% administration levy 
to the NHS Pensions Authority. 

Note 5 – As Lay Members do not receive pensionable remuneration, there will be no entries in respect of pensions. 

Note 6 – Alison Gardner was also a Lay Member of Herts Valleys CCG Board in 2019/20 for Patient and Public Involvement. 
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Note 7 – NHS employees contribute towards their pension benefits. In 2019/20 contribution rates were 14.5% of salary where the individual earned 
in excess of £111,377 and 13.5% where the individual earned between £70,631 and £111,377. The benefits valued are the member's accrued 
benefits and any contingent spouse's pension payable from the scheme.             

Note 8 – Cash equivalent transfer values (CETV) 
A CETV is a payment made by a pension scheme or arrangement to secure pension benefits in another pension scheme or arrangement when the 
member leaves a scheme and chooses to transfer the benefits accrued in their former scheme. 
 
The pension figures shown relate to the benefits that the individual has accrued as a consequence of their membership of the pension scheme. This 
may be more than just their service in a senior capacity to which disclosure applies. 
 
The CETV figures and the other pension details include the value of any pension benefits in another scheme or arrangement which the individual has 
transferred to the NHS pension scheme. 
 
They also include any additional pension benefit accrued to the member as a result of their purchasing additional years of pension service in the 
scheme at their own cost. 
 
CETVs are calculated within the guidelines and framework prescribed by the Institute and Faculty of Actuaries. 

Note 9 – The real increase in CETV reflects the increase in CETV that is funded by the employer. It does not include the increase in accrued pension 
due to inflation or contributions paid by the employee (including the value of any benefits transferred from another pension scheme or 
arrangement). 

Note 10 – The method used to calculate CETVs changed, to remove the adjustment for Guaranteed Minimum Pension (GMP) on 8 August 2019. If the 
individual was entitled to GMP, this will affect the calculation of the real increase in CETV. This is more likely to affect the 1995 Section and the 2008 
Section.  

"NHS Pensions are still assessing the impact of the McCloud judgement in relation to changes to benefits in 2015. The benefits and related CETVs 
disclosed do not allow for any potential future adjustments that may arise from this judgement. During the year, the Government announced that 
public sector pension schemes will be required to provide indexation on the Guaranteed Minimum Pension element of the pension. NHS Pensions 
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has updated the methodology used to calculate CETV values as at 31 March 2020. The impact of the change in methodology is included within the 
reported real increase in CETV for the year."           

The table below shows the remuneration of those senior managers employed by East and North Hertfordshire CCG who have additional posts 
with Hertfordshire and West Essex Sustainability and Transformation Partnership (STP).    

Name  Role 
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    £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 

Beverley Flowers  Joint STP lead Officer (40% WTE from 1 June 19) 0-2.5 0 15-20 30-35 265 5 283 0 

Rachel Joyce  Clinical & Professional Director (40% WTE from 1 April 19) 0-2.5 0-2.5 15-20 40-45 331 21 368 0 

The total combined benefits for these senior managers are shown in the table below. 
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    £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 

Beverley Flowers  Accountable Officer/Joint STP lead 0-2.5 0 45-50 95-100 795 16 850 0 

Rachel Joyce  Medical Director/STP Clinical & Professional Director 0-2.5 0-2.5 40-45 110-115 828 52 920 0 

 
 
………………………………………..    ………………………………………… 
Beverley Flowers      Dr Jane Halpin 
Accountable Officer (1 April 2019 to 31 May 2020)  Accountable Officer (From 1 June 2020)  

Date signed: 18 June 2020 
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OFF-PAYROLL ENGAGEMENTS 

Table 1: Off-payroll engagements longer than 6 months (not subject to audit) 

For all off-payroll engagements as of 31 March 2020, for more than £245 per day and that 
last longer than six months.  

Number of existing engagements as of 31 March 2020   21 

Of which… 

Number that have existed for less than one year at time of reporting 1 

Number that have existed for between one and two years at time of reporting 13 

Number that have existed for between two and three years at time of reporting 7 

Number that have existed for between three and four years at time of reporting 0 

Number that have existed for four or more years at time of reporting 0 

 
Table 2: For all new off-payroll engagements, or those that reached six months in duration, 
between 1 April 2019 and 31 March 2020, for more than £245 per day and that last longer 
than six months (not subject to audit) 

 

Number of new engagements, or those that reached six months 
in duration, between 1 April 2019 and 31 March 2020  

10 

Of which… 

Number assessed as caught by IR35 10 

Number assessed as not caught by IR35 0 

 

Number engaged directly (via PSC contracted to department) and are on the 
departmental payroll 

1 

Number of engagements re-assessed for consistency / assurance purposes 
during the year  

0 

Number of engagements that saw a change to IR35  0 
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Table 3: Off-payroll board member/senior official engagements (not subject to audit) 

For any off-payroll engagements of board members, and/or senior officials with significant 
financial responsibility, between 1 April 2019 and 31 March 2020. 

 

Number of off-payroll engagements of board members, and/or senior officials 
with significant financial responsibility, during the financial year 

0 

Number of individuals that have been deemed ‘board members, and/or senior 
officials with significant responsibility’ during the financial year. This figure 
should include both off-payroll and on-payroll engagements   

22 

 

EXPENDITURE ON CONSULTANCY (SUBJECT TO AUDIT) 

The total spend on consultants in 2019/20 is shown on page 187 of the accounts. 

 

EXIT PACKAGES AGREED IN THE FINANCIAL YEAR (SUBJECT TO AUDIT) 

There were two exit packages totalling £14,499 which were paid during the year in respect of 
contractual pay in lieu of notice. This consisted of one payment of £2,907 and another for 
£11,592. In 2018-19, there was one payment of £6,307 for contractual pay in lieu of notice. 
 

TRADE UNION FACILITY TIME (NOT SUBJECT TO AUDIT)  

Union representatives have a statutory right to reasonable paid time off from employment 
to carry out trade union duties and to undertake trade union training.  Union duties must 
relate to matters covered by collective bargaining agreements between employers and trade 
unions and relate to the union representative’s own employer, unless agreed otherwise in 
circumstances of multi-employer bargaining, and not, for example, to any associated 
employer.   

Union representatives and members also have a statutory right to reasonable unpaid time 
off when taking part in trade union activities.  Employers can also consider offering paid time 
off.   
 



Annual Report and Accounts 2019/20 

_______________________________________________________________________    150 

Activities can be, for example, taking part in: 

 branch, area or regional meetings of the union where the business of the union is 
under discussion 

 meetings of official policy making bodies such as the executive committee or annual 
conference 

 meetings with full time officers to discuss issues relevant to the workplace. 

 
The Trade Union (Facility Time Publication Requirements) Regulations 2017 came into force 
on 1st April 2017 and put in place the provisions in the Trade Union Act 2016 requiring 
relevant public sector employers to publish specified information related to facility time 
provided to trade union officials. The specified information is provided in Tables 1-4 below.  
 

Table 1: Relevant union officials   

Number of employees who were relevant  
union officials during 2019/20 

Full-time equivalent  
employee number 

2 2 

 
Table 2: Percentage of time spent on facility time 

Percentage of time Number of employees 

0% 0 

1-50% 2 

51%-99% 0 

100% 0 
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Table 3: Percentage of pay bill spent on facility time 

Description Figures 

Total cost of facility time 3,933 

Total pay bill 16,303,000 

Percentage of the total pay bill spent on facility time 0.02% 

 
Table 4: Paid trade union activities 

Time spent on paid trade union activities as a percentage of 
total paid facility time hours 

5.69% 

 

 

 

…………………………………………..   …………………………………………… 

Beverley Flowers    Dr Jane Halpin  
Accountable Officer    Accountable Officer 
1 April 2019 to 31 May 2020    From 1 June 2020 
 
Date signed: 18 June 2020  
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STAFF REPORT  

 
Please note that sections subject to audit will be identified as such in their heading. All other 
sections are not subject to audit. 

 
As at 31 March 2020, East and North Hertfordshire CCG employed a total of 323 staff (283.91 
full time equivalents).  These figures include all governing body members and 7 staff on 
external secondment to partnership organisations. 

The table below details how many senior managers are employed by the CCG by banding (as 
at 31 March 2020). 

Agenda for Change Band Number of staff 

8a 40 

8b 29 

8c 10 

8d 15 

9 0 

VSM 8 

 
Equality and Diversity  

The Equality Act 2010: The Public Sector Equality Duty 

Section 149 of the Equality Act 2010 states that a public authority must have due regard to 
the need to:  

 eliminate discrimination, harassment, victimisation and any other conduct that is 
prohibited by or under this Act;  

 advance equality of opportunity between persons who share a relevant protected 
characteristic and persons who do not share it;  

 foster good relations between persons who share a relevant protected characteristic 
and persons who do not share it.  

Throughout 2019/20, East and North Hertfordshire CCG’s engagement approach was fully 
cognisant of this duty and it will continue to promote equality of opportunity for the 
population of east and north Hertfordshire in the context of all its commissioning 
engagement activities in the future.  
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The CCG met statutory responsibilities around data publication and will meet the NHS 
requirements in using the NHS Equality Delivery System (EDS2) and the Workforce Race 
Equality Standard (WRES) as tools to enable us to review our equality and diversity work and 
identify where improvements can be made.  
 
NHS Workforce Race Equality Standards (WRES) 

The CCG is required to implement WRES in respect of its own workforce. It is recognised that 
the small size of many CCGs means that the interpretation of the indicators should be 
approached with caution. Following the interpretation and publication of the WRES data, an 
action plan was produced and being implemented within the CCG.   

The CCG’s profile for staff-declared ethnicity appears in the table below (at 31 March 2020). 

Ethnic Origin Headcount % 

A White – British 64.40 

B White – Irish 2.17 

C White - Any other White background 4.95 

D Mixed - White & Black Caribbean 1.24 

E Mixed - White & Black African - 

F Mixed - White & Asian 0.93 

G Mixed - Any other mixed background 0.62 

H Asian or Asian British – Indian 8.67 

J Asian or Asian British – Pakistani 1.24 

K Asian or Asian British - Bangladeshi 1.24 

L Asian or Asian British - Any other Asian background 2.48 

LE Asian Sri Lankan 0.31 

LH Asian British 0.31 

M Black or Black British - Caribbean 1.55 

N Black or Black British – African 4.95 

P Black or Black British - Any other Black background 0.31 

R Chinese 0.93 

S Any Other Ethnic Group 0.62 

Z Not Stated 3.10 
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Equality and Diversity Action Planning and the NHS Equality Delivery System (EDS2) 

The CCG has an equality and diversity action plan which supports the CCG to meet the 
statutory and NHS requirements around equality and diversity. It is overseen by an Equality, 
Diversity and Inclusion Steering Group. This group is also coordinating the CCGs completion 
of EDS2, the NHS equality and delivery system. 
The Group is chaired by our Lay Member for Patient and Public Involvement who leads on 
equality, diversity and inclusion on our Governing Body.  The aim of the group is to refresh 
the Equality Delivery System for the NHS within the organisation, which is based around 4 
goals: 

1. Better health outcomes 
2. Improved patient access and experience 
3. A representative and supported workforce, and 
4. Inclusive leadership 

Each goal has a designated lead who will identify the current processes that are working well 
and envisioning the processes that would work well in the future. 

Equality and diversity support is delivered to the CCG, via a shared service resource alongside 
Herts Valleys and West Essex CCGs. This model enables best practice and expertise to be 
shared amongst all organisations.  

 
Disability 

The CCG holds the Disability Confident award (up to 20 August 2020) which recognises our 
commitment to recruiting and developing disabled employees. This award replaces the 
‘Positive About Disabled People’ (PADP) award. 

At 31 March 2020, 93.19% of staff have declared they have no disability, with 3.10% 
declaring a disability and the remaining 3.72% declaring they do not wish to disclose. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/disability-confident-campaign
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Gender Profile  

Gender Profile – overall workforce (at 31 March 2020) 
 

Gender % 

Female 66.87 

Male 33.13 

 

% gender by pay band (at 31 March 2020) 

Agenda for Change (AfC) Male (%) Female (%) 

Band 3 0.31 - 

Band 4 3.72 9.29 

Band 5 4.64 7.12 

Band 6 5.57 10.53 

Band 7 6.19 14.24 

Band 8A 2.17 10.22 

Band 8B 4.02 4.95 

Band 8C 1.55 1.55 

Band 8D 1.55 3.10 

Band 9 - - 

Very Senior Managers (VSM) 0.93 1.55 

 

Non-AfC  2.17 3.10 

M&D 0.31 1.24 
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Gender breakdown (as at 31 March 2020) 

Governing Body members (covers VSM pay framework grades) 

Male Female 

Headcount % Headcount % 

6 35.29 11 64.70 

Bands 8a and above 

Male Female 

Headcount % Headcount % 

35 32.71 72 67.29 

All other bands (band 7 and below) 

Male Female 

Headcount % Headcount % 

66 33.16 133 66.83 

 

Gender pay gap reporting regulations 

All public sector organisations in England employing 250 or more staff are required to 
publish gender pay gap information annually, both on their website and on the designated 
government website at www.gov.uk/genderpaygap. The results for the CCG published on 31 
March 2019 (covering the 2018 year) are available here and are based on the gender pay 
position for the CCG on 31 March 2019.  

Gender Pay Gap reporting in 2020 (covering the 2019 year) has been suspended due to the 
coronavirus. However, the CCG data for 2020 is available below. 

East and North Hertfordshire is one of the few CCGs nationally which is required to publish 
this information, as most CCGs employ fewer than 250 members of staff. 
   
Gender pay reporting is different to equal pay. Equal pay deals with the pay differences 
between men and women who carry out the same jobs, similar jobs or work of equal value. 
It is unlawful to pay people unequally because they are a man or a woman.  

The gender pay gap shows the difference in the average pay (both mean and median) 
between all men and women in our workforce. Calculations are based on the hourly rate of 
ordinary salary paid to each employee on a snapshot date in the financial year. This includes 
staff employed under Agenda for Change terms and conditions, clinical advisers and very 
senior managers.   

http://www.gov.uk/genderpaygap
https://gender-pay-gap.service.gov.uk/Employer/dHj4ZdiL
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East and North Hertfordshire CCG employs more women than men, with women making up 
approximately 67% of the workforce.   

The data for East and North Hertfordshire CCG shows that the average (mean) gender pay 
gap, the amount more that male employees earn compared to female employees, is 10.20% 
and that the median gender pay gap is -5.91% (A minus figure indicates that female staff 
have a higher median pay rate than male staff). This is an improvement over the previous 
year. 

 

Religion and beliefs 

The declared religion or belief of CCG staff at 31 March 2020 appears in the table below: 

Religious Belief Headcount % 

Atheism 14.55 

Buddhism 0.62 

Christianity 37.46 

Hinduism 4.33 

I do not wish to disclose my religion/belief 29.10 

Islam 2.48 

Jainism 0.31 

Judaism 0.31 

Other 5.26 

Sikhism 1.24 

Not stated 4.33 

 
The declared sexual orientation of CGG staff at 31 March 2020 appears in the table below: 

Sexual Orientation Headcount % 

Bisexual 0.93 

Gay  or Lesbian 1.24 

Heterosexual 69.66 

I do not wish to disclose my sexual orientation 26.93 

Other sexual orientation not listed 0.62 

Undecided 0.62 
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Sickness Absence Data  

Sickness absence data relating to the year 2019/20 extracted from ESR: 
 

Total days lost: 3,009 days (equivalent calendar days) 

Total absence (FTE)  2,807.06 days out of a total of 105,019 available FTE days 

Average absence per 
employee: 

9.32 days (average of total days lost by CCG employee 
headcount) 

Of total days lost,  
long term absence episodes:  

34 (taken from ESR) 

Long term days total:  1,942 days (taken from ESR; included in total days lost) 

The CCG’s sickness absence rate for 2019/20 was 2.67% 36  

This figure is based on the total full time equivalent days available to work during 2019/20 
and how much of the full time equivalent workforce was absent. The absence rate covers 
calendar days lost and will include weekends where absence dates cover Saturday and/or 
Sunday. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

                                                       
36 2,807.06 FTE days lost to sickness / 105,019 available days  = 2.67% 
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EMPLOYEE BENEFITS AND STAFF NUMBERS (SUBJECT TO AUDIT) 
 
Employee benefits 2019-20 

 
Total 

   
Admin 

   
Programme 

 
Total 

 

Permanent 
Employees 

 
Other 

 
Total 

 

Permanent 
Employees 

 
Other 

 
Total 

 

Permanent 
Employees 

 
Other 

 
£'000 

 
£'000 

 
£'000 

 
£'000 

 
£'000 

 
£'000 

 
£'000 

 
£'000 

 
£'000 

Employee Benefits 
                 Salaries and wages 13,417 

 
12,030 

 
1,387 

 
9,580 

 
8,719 

 
861 

 
3,836 

 
3,310 

 
526 

Social security costs 1,415 
 

1,415 
 

0 
 

1,179 
 

1,179 
 

0 
 

236 
 

236 
 

0 

Employer Contributions to NHS Pension scheme 
(note 1) 2,413 

 
2,413 

 
0 

 
2,116 

 
2,116 

 
0 

 
297 

 
297 

 
0 

Other pension costs 3 
 

3 
 

0 
 

3 
 

3 
 

0 
 

0 
 

0 
 

0 

Apprenticeship Levy 53 
 

53 
 

0 
 

48 
 

48 
 

0 
 

5 
 

5 
 

0 

Termination benefits 14 
 

14 
 

0 
 

0 
 

0 
 

0 
 

14 
 

14 
 

0 

Gross employee benefits expenditure 17,316 
 

15,929   1,387 
 

12,926 
 

12,065   861 
 

4,388 
 

3,863   526 
                  
Less: Employee costs capitalised 0 

 
0 

 
0 

 
0 

 
0 

 
0 

 
0 

 
0 

 
0 

Net employee benefits excluding capitalised costs 17,316 
 

15,929   1,387 
 

12,926 
 

12,065   861 
 

4,388 
 

3,863   526 

              Employee benefits 2018-19 
 

Total 
   

Admin 
   

Programme 

 
Total 

 

Permanent 
Employees 

 
Other 

 
Total 

 

Permanent 
Employees 

 
Other 

 
Total 

 

Permanent 
Employees 

 
Other 

 
£'000 

 
£'000 

 
£'000 

 
£'000 

 
£'000 

 
£'000 

 
£'000 

 
£'000 

 
£'000 

Employee Benefits 
                 Salaries and wages 13,182 

 
11,257 

 
1,925 

 
9,807 

 
8,481 

 
1,326 

 
3,375 

 
2,776 

 
599 

Social security costs 1,327 
 

1,327 
 

0 
 

1,118 
 

1,118 
 

0 
 

209 
 

209 
 

0 

Employer Contributions to NHS Pension scheme 1,558 
 

1,558 
 

0 
 

1,288 
 

1,288 
 

0 
 

270 
 

270 
 

0 

Other pension costs 2 
 

2 
 

0 
 

2 
 

2 
 

0 
 

0 
 

0 
 

0 

Apprenticeship Levy 48 
 

48 
 

0 
 

43 
 

43 
 

0 
 

5 
 

5 
 

0 

Termination benefits 6 
 

6 
 

0 
 

6 
 

6 
 

0 
 

0 
 

0 
 

0 

Gross employee benefits expenditure 16,123 
 

14,198   1,925 
 

12,264 
 

10,938   1,326 
 

3,859 
 

3,260   599 
                  
Less: Employee costs capitalised 0 

 
0 

 
0 

 
0 

 
0 

 
0 

 
0 

 
0 

 
0 

Net employee benefits excluding capitalised costs 16,123 
 

14,198   1,925 
 

12,264 
 

10,938   1,326 
 

3,859 
 

3,260   599 

Note 1: There was an additional £729k of employer contributions to NHS pension scheme as highlighted previously in Note 3.1 of the accounts. Under the direction of NHS 
England, the entire amount was recorded against admin costs. Had this been allocated out between admin and programme costs, the amounts would have been 
approximately £596k and £133k respectively. 
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AVERAGE NUMBER OF PEOPLE EMPLOYED (SUBJECT TO AUDIT) 
 
 

 

2019-20 

 

2018-19 

Total 
Number 

 

Permanently 
employed 

Number 

 

Other 
Number 

Total 
Number 

 

Permanently 
employed 

Number 

 

Other 
Number 

      Total 282.3 
 

257.6 24.7 286.0 254.3 31.7 

 

 
 
 

HR shared service model 

In order to continue to respond to the developing needs of the CCG, the human resources 
provision continues to be delivered via a shared service, hosted by Herts Valleys CCG. The 
service provides support to East and North Hertfordshire and West Essex CCGs.  

As part of a shared service, the CCG benefits from economies of scale, an enhanced knowledge 
base and a wider pool of HR and organisational skills and expertise, as well as access to a 
dedicated Director of Workforce, who is representing the CCG in aspects of the STP workforce 
agenda across both Hertfordshire and West Essex.  

CCG managers have access to the HRXtra service – a telephone and online resource providing 
advice and guidance on people and employee relations issues. In 2019/20, the HRXtra service 
has held monthly face-to-face clinics at the CCG to increase accessibility and build rapport with 
managers. So far, 40 managers have logged onto the knowledge portal and 60 users have a 
case opened.   
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Staff Policies 

The HR Shared Service has developed a policy forum that spans across the three CCGs. The 
policy forum has HR, management and staff representatives from each CCG and works together 
to adopt best practice in people management policy across the organisations. Through this 
group, 25 policies were reviewed, amended and maintained, with supporting guidance 
developed: 

 Agency and Interim Use Policy 

 Agile Working Policy 

 Alcohol, Drug and Substance Misuse Policy 

 Annual Leave Policy 

 Appraisal and Performance Review Policy 

 Apprenticeship Policy 

 Attendance and Wellbeing Policy 

 Bullying and Harassment Policy 

 Capability Policy 

 Disciplinary Policy 

 Education, Training and Development Policy 

 Employment Break Policy 

 Equality and Diversity Policy 

 Flexible Working Policy 

 Grievance Policy 

 Maternity, Maternity Support (Paternity), Adoption/Fostering Parental Leave Policy 

 Organisational Change Policy 

 Overtime, On-Call and Working Time Policy 

 Probation and Induction Policy 

 Raising Concerns (Whistleblowing) Policy 

 Recruitment and Selection Policy 

 Secondment Policy 

 Special Leave Policy 

 Verification of Professional Registration Policy 

 Volunteer Policy 
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Whistleblowing 

The CCG has in place a ‘Raising Concerns at Work – Whistleblowing’ policy which provides staff 
with information and reassurance regarding their rights and responsibilities in reporting 
concerns. It sets out clearly how staff can report in confidence, good faith and without fear of 
retribution. As part of this policy, the CCG has nominated a lay member- Dianne Desmulie - to 
oversee the effectiveness of this process.  During 2019/20, the CCG has introduced speaking up 
inclusion champions to help keep the CCG safe and supportive for staff.  
 
 

Health and safety  

The CCG is fully committed to protecting the health, safety and welfare of all its staff and 
providing a secure and healthy environment in which to work.  

The CCG recognises its legal obligations under the Health and Safety at Work etc. Act (HASAWA) 
1974, to ensure the health, safety and welfare of its staff, so far as is reasonably practicable. 
The CCG also accepts such responsibility for other persons who may be affected by its activities.  

During 2019/20, the CCG obtained professional health and safety guidance through 
Hertfordshire County Council who also delivered face-to face fire warden training for CCG staff. 
Fire wardens continued to meet bi-annually and more staff were identified to be trained across 
the CCG. The CCG also completed its Fire Risk Assessment in line with its Annual Plan.  

Additional staff first aiders were formally trained and existing first aiders refreshed their 
training to ensure their skills were up to date.  

The CCG ensured compliance with The Health and Safety (Display Screen Equipment) 
Regulations 1992 by issuing additional guidance to staff to reduce the risk of developing related 
health problems. 

During the year, one incident was reported as a RIDDOR to HSE as a result of an incident 
affecting a staff member. 
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Training 

The compliance rate for mandatory training as at 31 March 2020 is 94.3%F. Non-compliance is 
being addressed via system alerts to relevant staff and their managers, OLM workshops and 
regular mandatory training reporting to Directors. The OLM system is fully operational and 
managers can view a dashboard of their teams’ compliance in real time on My ESR.  

In 2019, mid-year reviews were launched on ESR.  Training sessions were held to support 
managers in using the new system.  The CCG is one of the first NHS organisations to adopt the 
appraisal module on ESR, and it is leading the way in helping not just the CCG, but also the 
wider NHS, to fully understand our collective training needs and succession plans so that we 
can better manage the talent of all our people.   

The HR and ODL Shared Service continues to offer appraisal training for manager and 
employees to support the process of undertaking meaningful appraisals.   

During 2019/20 a wide range of optional learning and development opportunities were offered 
to staff via the MindTools web portal and face to face through the HR shared service. The CCG 
has 130 users registered with MindTools. The CCG also encourages protected time each Friday 
in order for staff to focus on personal development, including a regular ‘learning hour’.  

In 2019/20, staff were asked their views on developing new values for the organisation.  
Feedback has led to the following values for the CCG:  

 Patient Centred: Putting patients at the heart of everything we do and communicating 
why we do 
 

 Collaborative working: Understanding the importance and benefits of partnership 
working to be more efficient and to improve outcomes 
 

 Compassionate and caring: inspiring others through kindness, flexibility, support and 
empowerment and going the extra mile 
 

 Striving for excellence: Being purposeful and focused on high quality standards with a 
determination and personal motivation to see things through. 

 
The values will be used within appraisals to assess if staff are modelling the right behaviours 
and linked into the recruitment process as part of value based interviews.  
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Apprenticeship Levy 

During the year, staff were also able to make use of the Apprenticeship Levy to access 
professional development qualifications. 
 
The Apprentice Levy was introduced in April 2017 to help deliver new apprenticeships and to 
support quality training by putting employers at the heart of the system. As part of the 
program, the government is committed to developing vocational skills, and to increasing the 
quantity and quality of apprenticeships.   
 
Employers with annual pay bills in excess of £3 million are required to pay 0.5 % of their pay-bill 
into the scheme. This means that East and North Hertfordshire CCG has an annual Levy budget 
of approximately £50k. The CCG currently has one employee enrolled in an apprenticeship 
scheme with a total spend of £3.5k for the 2019-20 financial year.  Although there is 
disappointment with the slow uptake of the scheme, the CCG remains committed to investing 
in its staff and will encourage staff to take up further opportunities.  
 

Employee consultation and communications 

The Joint Partnership Forum meets regularly and is a chance for staff and union representatives 
to discuss key issues affecting their working lives with executive members and make plans for 
improvements. During 2019/20 the forum reviewed staff survey results to formulate action 
plans, amongst other issues. 

The CCG and Staff Partnership Forum have worked together to address key issues that were 
raised in previous years’ national staff surveys, which included opportunities for flexible 
working patterns and staff retention. Other actions taken to support the workforce included: 

 Development of CCG values to promote and embed the right cultures and behaviours 
across the organisation   

 Flexible working workshops for manager to promote benefits of flexible working within 
the CCG   

 New training programmes launched to include ‘Building Resilience for Success’ and ‘The 
art of being brilliant!’  

 Training provided to managers and staff on understanding effective and meaningful 
appraisals  

 Stamping Out Bullying training implemented as mandatory for all staff  

 Quarterly chief executive staff briefing to update on key developments for the CCG  

 Recruiting ‘speaking up inclusion champions’. 
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The 2019 NHS National Staff Survey has demonstrated that there has been significant areas of 
improvement in the following themes; Immediate managers, Quality of appraisals, safety 
culture.  
 
The CCG takes the issue of staff wellbeing and welfare very seriously and we used this year’s 
survey to ask an additional question about bullying and harassment to help us better 
understand any ongoing issues.  

Following the publication of the 2019 survey results, two staff focus groups were held to enable 
more detailed discussions about issues raised in the survey and other things that affect staff 
working lives. The sessions were run by union representatives so that staff could speak freely 
and openly about issues or concerns 

Using the feedback from these focus groups, plus the results of the survey, during the next few 
months each director will work with their teams to turn feedback into an action plan for their 
area, with progress monitored at the Staff Partnership Forum. There will also be a CCG-wide 
action plan to address themes across the whole organisation. 

 

Internal communications  

We have a range of internal communication channels for all our staff including our magazine 
‘Charter Chat’, an intranet, team meetings, chief executive briefing sessions and a weekly all 
staff email which contains a round-up of local and national health news, HR and staff 
information.  

 

Staff health and wellbeing 

The CCG is fully committed to the health and positive wellbeing of its employees and 
understands that a healthy and happy workforce is crucial to delivering improvements in 
patient care. 

The CCG offers an Employee Assistance Programme (EAP), provided by Wellbeing Solutions 
Management and accessed through a free and confidential helpline.   

During 2019/20, the CCG funded four members of staff to become ‘mental health first aiders’, 
who support staff with a listening ear and signpost them to appropriate local services. The CCG 
also has access to Occupational Health services, to support staff with health concerns. 
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The CCG continues to promote flexible working provision on job adverts and has run training 
sessions for managers to ensure opportunities for flexible work are offered equitably across the 
CCG.  

The staff wellbeing group organises team and individual activities throughout the year. 
Lunchtime walks were held every week and teams of staff took part in charity challenges. Staff 
have been offered free ‘mini health checks’ and could have either a free flu vaccination in the 
office or be reimbursed for a vaccination they have at a local pharmacy.              

Other initiatives to help staff keep fit and healthy include the cycle-to-work scheme which 
allows staff to buy a bike at a reduced cost and pay for it monthly through tax efficient salary 
deductions.  

The focus on staff wellbeing continues to ensure early interventions with regards to sickness 
absence.  Actions currently underway and planned to address these issues are as follows: 

 The CCG is submitting an action plan for assessment against the Time to Change Pledge 
to show our commitment to change how we think and act about mental health in the 
workplace.   

 The CCG has introduced mental health first aiders, sourced from within the workforce to 
promote a positive culture in relation to mental health and ensure excellent staff 
support.   

 Promoting the Employee Assistance Programme via line manager and HR 
communication, leaflets/posters and information given to all new starters at induction; 

 Team building activities to support job role and partnership working. 

 HR masterclasses being promoted and delivered to line managers to ensure absence 
and performance issues are addressed at an early stage. 
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PART THREE: PARLIAMENTARY 

ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT 

REPORT 
 
East and North Hertfordshire CCG is not required to produce a Parliamentary Accountability 
and Audit Report but has opted to include disclosures on remote contingent liabilities, losses 
and special payments, gifts, and fees and charges are included in the Financial Statements of 
this report. An audit certificate and report is also included in this Annual Report on the 
following pages.  

 

EXTERNAL AUDIT OPINION 

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF THE  

GOVERNING BODY OF NHS EAST AND NORTH HERTFORDSHIRE  

CLINICAL COMMISSIONING GROUP 
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THE ACCOUNTS 
 

Under separate cover 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

ACCOUNTS 

2019/20 

_______________________ 
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STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE NET EXPENDITURE FOR THE YEAR ENDED  
31 MARCH 2020 

 

  
2019-20 

 
2018-19 

 
Note £'000 

 
£'000 

     Revenue from contracts with customers 2 (10,908) 
 

(10,730) 

Other operating income 2 (178) 
 

(359) 

Total operating income 

 
(11,086) 

 
(11,089) 

 
    Staff costs 3 17,316 

 
16,123 

Purchase of goods and services 4 870,501 
 

817,096 

Depreciation 4 933 
 

690 

Provision expense 4 54 
 

20 

Other Operating Expenditure 4 362 
 

517 

Total operating expenditure 

 
889,166 

 
834,446 

 
    Net Operating Expenditure 

 
878,080 

 
823,357 

 
 

  
 

  

Comprehensive Expenditure for the year ended 31 March 2020 

 
878,080 

 
823,357 

 
The notes on pages 177 to 199 form part of this statement. 
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STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AS AT 31 MARCH 2020 
 

  
31 March 2020 31 March 2019 

 
Note £'000 £'000 

Non-current assets: 
   Property, plant and equipment 6 3,327 4,260 

Trade and other receivables 7 419 209 

Total non-current assets 
 

3,746 4,469 

    Current assets: 
   Trade and other receivables 7 9,752 7,355 

Cash and cash equivalents 8 391 430 

Total current assets 
 

10,143 7,785 

    Total assets 
 

13,889 12,254 

    Current liabilities 
   Trade and other payables 9 (65,125) (57,559) 

Provisions 
 

(114) (118) 

Total current liabilities 
 

(65,239) (57,677) 

    Non-Current Assets less Net Current Liabilities 
 

(51,350) (45,423) 

    Assets less Liabilities 
 

(51,350) (45,423) 

    Financed by Taxpayers’ Equity 
   General fund 
 

(51,350) (45,423) 

Total taxpayers' equity: 
 

(51,350) (45,423) 

The notes on pages 177 to 199 form part of this statement.    
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STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN TAXPAYERS' EQUITY FOR THE YEAR ENDED  
31 MARCH 2020 

 

 
General fund 

 
£'000 

Changes in taxpayers’ equity for 2019-20 
 

  Balance at 1 April 2019 (45,423) 

  Changes in NHS Clinical Commissioning Group taxpayers’ equity for 2019-20 
 Net operating expenditure for the financial year (878,080) 

 
  

Net Recognised NHS Clinical Commissioning Group Expenditure for the Financial Year 
including balance brought forward from previous year (923,503) 

Net funding 872,153 

Balance at 31 March 2020 (51,350) 

  

 
General fund 

 
£'000 

Changes in taxpayers’ equity for 2018-19 
 

  Balance at 31 March 2018 (35,268) 

Impact of applying IFRS 9 to Opening Balances (1) 

Adjusted NHS Clinical Commissioning Group balance at 1 April 2018 (35,269) 

  Changes in NHS Clinical Commissioning Group taxpayers’ equity for 2018-19 
 Net operating expenditure for the financial year (823,357) 

 
  

Net Recognised NHS Clinical Commissioning Group Expenditure for the Financial Year 
including balance brought forward from previous year (858,626) 

Net funding 813,203 

Balance at 31 March 2019 (45,423) 

The notes on pages 177 to 199 form part of this statement.   
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STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2020 
 

  
2019-20 2018-19 

 
Note £'000 £'000 

Cash Flows from Operating Activities 
   Net operating expenditure for the financial year 
 

(878,080) (823,357) 

Depreciation 4 933 690 

Non-cash movements arising on application of new  
accounting standards 

 
0 (1) 

(Increase) / decrease in trade & other receivables 7 (2,607) 1,780 

Increase in trade & other payables 9 8,623 8,771 

Provisions utilised 
 

(58) 0 

Increase in provisions 
 

54 20 

Net Cash Outflow from Operating Activities 
 

(871,135) (812,097) 

  
  

 
Cash Flows from Investing Activities 

 
  

 Payments for property, plant and equipment 
 

(1,057) (845) 

  
    

Net Cash Outflow from Investing Activities 
 

(1,057) (845) 

  
  

 
Net Cash Outflow before Financing 

 
(872,192) (812,942) 

  
  

 
Cash Flows from Financing Activities 

 
  

 Grant in Aid Funding Received 
 

872,153 813,203 

  
    

Net Cash Inflow from Financing Activities 
 

872,153 813,203 

    
Net Increase / (Decrease) in Cash & Cash Equivalents 8 (39) 261 
    
Cash & Cash Equivalents at the Beginning of the Financial Year 

 
430 169 

    

Cash & Cash Equivalents at the End of the Financial Year 
 

391 430 

The notes on pages 177 to 199 form part of this statement.  

 
The financial statements on pages 173 to 176 were approved by the Governing Body and signed 
on its behalf by: 

 
 
………………………………………….   …………………………………………… 

Beverley Flowers    Dr Jane Halpin 
Accountable Officer    Accountable Officer 
1 April 2019 to 31 May 2020    From 1 June 2020 
 
Date signed: 18 June 2020  
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  

  

1 Accounting Policies 

NHS England has directed that the financial statements of clinical commissioning groups 
(CCGs) shall meet the accounting requirements of the Group Accounting Manual issued 
by the Department of Health and Social Care. Consequently, the following financial 
statements have been prepared in accordance with the Group Accounting Manual 2019-
20 issued by the Department of Health and Social Care. The accounting policies 
contained in the Group Accounting Manual follow International Financial Reporting 
Standards to the extent that they are meaningful and appropriate to CCGs, as 
determined by HM Treasury, which is advised by the Financial Reporting Advisory Board.  
Where the Group Accounting Manual permits a choice of accounting policy, the 
accounting policy which is judged to be most appropriate to the particular 
circumstances of the CCG for the purpose of giving a true and fair view has been 
selected. The particular policies adopted by the CCG are described below. They have 
been applied consistently in dealing with items considered material in relation to the 
accounts. 
  

1.1 Going Concern 

 These accounts have been prepared on the going concern basis.  

Public sector bodies are assumed to be going concerns where the continuation of the 
provision of a service in the future is anticipated, as evidenced by inclusion of financial 
provision for that service in published documents. 

Where a CCG ceases to exist, it considers whether or not its services will continue to be 
provided (using the same assets, by another public sector entity) in determining 
whether to use the concept of going concern for the final set of Financial Statements. If 
services will continue to be provided the financial statements are prepared on the going 
concern basis. 
 

1.2 Accounting Convention 

 These accounts have been prepared under the historical cost convention. 
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1.3 Pooled Budgets 

Where the CCG has entered into a pooled budget arrangement under Section 75 of the 
National Health Service Act 2006, the CCG accounts for its share of the assets, liabilities, 
income and expenditure arising from the activities of the pooled budget, identified in 
accordance with the pooled budget agreement. 

 If the CCG is in a joint operation, the CCG recognises: 

 its assets, including its share of any assets held jointly; 

 its liabilities, including its share of any liabilities incurred jointly; 

 its revenue from the sale of its share of the output of the joint operation; 

 its share of the revenue from the sale of the output by the joint operation; and 

 its expenses, including its share of any expenses incurred jointly. 

The CCG has entered into a partnership agreement and a pooled budget with 
Hertfordshire County Council (HCC) in respect of the Better Care Fund.  This is a national 
policy initiative and the funds involved are material in the CCG accounts.  Having 
reviewed the terms of the partnership agreement, the Department of Health and Social 
Care Group Accounting Manual and the appropriate financial reporting standards, the 
CCG has determined that there are three elements to the Better Care Fund and they are 
accounted for as follows: 

(1) the major part is controlled by HCC which commissions services from various non-
NHS providers.  Whilst the services are determined in partnership, the risks and rewards 
of the contracts remain wholly with HCC. The CCG accounts for this on a lead 
commissioner basis as healthcare expenditure with the local authority.  

(2) The second part is controlled by the CCG which commissions various services from 
NHS and non-NHS providers. The risks and rewards of these contracts are the 
responsibility of the CCG, which considers itself to be acting as a lead commissioner for 
those services on behalf of the partnership. The CCG accounts for these costs as 
healthcare purchased from NHS and non-NHS providers. 

(3) The final part are services which are jointly commissioned by the CCG and HCC, 
including mental health services, equipment services, intermediate care services and 
protection of social care services. HCC acts as the host body for these services which are 
provided by a third party. Each partner is however wholly responsible for their own 
share of the expenditure and this is accounted for as a joint operation. 
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1.4 Critical Accounting Judgements & Key Sources of Estimation Uncertainty 

In the application of the CCG’s accounting policies, management is required to make 
judgements, estimates and assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets and 
liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. The estimates and 
associated assumptions are based on historical experience and other factors that are 
considered to be relevant. Actual results may differ from those estimates and the 
estimates and underlying assumptions are continually reviewed. Revisions to accounting 
estimates are recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision 
affects only that period or in the period of the revision and future periods if the revision 
affects both current and future periods. 

The CCG is of the opinion that there are no critical judgements and key sources of 
estimation uncertainty that will materially affect these financial statements. 
  

1.5 Revenue 

Revenue in respect of services provided is recognised when, and to the extent that, 
performance occurs, and is measured at the fair value of the consideration received. 
Where income is received for a specific activity that is to be delivered in the following 
year, that income is deferred. The main source of income for the CCG is in the provision 
of Information and Technology Services to various NHS organisations. 

The value of the benefit received when the CCG accesses funds from the Government’s 
apprenticeship service are recognised as income in accordance with IAS 20, Accounting 
for Government Grants. Where these funds are paid directly to an accredited training 
provider, non-cash income and a corresponding non-cash training expense are 
recognised, both equal to the cost of the training funded. 
  

1.6 Employee Benefits 

1.6.1 Short-term Employee Benefits 

Salaries, wages and employment-related payments are recognised in the period in 
which the service is received from employees. 

1.6.2 Retirement Benefit Costs 

Past and present employees are covered by the provisions of the NHS Pensions Scheme. 
The scheme is an unfunded, defined benefit scheme that covers NHS employers, 
General Practices and other bodies, allowed under the direction of the Secretary of 
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State, in England and Wales. The scheme is not designed to be run in a way that would 
enable NHS bodies to identify their share of the underlying scheme assets and liabilities. 
Therefore, the scheme is accounted for as if it were a defined contribution scheme: the 
cost to the CCG of participating in the scheme is taken as equal to the contributions 
payable to the scheme for the accounting period. 

For early retirements other than those due to ill health the additional pension liabilities 
are not funded by the scheme. The full amount of the liability for the additional costs is 
charged to expenditure at the time the CCG commits itself to the retirement, regardless 
of the method of payment. 
 

1.7 Other Expenses 

Other operating expenses are recognised when, and to the extent that, the goods or 
services have been received. They are measured at the fair value of the consideration 
payable. 
  

1.8 Property, Plant & Equipment 

1.8.1 Recognition 

 Property, plant and equipment is capitalised if: 

 It is held for use in delivering services or for administrative purposes; 
 

 It is probable that future economic benefits will flow to, or service potential will 
be supplied to the CCG; 
 

 It is expected to be used for more than one financial year; 
 

 The cost of the item can be measured reliably; and, 
 

 The item has a cost of at least £5,000; or, 
 

 Collectively, a number of items have a cost of at least £5,000 and individually 
have a cost of more than £250, where the assets are functionally 
interdependent, they had broadly simultaneous purchase dates, are anticipated 
to have simultaneous disposal dates and are under single managerial control; or, 

 Items form part of the initial equipping and setting-up cost of a new building, 
ward or unit, irrespective of their individual or collective cost. 
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Where a large asset, for example a building, includes a number of components with 
significantly different asset lives, the components are treated as separate assets and 
depreciated over their own useful economic lives. 

1.8.2 Valuation 

All property, plant and equipment are measured initially at cost, representing the cost 
directly attributable to acquiring or constructing the asset and bringing it to the location 
and condition necessary for it to be capable of operating in the manner intended by 
management.  

Fixtures and equipment are carried at depreciated historic cost as this is not considered 
to be materially different from current value in existing use. 

1.8.3 Subsequent Expenditure 

Where subsequent expenditure enhances an asset beyond its original specification, the 
directly attributable cost is capitalised. Where subsequent expenditure restores the 
asset to its original specification, the expenditure is capitalised and any existing carrying 
value of the item replaced is written-out and charged to operating expenses. 
  

1.9 Depreciation and Impairments 

Depreciation is charged to write off the costs or valuation of property, plant and 
equipment less any residual value, over their estimated useful lives, in a manner that 
reflects the consumption of economic benefits or service potential of the assets. The 
estimated useful life of an asset is the period over which the CCG expects to obtain 
economic benefits or service potential from the asset. This is specific to the CCG and 
may be shorter than the physical life of the asset itself. Estimated useful lives and 
residual values are reviewed each year end, with the effect of any changes recognised 
on a prospective basis.  

At each reporting period end, the CCG checks whether there is any indication that any 
of its tangible non-current assets have suffered an impairment loss. If there is indication 
of an impairment loss, the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated to determine 
whether there has been a loss and, if so, its amount. 

Impairment losses that arise from a clear consumption of economic benefit are taken to 
expenditure. Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of 
the asset is increased to the revised estimate of the recoverable amount but capped at 
the amount that would have been determined had there been no initial impairment 
loss.  
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The reversal of the impairment loss is credited to expenditure to the extent of the 
decrease previously charged there and thereafter to the revaluation reserve. 
  

1.10 Cash & Cash Equivalents 

Cash is cash in hand and deposits with any financial institution repayable without 
penalty on notice of not more than 24 hours. Cash equivalents are investments that 
mature in 3 months or less from the date of acquisition and that are readily convertible 
to known amounts of cash with insignificant risk of change in value. 
  

1.11 Financial Assets 

Financial assets are recognised when the CCG becomes party to the financial instrument 
contract or, in the case of trade receivables, when the goods or services have been 
delivered. Financial assets are derecognised when the contractual rights have expired or 
the asset has been transferred. 

 Financial assets are classified into the following categories: 

 Financial assets at amortised cost; 

 Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income and ; 

 Financial assets at fair value through profit and loss. 

The classification is determined by the cash flow and business model characteristics of 
the financial assets, as set out in IFRS 9, and is determined at the time of initial 
recognition. 
  

1.12 Financial Liabilities 

Financial liabilities are recognised on the statement of financial position when the CCG 
becomes party to the contractual provisions of the financial instrument or, in the case of 
trade payables, when the goods or services have been received. Financial liabilities are 
de-recognised when the liability has been discharged, that is, the liability has been paid 
or has expired. 
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1.13 Accounting Standards That Have Been Issued But Have Not Yet Been Adopted 

The Department of Health and Social Care GAM does not require the following IFRS 
Standard and Interpretation to be applied in 2019-20.  

 IFRS 16 Leases – HM Treasury, in conjunction with the Financial Reporting 
Advisory Board (FRAB) has decided to defer the implementation of this standard 
for a further year to 2021-22. For the NHS, this will be for accounting periods 
beginning on or after 1 April 2021. 

Having undertaken a detail impact assessment of IFRS 16 and applying the transition 
processes as mandated by HM Treasury, the CCG concluded that this standard does not 
have a material impact on the financial statements of the CCG in 2019-20, had the 
standard been implemented in that year. 

 
2 Other Operating Revenue 

 
2019-20 2018-19 

 
Total Total 

 
£'000 £'000 

Revenue from contracts with customers 
  Education, training and research 10 31 

Non-patient care services to other bodies  10,484 10,267 

Other revenue 414 432 

Total Income from sale of goods and services 10,908 10,730 

   Other operating income 
  Non cash apprenticeship training grants revenue 3 2 

Other non-contract revenue 175 357 

Total Other operating income 178 359 

   Total Operating Income 11,086 11,089 

The recognition of revenue is over time. Other operating income is derived from the rendering 
of services. 
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2.1 Disaggregation of Income - Income from sale of goods and services (contracts) 

 

Education, training 
and research 

 

Non-patient care 
services to other bodies 

 

Other Contract 
Income 

 
Total 

2019-20 £'000 
 

£'000 
 

£'000 
 

£'000 

        Source of Revenue 
       NHS  0 

 
10,369 

 
227 

 
10,596 

Non NHS 10 
 

115 
 

187 
 

312 

Total 10 
 

10,484 
 

414 
 

10,908 

        

 

Education, training 
and research 

 

Non-patient care 
services to other bodies 

 

Other Contract 
Income 

 
Total 

2018-19 £'000 
 

£'000 
 

£'000 
 

£'000 

        Source of Revenue 
       NHS  0 

 
10,164 

 
342 

 
10,506 

Non NHS 31 
 

103 
 

90 
 

224 

Total 31 
 

10,267 
 

432 
 

10,730 
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3. Employee benefits and staff numbers 

3.1 Employee benefits 
 

2019-20 
 

2018-19 

  
Total 

 
Total 

  
£'000 

 
£'000 

Employee Benefits 
    Salaries and wages 
 

13,417 
 

13,182 

Social security costs 
 

1,415 
 

1,327 

Employer Contributions to NHS Pension scheme (note 1) 
 

2,414 
 

1,558 

Other pension costs 
 

3 
 

2 

Apprenticeship Levy 
 

53 
 

48 

Termination benefits 
 

14 
 

6 

Gross employee benefits expenditure 
 

17,316 
 

16,123 

Note 1 - The significant increase between the years was largely due to the increase in employer contribution rate 
from 14.3% to 20.6% and this equated to an additional £729k in 2019-20.   

 
3.3 Pension costs 

Past and present employees are covered by the provisions of the two NHS Pension 
Schemes. Details of the benefits payable and rules of the Schemes can be found on the 
NHS Pensions website at www.nhsbsa.nhs.uk/pensions. Both are unfunded defined 
benefit schemes that cover NHS employers, GP practices and other bodies, allowed 
under the direction of the Secretary of State for Health and Social Care in England and 
Wales. They are not designed to be run in a way that would enable NHS bodies to 
identify their share of the underlying scheme assets and liabilities. Therefore, each 
scheme is accounted for as if it were a defined contribution scheme: the cost to the NHS 
body of participating in each scheme is taken as equal to the contributions payable to 
that scheme for the accounting period.   

In order that the defined benefit obligations recognised in the financial statements do 
not differ materially from those that would be determined at the reporting date by a 
formal actuarial valuation, the FReM requires that “the period between formal 
valuations shall be four years, with approximate assessments in intervening years”. An 
outline of these follows: 
 
 

The employer contribution rate for NHS Pensions increased from 14.3% to 20.6% from 
1st April 2019. For 2019-20, NHS CCGs continued to pay over contributions at the 
former rate with the additional amount being paid by NHS England on behalf of CCGs. 
The full cost and related funding has been recognised in these accounts. 
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a) Accounting valuation 
 
A valuation of scheme liability is carried out annually by the scheme actuary (currently 
the Government Actuary’s Department) as at the end of the reporting period. This 
utilises an actuarial assessment for the previous accounting period in conjunction with 
updated membership and financial data for the current reporting period, and is 
accepted as providing suitably robust figures for financial reporting purposes. The 
valuation of the scheme liability as at 31 March 2020, is based on valuation data as 31 
March 2019, updated to 31 March 2020 with summary global member and accounting 
data. In undertaking this actuarial assessment, the methodology prescribed in IAS 19, 
relevant FReM interpretations, and the discount rate prescribed by HM Treasury have 
also been used. 
 
The latest assessment of the liabilities of the scheme is contained in the report of the 
scheme actuary, which forms part of the annual NHS Pension Scheme Accounts. These 
accounts can be viewed on the NHS Pensions website and are published 
annually. Copies can also be obtained from The Stationery Office. 

b) Full actuarial (funding) valuation 

The purpose of this valuation is to assess the level of liability in respect of the benefits 
due under the schemes (taking into account recent demographic experience), and to 
recommend contribution rates payable by employees and employers.  

The latest actuarial valuation undertaken for the NHS Pension Scheme was completed 
as at 31 March 2016. The results of this valuation set the employer contribution rate 
payable from April 2019 to 20.6%, and the Scheme Regulations were amended 
accordingly.  

The 2016 funding valuation was also expected to test the cost of the Scheme relative to 
the employer cost cap set following the 2012 valuation. Following a judgment from the 
Court of Appeal in December 2018 Government announced a pause to that part of the 
valuation process pending conclusion of the continuing legal process. 
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4. Operating expenses 

 
2019-20 

 
2018-19 

 
Total 

 
Total 

 
£'000 

 
£'000 

Purchase of goods and services 
   Services from other CCGs and NHS England 1,090 

 
1,280 

Services from foundation trusts 74,786 
 

70,930 

Services from other NHS trusts 416,799 
 

385,960 

Purchase of healthcare from non-NHS bodies 188,095 
 

173,599 

Purchase of social care 14,393 
 

13,823 

Prescribing costs 82,038 
 

79,452 

GPMS/APMS and PCTMS 78,146 
 

77,788 

Supplies and services – clinical 10 
 

415 

Supplies and services – general 1,565 
 

1,641 

Consultancy services 462 
 

497 

Establishment 7,256 
 

5,887 

Transport 3,293 
 

3,620 

Premises 2,004 
 

1,393 

Audit fees (note a and b) 60 
 

64 

Other professional fees (note c) 267 
 

477 

Legal Fees 65 
 

20 

Education and training 170 
 

250 

Non cash apprenticeship training grants 3 
 

2 

Total Purchase of goods and services 870,501 
 

817,098 

    Depreciation 
   Depreciation 933 

 
690 

Total Depreciation  933 
 

690 

    Provision expense 
   Provisions 54 

 
20 

Total Provision expense 54 
 

20 

    Other Operating Expenditure 
   Chair and Non Executive Members 181 

 
155 

Expected credit loss on receivables (2) 
 

0 

Other expenditure 183 
 

360 

Total Other Operating Expenditure 362 
 

515 

    Total operating expenses 871,850 
 

818,323 
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Notes    

a) Audit fees above is shown inclusive of VAT and represents £54k (£45k excluding VAT) in 
respect of statutory audit services (2018-19 £45k excluding VAT). In addition, there are further 
audit fees of £6k (£5k excluding VAT) in respect of the review of the Mental Health Investment 
Standard (2018-19 £8.5k excluding VAT). 

b) Limitation on auditor’s liability for external audit work carried out for the financial year 2019-
20 is £1million or, if greater, 10 times the total of fees invoiced under the Engagement Letter. 

c) Other professional fees includes the sum of £41k for Internal Audit Fees (2018-19 £41k). 
Internal audit fees is shown net of VAT. 

 

5 Better Payment Practice Code 

Measure of compliance 
 

2019-20 
 

2019-20 
 

2018-19 
 

2018-19 

  
Number 

 
£'000 

 
Number 

 
£'000 

Non-NHS Payables 
        Total Non-NHS Trade invoices  

paid in the Year 
 

         
20,803  

 

       
313,739  

 
      21,131  

 
  297,695  

Total Non-NHS Trade invoices  
paid within target 

 

         
20,620  

 

       
310,523  

 
      20,920  

 
  294,512  

Percentage of Non-NHS Trade invoices paid 
within target 

 
99.12% 

 
98.97% 

 
99.00% 

 
98.93% 

         NHS Payables 
        Total NHS Trade Invoices  

paid in the Year 
 

          3,838  
 

       
499,825  

 
        3,779  

 
  471,700  

Total NHS Trade Invoices  
paid within target 

 
          3,715  

 

       
492,428  

 
        3,685  

 
  470,284  

Percentage of NHS Trade invoices  
paid within target 

 
96.80% 

 
98.52% 

 
97.51% 

 
99.70% 

The Better Payment Practice Code requires the CCG to aim to pay all valid invoices by the due 
date or within 30 days of receipt of a valid invoice, whichever is later. 
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6 Property, plant and equipment 

2019-20 
 

Information 
technology 

 

Furniture & 
fittings 

 
Total  

  
£'000 

 
£'000 

 
£'000 

Cost or valuation at 1 April 2019 
 

5,505 
 

597 
 

6,102 

       Disposals other than by sale 
 

(405) 
 

0 
 

(405) 

       Cost/Valuation at 31 March 2020 
 

5,100 
 

597 
 

5,697 

       Depreciation 1 April 2019 
 

1,695 
 

147 
 

1,842 

       Disposals other than by sale 
 

(405) 
 

0 
 

(405) 

Charged during the year 
 

864 
 

69 
 

933 

       Depreciation at 31 March 2020 
 

2,154 
 

216 
 

2,370 

       Net Book Value at 31 March 2020 
 

2,946 
 

381 
 

3,327 

       Purchased 
 

2,946 
 

381 
 

3,327 

Total at 31 March 2020 
 

2,946 
 

381 
 

3,327 

       Asset financing: 
      

       Owned 
 

2,946 
 

381 
 

3,327 

  
      Total at 31 March 2020 
 

2,946 
 

381 
 

3,327 

The clinical commissioning group did not hold any revaluation reserve balance for property, 
plant and equipment in 2019-20 and 2018-19.      
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7 Trade and other receivables 

 
Current 

 
Non-current 

 
Current 

 
Non-current 

 

31 March 
2020 

 

31 March 
2020 

 

31 March 
2019 

 

31 March 
2019 

 
£'000 

 
£'000 

 
£'000 

 
£'000 

        NHS receivables: Revenue 2,050 
 

0 
 

1,645 
 

0 

NHS prepayments 3,083 
 

0 
 

2,560 
 

0 

NHS accrued income 2,263 
 

0 
 

316 
 

0 

Non-NHS and Other WGA receivables: 
Revenue 738 

 
0 

 
1,529 

 
0 

Non-NHS and Other WGA prepayments 1,270 
 

419 
 

873 
 

209 

Non-NHS and Other WGA accrued income 154 
 

0 
 

108 
 

0 

VAT 184 
 

0 
 

192 
 

0 

Other receivables and accruals 10 
 

0 
 

132 
 

0 

Total Trade & other receivables 9,752 
 

419 
 

7,355 
 

209 

        Total current and non current  10,171 
   

7,564 
  

        The majority of trade is within the NHS group. As the NHS is funded by Government, no credit scoring is considered 
necessary. 

 

8 Cash and cash equivalents 

 
2019-20 

 
2018-19 

 
£'000 

 
£'000 

Balance at 1 April 430 
 

169 

Net change in year (39) 
 

261 

Balance at 31 March 391 
 

430 

 Made up of: 
   Cash with the Government Banking Service 390 

 
429 

Cash in hand 1 
 

1 

Cash and cash equivalents as in statement of financial position 391 
 

430 

 Balance at 31 March 391 
 

430 

 There were no patients' monies held by the clinical commissioning group in 2019-20 and 2018-19. 
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9 Trade and other payables 

 
Current 

 
Current 

 
31 March 2020 

 
31 March 2019 

 
£'000 

 
£'000 

    NHS payables: revenue 10,947 
 

5,783 

NHS accruals 9,077 
 

7,508 

NHS deferred income 97 
 

7 

Non-NHS and Other WGA payables: Revenue 5,286 
 

5,274 

Non-NHS and Other WGA payables: Capital 0 
 

1,057 

Non-NHS and Other WGA accruals 37,621 
 

35,882 

Non-NHS and Other WGA deferred income 0 
 

99 

Social security costs 221 
 

210 

Tax 190 
 

181 

Other payables and accruals 1,686 
 

1,558 

Total Trade & Other Payables 65,125 
 

57,559 

    Total current and non-current 65,125 
 

57,559 

 

10 Financial instruments       

10.1  Financial risk management       

International Financial Reporting Standard IFRS 7 requires disclosure of the role that 
financial instruments have had during the period in creating or changing the risks a body 
faces in undertaking its activities.       

Because the clinical commissioning group is financed through parliamentary funding, it 
is not exposed to the degree of financial risk faced by business entities. Also, financial 
instruments play a much more limited role in creating or changing risk than would be 
typical of listed companies, to which the financial reporting standards mainly apply. The 
clinical commissioning group has limited powers to borrow or invest surplus funds and 
financial assets and liabilities are generated by day-to-day operational activities rather 
than being held to change the risks facing the clinical commissioning group in 
undertaking its activities.       

Treasury management operations are carried out by the finance department, within 
parameters defined formally within the clinical commissioning group standing financial 
instructions and policies agreed by the Governing Body. Treasury activity is subject to 
review by the clinical commissioning group and internal auditors.   
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10.1.1 Credit risk       

Because the majority of the clinical commissioning group and revenue comes from 
parliamentary funding, the clinical commissioning group has low exposure to credit risk. 

10.1.2 Liquidity risk       

The clinical commissioning group is required to operate within revenue and capital 
resource limits, which are financed from resources voted annually by Parliament. The 
clinical commissioning group draws down cash to cover expenditure, as the need arises. 
The clinical commissioning group is not, therefore, exposed to significant liquidity risks. 

 
10.2 Financial assets       

 

Financial Assets 
measured at 

amortised cost 
 

Financial Assets 
measured at 

amortised cost 

 
2019-20 

 
2018-19 

 
£'000 

 
£'000 

    Trade and other receivables with NHSE bodies 3,576 
 

991 

Trade and other receivables with other DHSC group bodies 1,009 
 

1,076 

Trade and other receivables with external bodies 631 
 

1,533 

Other financial assets 0 
 

131 

Cash and cash equivalents 391 
 

430 

Total at 31 March 5,606 
 

4,161 

 

10.3 Financial liabilities 

 

Financial Liabilities 
measured at 

amortised cost 
 

Restated Financial 
Liabilities 

measured at 
amortised cost 

 
2019-20 

 
2018-19 

 
£'000 

 
£'000 

    Trade and other payables with NHSE bodies 977 
 

588 

Trade and other payables with other DHSC group bodies 33,834 
 

27,246 

Trade and other payables with external bodies 29,806 
 

29,229 

Total at 31 March 64,617 
 

57,063 

The 2018-19 comparator for other financial liabilities has been removed and was included within trade and other 
payables with external bodies in order to be consistent with the current year. 
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11 Operating segments 

Healthcare costs are attributed to localities as shown below.  Transformation schemes, running costs and other 
costs which cannot be attributed directly to localities are charged centrally. 

      2019-20   2018-19 

  

Net 
expenditure 

  Net 
expenditure 

  £'000   £'000 

North Hertfordshire locality 137,046   144,474 

Lower Lea Valley locality 99,157   97,847 

Stevenage locality 143,659   118,068 

Welwyn Hatfield locality 146,099   137,386 

Upper Lea Valley locality 151,284   144,083 

Stort Valley & Villages locality 68,384   66,702 

Total 745,629   708,560 

 
11.1  Reconciliation between Operating Segments and SoCNE 

  2019-20   2018-19 

  £'000   £'000 

Total net expenditure reported for operating segments 745,629   708,560 

Reconciling items - Central Budgets 132,451   114,797 

Total net expenditure per the Statement of Comprehensive Net Expenditure 878,080   823,357 

 

12 Pooled budgets 

The clinical commissioning group has entered into a pooled budget with Hertfordshire 
County Council, Herts Valleys Clinical Commissioning Group, and Cambridgeshire and 
Peterborough Clinical Commissioning Group. The pool is hosted by Hertfordshire County 
Council. 

Under the arrangement funds are pooled under Section 75 of the NHS Act 2006 for the 
commissioning of services as follows: mental health, learning disabilities, child and 
adolescent mental health, integrated health and social care community equipment 
service, residential and nursing care in a number of care homes, social care services 
complementary to the NHS. The pooled budget only includes that expenditure over 
which the partners have joint control. 

 The clinical commissioning group's share of the income and expenditure handled by the 
pooled budget in the financial year were: 
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Mental Health, 
Learning Disabilities  

& CAMHS 
Equipment Service Intermediate Care Covid-19 

Protection of Social 
Care Services 

Total CCG 

 

Total 
Pooled-
Budget 

 CCG 
Total 

Pooled-
Budget 

 CCG 
Total 

Pooled-
Budget 

 CCG 
Total 

Pooled-
Budget 

 CCG 
Total 

Pooled-
Budget 

 
CCG Contribution 

2019-20 2019-20 
 

2019-20 2019-20 
 

2019-20 2019-20 
 

2019-20 2019-20 
 

2019-20 2019-20 
 

2019-20 2019-20 

 
£000 

 

£000 £000 
 

£000 £000 
 

£000 £000 
 

£000 £000 
 

£000 £000 

                 Original Contribution 360,872 
 

84,079 5,761 
 

1,395 5,465 
 

1,960 178 
 

178 23,569 
 

14,754 102,366 

Expenditure and 
revised contribution 360,249 

 

83,728 5,856 
 

1,418 5,371 
 

1,941 178 
 

178 21,168 
 

13,557 100,822 

 
623 

 

351 (95) 
 

(23) 94 
 

19 0 
 

0 2,401 
 

1,197 1,544 

 

 

Mental Health, 
Learning Disabilities  

& CAMHS 
Equipment Service Intermediate Care Covid-19 

Protection of Social 
Care Services 

Total CCG 

 

Total 
Pooled-
Budget 

 
CCG 

Total 
Pooled-
Budget 

 
CCG 

Total 
Pooled-
Budget 

 
CCG 

Total 
Pooled-
Budget 

 
CCG 

Total 
Pooled-
Budget 

 
CCG Contribution 

2018-19 2018-19  2018-19 2018-19 
 

2018-19 2018-19 
 

2018-19 2018-19 
 

2018-19 2018-19 
 

2018-19 2018-19 

 
£000 

 
£000 £000 

 
£000 £000 

 
£000 £000 

 
£000 £000 

 
£000 £000 

                 Original Contribution 347,257 
 

78,033 5,740 
 

1,395 5,349 
 

1,966 0 
 

0 21,506 
 

14,166 95,560 

Expenditure and 
revised contribution 346,760 

 
77,831 5,566 

 
1,394 5,038 

 
1,946 0 

 
0 17,313 

 
14,167 95,338 

 
497 

 
202 174 

 
1 311 

 
20 0 

 
0 4,193 

 
(1) 222 
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13 Related party transactions 

Details of related party transactions with individuals are as follows: 

During the year, other than that declared below, none of the Department of Health and 
Social Care Ministers, clinical commissioning group Governing Body members or 
members of the key management staff, or parties related to any of them, has 
undertaken any material transactions with the clinical commissioning group. 

A number of local GPs were members of the CCG's Governing Body. Details of payments 
made by the CCG to their practices and related parties disclosed by the GPs and other 
Governing Body members were as follows: 

 

Payments 
to Related 

Party 

Receipts 
from 

Related 
Party 

Amounts 
owed to 
Related 

Party 

Amounts 
due from 

Related 
Party 

 
£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 

     Chells Surgery - Dr. R Hall 1,672  0 5 0 

Garden City Practice - Dr. S Gupta 1,286  0 2 0 

Hanscombe House Surgery - Dr R Shah 1,150  0 4 0 

King George Surgery - Dr. A Saha 1,974  0 23 0 

Portmill Surgery - Dr. T Belcher 1,790  0 7 0 

South Street Surgery - Dr. N Shukur & Dr. S Dixon 2,230  0 5 0 

Stanmore Medical Group - Dr. P Moodley 4,310  0 122 0 

The Limes Surgery - Dr. M Andrews 12  0 0 0 

The Maples Surgery - Dr. A Jackson 1,360  0 4 0 

Wrafton House Surgery - Dr. A Shah 1,104  0 2 0 

     The following payments were made to the organisation below where the spouse of a GP Governing Body 
Member is a Partner in that organisation:  

  
    Mills & Reeves  43  0 3 0 

  
    The following are payments made in the normal course of business to GP Federations of which GP practices are 

shareholders. 

     12 Point Care 1,941  0 8 0 

Ephedra Healthcare Limited 978  0 27 0 

Generating Health Limited 2,132  0 52 0 

Lea Valley Health Limited 1,861  6 75 6 

Stevenage Health Limited 451  0 0 0 

Stort Valley Health Care Limited 625  0 35 0 
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The Department of Health and Social Care is regarded as a related party. During the year the 
CCG has had a number of material transactions with entities for which the Department is 
regarded as the parent organisation. The CCG has adopted a disclosure level of £5million and 
the most significant related parties are listed below. In addition, the clinical commissioning 
group had a number of material transactions with other local government bodies. Where 
appropriate, these entities have also been reflected in the list below: 

 East and North Hertfordshire NHS Trust     

 East of England Ambulance Service NHS Trust     

 Cambridge University Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust     

 Hertfordshire Community NHS Trust     

 Hertfordshire Partnership University NHS Foundation Trust    

 North Middlesex University Hospital NHS Trust    

 Moorfields Eye Hospital NHS Foundation Trust     

 The Princess Alexandra Hospital NHS Trust     

 Royal Free London NHS Foundation Trust     

 University College London Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust    

 Hertfordshire County Council    

 
Comparators for 2018-19 are shown on the following page.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



Annual Report and Accounts 2019/20 

_______________________________________________________________________    197 

13a Related party transactions (2018-19) 

 Details of related party transactions with individuals are as follows: 

During the year, other than that declared below, none of the Department of Health and 
Social Care Ministers, clinical commissioning group Governing Body members or 
members of the key management staff, or parties related to any of them, has 
undertaken any material transactions with the clinical commissioning group. 

A number of local GPs were members of the CCG's Governing Body. Details of payments 
made by the CCG to their practices and related parties disclosed by the GPs and other 
Governing Body members were as follows: 

 

Payments 
to Related 

Party 

Receipts 
from Related 

Party 

Amounts 
owed to 
Related 

Party 

Amounts 
due 

from 
Related 

Party 

 
£000 £000 £000 £000 

     
Bridge Cottage Surgery - Dr. H Pathmanathan 1,806  0 1 0 

Chells Surgery - Dr. R Hall 1,711  0 7 0 

Church Street Surgery - Dr. N Williams 1,134  0 6 0 

Garden City Practice - Dr. S Gupta 1,088  0 0 0 

King George Surgery - Dr. A Saha 2,109  0 19 0 

Portmill Surgery - Dr. T Belcher 1,707  0 4 0 

South Street Surgery - Dr. N Shukur & Dr. S Dixon 2,245  0 9 0 

Stanhope Surgery - Dr. H Bolat 671  0 2 0 

Stanmore Medical Group - Dr. P Moodley 3,443  0 12 0 

The Limes Surgery - Dr. M Andrews 23  0 4 0 

The Maples Surgery - Dr. A Jackson 1,327  0 2 0 

Wrafton House Surgery - Dr. A Shah 1,127  0 10 0 

Bedfordshire & Hertfordshire LMC - Dr N Williams & Dr S Gupta 298  0 0 0 

     The following payments were made to the organisation below where the spouse of a GP Governing Body Member 
is a Partner in that organisation:  
  

    
Mills & Reeves                 29  0 0 0 

     The following are payments for services procured from GP Federations of which GPs were shareholders. 
      

12 Point Care           1,060  0             22  0 

Ephedra Healthcare Limited              702  0           108  0 

Generating Health Limited           1,640  0             48  0 

Lea Valley Health Limited           1,851  0               7  1 

Stevenage Health Limited              319  0             29  0 

Stort Valley Health Care Limited              328  0             16  0 
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As from 1 April 2018, the CCG assumed delegated responsibility for primary care commissioning 
arrangements. This has resulted in an increase in the value of payments to practices shown 
above.      

The Department of Health and Social Care is regarded as a related party. During the year the 
CCG has had a number of material transactions with entities for which the Department is 
regarded as the parent organisation. The CCG has adopted a disclosure level of £5million and 
the most significant related parties are listed below. In addition, the clinical commissioning 
group had a number of material transactions with other local government bodies. Where 
appropriate, these entities have also been reflected in the list below: 

 East and North Hertfordshire NHS Trust         

 East of England Ambulance Service NHS Trust         

 Cambridge University Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust         

 Hertfordshire Community NHS Trust         

 Hertfordshire Partnership University NHS Foundation Trust         

 North Middlesex University Hospital NHS Trust         

 Moorfields Eye Hospital NHS Foundation Trust         

 The Princess Alexandra Hospital NHS Trust         

 Royal Free London NHS Foundation Trust         

 University College London Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust     

 Hertfordshire County Council     
  

14 Events after the end of the reporting period 
 
The CCG considers there are no material events after the end of the reporting period 
that are required to be disclosed in this note. 
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15  Financial performance targets 
 
The clinical commissioning group has a number of financial duties under the NHS Act 
2006 (as amended). The clinical commissioning group performance against those duties 
was as follows: 

 
2019-20 

 
2019-20 

 
2018-19 

 
2018-19 

 
Target 

 
Performance 

 
Target 

 
Performance 

 
£'000 

 
£'000 

 
£'000 

 
£'000 

Expenditure not to exceed income  889,166 
 

889,166 
 

835,996 
 

835,996 

Capital resource use does not exceed the amount 
specified in Directions 0 

 
0 

 
1,550 

 
1,550 

Revenue resource use does not exceed the amount 
specified in Directions 878,080 

 
878,080 

 
823,357 

 
823,357 

Capital resource use on specified matter(s) does not 
exceed the amount specified in Directions 0 

 
0 

 
0 

 
0 

Revenue resource use on specified matter(s) does 
not exceed the amount specified in Directions 0 

 
0 

 
0 

 
0 

Revenue administration resource use does not 
exceed the amount specified in Directions 13,453 

 
12,228 

 
12,912 

 
11,645 
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